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GLASGOW

Principal Hotels. At Railway Stations—Central (Cal.), Gordon Street; St.

Enoch (G. & S. W.), St. Enoch Square; North British, George Square;

Family Hotel, Windsor (C), 250 St. Vincent Street ; Others—Alexandra, 148

Bath Street ; Bath (C), 152 Bath Street ; Grand, 560 Sauchiehall Street

;

Royal, 50 George Square ; Waverley (Temperance), 172 Sauchiehall Street.

Frincipal Commercial Hotels. Adelphi, Dunlop Street; Steele's, 5 Queen
Street, corner of Argyle Street; Blythswood, 320 Argyle Street; George,

Buchanan Street ; Mackay's, Glassford Street.

Restaurants and Dining Rooms. Ferguson and Forrester, 36 Buchanan Street

;

Lang's, 73 Queen Street (stand-up luncheon, sandwiches, etc.); White's,

7 Gordon Street ; Miss Cranston's, Ingram, Argyle, Buchanan, and Sauchie-

hall Streets; Brown's, 79 St. Vincent Street; Grosvenor, Gordon Street,

opposite Caledonian Station; Corn Exchange, 84 Gordon Street; City

Commercial, 54-60 Union Street (Temperance) ; North British Hotel ; Skinner's,

Charing Cross. Several first-class Tea-rooms, Cranston's, etc., in Queen
Street, Buchanan Street, Renfield Street.

Post Office (General), George Square. Open from 6 a.m. to 11.45 p.m. ; Sats.

10 p.m. Sundays, 8 a.m. to 9 a.m. Last Desp. S., 10 p.m.

Telegraph Office (in George Square), open at all times.

Returned Letter Branch and Postal Inquiry Office open from 10 a.m. to 4 p.m.

Railway Stations. Central—(Caledonian), for Carlisle and South (per London &
N. W. Ry.), Bothwell, Hamilton, Edinburgh, Paisley, Gourock, Wemyss Bay,
Ardrossan, and Kilmarnock. Also Low-Level for Dumbarton, Balloch, etc.

Buchanan Street—(Caledonian), for Stirling, Oban and West Highlands, Perth,
Dundee, Aberdeen, and the North.

St. Enoch—(Glasgow and South-Western), for Carlisle and South (per Midland
Railway), Kilmarnock, Dumfries, Paisley, Greenock, Ardrossan, Ayr, and
Stranraer ; also City Union Stations.

Queen Street—North British

—

(High Level), for Edinburgh, Fife, Dundee, Perth,
Aberdeen, the South by East Coast, Fort-William (West Highland), etc.

;

(Low Level), Dumbarton, Helensburgh, Balloch (for Loch Lomond), to West ;

—

and Coatbridge, Airdrie, Bathgate, Bothwell, Hamilton, to East.

Steamers.—Steamboat Quay and Broomielaw, for all the piers on the Firth of Clyde,
also Millport, Arran, Ardrishaig, Oban, Fort-William, Belfast, Londonderry,
Dublin, Liverpool. Passengers generally join steamers at Greenock, Gourock,
or Craigendoran (Helensburgh), avoiding the upper reaches of the river.

Small Ferry Steamers constantly ply across the river in several places.

Tramways in every direction at minimum fare of Jd. The principal cars run
every few minutes. The chief point of intersection is at junction of Jamaica
Street and Argyle Street, whence every extremity of the city may be reached.

295 1



296 GLASGOW

The Tramways now extend for many miles into the country on all sides, serving
the suburban villages ; also motors.

Subway. A circular line, serving the purpose of the London " Underground, u

but worked on the cable system, is carried underneath Glasgow, with stations
at various points (St. Enoch Square, the most central), and is of much use.
On Sundays the Subway trains do not begin to run till noon.

Places of Interest and Entertainment.

Art—See Picture Galleries.

Botanic Gardens, with Conservatories, Great Western Road, Hillhead : free

;

see p. 316.

Cathedral, top of High Street—free.

Cemeteries—Necropolis, beside the Cathedral ; Janefield, Great Eastern Road
Sighthill, North of St. Rollox ; Southern Necropolis, Caledonia Road.
Craigton, Paisley Road; Sandymount, Shettleston ; Dalbeth, east end oi
London Road ; Cathcart, New Cathcart ; Western Necropolis, Maryhill.

City Chambers, George Square ; County Buildings, Wilson Street.

Crematorium, within Western Necropolis, Maryhill.

Exchanges—Royal, Queen Street ; Stock, Buchanan Street ; Corn, Hope Street.

Golf Courses—Bellahouston, belonging to the Corporation, station, Ibrox;
Glasgow Golf Club courses at Gailes, near Troon, and Killermont (tram to
Garscube Bridge), both eighteen holes.

Infirmaries—Royal, close to the Cathedral ; Western, Gilmorehill, near the
University ; Victoria, Queen's Park ; and several others.

Libraries—University, with Hunterian Collection ; Mitchell, 23 Miller Street

;

hours 9.30 a.m. till 10 p.m.—Free. Stirling's, 48 Miller Street ; hours 10 a.m.
till 10 p.m.—Free for Consultation. Mechanics', 38 Bath Street. Athenaeum,
St. George's Place. Philosophical Society, 207 Bath Street. Physicians',
242 St. Vincent Street. Procurators', 62 St. George's Place. Baillie's, West
Regent Street. Also thirteen Public District Libraries.

Military Barracks—Maryhill.

Museums—Hunterian, University, Gilmorehill, also at Art Gallery, p. 320, and
branches, p. 322. Observatory, etc.—Victoria Circus, Dowanhill.

Music Halls—Empire ; Palace ; Coliseum, etc.

Parks—Kelvingrove, west end of Sauchiehall Street
;
Queen's, Victoria Road,

south side ; Alexandra, off Duke Street
;a Green, east from Cross ; Cathkin

Braes, near Rutherglen, etc.

Picture Galleries—Art Gallery and Museum. Branches at Glasgow Green (in

People's Palace and Winter Garden), and at Camphill. Royal Institute of

Fine Arts, 175 Sauchiehall Street.

Theatres—King's, Bath Street ; Royal, 77 Cowcaddens ; Grand, 190 Cowcaddens ;

Royal Princess, Main Street, Gorbals ; Metropole, Stockwell Street. Circus
—Sauchiehall Street. Lyceum Theatre, Govan, etc.

University—Gilmorehill, Kelvingrove Park.

Glasgow, the second city in Great Britain, is not apt at first

to inspire any great admiration in visitors, and the reason is

obvious ; the city is strictly utilitarian, and all the inevitable
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attendant drawbacks of manufacture, the noise, the dirt, the

smoke, are very apparent. It is not until these things are

disregarded that the real wonder of this great hive of com-

merce, its enterprise, its energy, and its administration can be

appreciated. The streets are full of men and women eager

to work, hurrying to and fro ; electric tramcars laden with

passengers pass every few seconds ; looking down from the

railway bridge to the Broomielaw, as the harbour is called,

numbers of steamers are ever arriving and departing, and men,

swarming like ants, load and unload. The history of the city,

which is given below, is a romance of commerce ; enormous

has been the growth in a comparatively few generations. The
town is really in Lanarkshire, but has largely overflowed into

both Eenfrewshire and Dumbartonshire. It is very hilly, and

at the west end the streets are often mere terraces connected by

short streets as steep as house-roofs. The spurs of the Scottish

Highlands come within a few miles, reaching the shores of the

Clyde as the Kilpatrick Hills at Old Kilpatrick, 10 miles

below the town, and thence passing in a north-easterly direc-

tion as the Campsie Hills. These ranges bound the horizon

to the north-west and north of the city ; but, catching the

moisture -laden breezes from the western sea, they cause a

considerable precipitation of rain in their neighbourhood, and

thus the rainfall of Glasgow reaches the high annual average of

45 inches.

History and Population.—All the magnificent growth and develop-

ment of Glasgow has taken place within the last two centuries. It was
not until 1611 that a charter was granted to the city creating it a royal

burgh ; before that time it had been an ecclesiastical town, a burgh
of barony under the Bishop. Rutherglen, now a mere suburb, was a

royal burgh long before its neighbour, and is in fact the only burgh
that owns a charter granted by King David (d. 1153). But Glasgow is

not lacking in early records, for about the end of the 3rd century a

Christian missionary, St. Ninian, established himself in a cell on the

banks of the Molendinar at Glasgow ; and after he departed the place

was left to heathendom until the sixth century, when the patron saint,

Kentigern, familiarly known as Mungo, settled by the river, and began
his missionary efforts {see p. 306). It is not till 1116 that Glasgow
again emerges into light, with the reconstitution of its Bishopric. In
1176 Bishop Joceline held office, and his efforts on behalf of the town
were so zealous that he may almost be spoken of as the real founder of

Glasgow. For his labours in regard to the cathedral see -p. 307 ; but he
did not confine himself to that only, he obtained from William the Lion
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the grant of a burgh with a weekly market, and later an annual fair,

which from 1190 has been held unbrokenly to the present day. It

begins on the Thursday of the second week in July and lasts a fortnight.

In the time of Mungo the place now known as Glasgow is mentioned
as Cathures ; when and why the later name arose is not known. It is of

Celtic derivation, and among other suggested meanings that of " the grey
smith," "the grey hound," "the dark glen," and "the dear family" may
be noted. Of these the first, with its suggestions of hard work amid a

pall of smoke, is certainly the most suitable at the present time, however
different the conditions may have been in the far past.

Glasgow has been the theatre for several actions in the great drama of

her country's history ; Sir William Wallace overcame an English garrison

in the streets. He routed his foes so that they fled to Bothwell, there to

re-form and wait for reinforcements. Queen Mary was several times in

Glasgow, notably when she visited her sick husband in order to decoy
him to his doom (see p. 304). Her last engagement was fought at

Langside, a battle, which though merely a skirmish in itself, decided

the fate of the kingdom (see p. 318). During the Covenanting wars
Glasgow played an active part, being in the centre of eyents. It was
occupied by Claverhouse after his defeat at Drumclog. In 1745 Prince

Charlie and tattered remnants of his disheartened army passed through

the town in his retreat from England, when his hopes were at zero. The
Prince held a review on Glasgow Green before resuming his march to the

north.

But these scenes are small in comparison with the great story of trade

development.

Strange as it may seem, it was the discovery of America which gave

Glasgow the first impetus on her successful career. Her position enabled

her to take advantage of the new opening. Tobacco and sugar became her

staple imports, and by the outbreak of the War of Independence she con-

trolled half the tobacco trade of the kingdom. It was also after the dis-

covery of America that she found herself in a new position, being one of

the most important of the ports of embarkation for the new land. The
Union with England may be noted as the second of the changes which sent

up her trade records by leaps and bounds. To quote from the able

preface in The Handbook on the Municipal Enterprises :

—

"At that time the population was not more than 13,000. ... In

1740 it numbered 17,000, forty years later it was 43,000 ; the first official

census of the United Kingdom in 1801 gave the population as 83,769.

One hundred years later, in 1901, the population within the limits of the

municipality was returned at 760,423, but, adding to that the inhabitants

of Grovan, Partick, and Kinning Park, which, though under distinct

municipal control, are parts of the city, the total amounts to 904,948."

J'>y the Boundaries Act of 1912 the municipal area was greatly enlarged

and now includes the above districts, also Pollokshaws and parts of

Lanark and Renfrew, with a grand total of 1,032,228.

The municipal motto quoted briefly as " Let Glasgow flourish " has no

doubt sometimes jarred on those who see in it only egotism, but the

whole sentence, "Lord, let Glasgow flourish by the preaching of Thy
Word," conveys an entirely diiferent impression. The armorial bearings
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of the city contain a tree, a bird, and a fish with a ring in its mouth,

commemorating three of the most notable miracles wrought by St.

Kentigern.

The city, no doubt, owes much to its position and resources, but still

more to the courage and energy which has been a characteristic of its

sons. Its site has already been briefly noted. The river formed a high-

way for trade, but in early days there lay a long stretch between the city

and the limit of incoming sea vessels ; in fact, there were about fifteen

miles of sand -banks and shoals, obstacles which required millions of

money for their removal. Attempts to clear the obstruction were

made in the 16th and 17th centuries, and in the latter a port and
harbour were established at Port Glasgow ; but this was a failure from the

first. In 1759 an Act of Parliament for cleansing and deepening the

channel was obtained, and ever since the work has been continued at a

total cost to the Clyde Navigation Trustees of something like eight

millions.

This enterprise answered in an unlooked-for direction ; besides the great

increase of already established trade, a new branch was opened, that of

shipbuilding, in which Glasgow has ever since been pre-eminent, not

in Britain only, but in the world. The launch by Henry Bell of the

"Comet" of three-horse power, the first European steamboat in 1812,

inaugurated the vast industry, and the record was reached in 1913 when
the gigantic total of 756,976 of tonnage was turned out. 1911, 1912,
and 1913 were "boom" years. It is a scene one never can forget if one
comes up the river in the busy time of day, or as the westering light

turns grime to gold—the activity of myriads of men creating mighty
engines to traverse all parts of the world, with the clang of tens of

thousands of busy hammers (see p. 317).

But second only to the river as a factor in the prosperity of the city is

the situation, which is actually upon a great coal-field with its correlative
iron ; this puts into the hands of her manufacturers two of the indispens-
able requisites for their work. The coal-fields of Lanarkshire are the
richest in the world, and the yearly output now amounts to 17,000,000
tons. In 1828 Neilson's hot blast iron furnaces first came into
use, being tried at the Clyde iron-works ; the remarkable economy
thereby effected developed the iron industry of Scotland at a rate which
long distanced all competition. Glasgow is exceptional in having blast
furnaces actually within her municipal bounds. Great forges with
powerful steam hammers and other appliances, pipe-founding works, and
malleable-tube works, boiler-making, locomotive engine building, sugar
machinery, sewing machines, and general engineering are among others
of the most important industrial enterprises of the city.

Bleaching and calico printing were established in Glasgow earlier than
in Lancashire, and these industries still prosper. In fact, here chlorine
was used for bleaching before it was introduced into any other British
locality, and its introduction was due to the advice and information James
Watt communicated to his father-in-law. In Glasgow, also, bleaching
powder (chloride of lime) was discovered by Mr. (afterward Sir) Charles
Tennant, who thereby laid the foundation, not only of the St. Eollox
works, but gave the first impetus to the chemical industries generally.
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From remote times hand-loom weaving was the principal occupation in

many rural villages around Glasgow ; and with the steam-engine dis-

coveries of Watt, and the inventions of Arkwright, Hargreaves, Cart-

wright, and others, the textile industries came to be centred in great

factories, and these, for now a century past, form one of the leading

industries of the city.

Among a host of her sons distinguished for mechanical invention we
may mention also the names of Joseph Black and Lord Kelvin.

Perhaps no city in the world owes so much to its municipal govern-

ment as Glasgow, and this fact is worthily typified by the City

Chambers, which can only be described as magnificent (see p. 302). The
Municipal Corporation supplies the city with gas, electric light, and
water ; it owns the tramways, markets, parks, galleries, baths, and wash-

houses, etc., and has a telephone system of its own. Perhaps the most
important of all the municipal activities was that of 1855, when the

Corporation acquired the right to bring a plentiful supply of good water

from Loch Katrine ; and this was supplemented by a second line of

aqueduct in 1885. These aqueducts are thirty-four and a half miles in

length, and are capable of discharging 110,000,000 of gallons of water per
day into the service reservoirs. In order that the water of the loch might
be kept free from pollution, the feuing rights over the whole drainage area

of Lochs Katrine and Arklet were, in 1892, acquired by the Corporation
at a cost of £17,000.

There are few relics left of ancient Glasgow, and the growth of modern
times has obliterated any traces of the early city. In the year 1866 an
Improvement Act was obtained by the city, the operations under which
have served as models for all other great commercial towns. The works
have been carried out at a cost of over £2,000,000, but by the realisation

of the property in the possession of the Trust, the total cost to ratepayers

has only been £568,386. Many streets have been entirely reformed ; and
in others dens of squalor have been swept away. Model dwellings and
"family homes," suitable for the poorest classes, have been constructed,

and the Alexandra Park has been formed. Excellent sanitary supervision

and an unequalled water supply being maintained, Glasgow has now
become one of the healthiest cities in the kingdom.

Three large terminal Eailway Stations bring traffic to the heart of the

town, respectively serving the three great Scottish Companies— the

Caledonian, North British, and Glasgow and South-Western. By means
of these railways and their local branches, as well as by the magnificent

fleet of river steamers, travelling facilities to and from the city in all

directions are very great. From the Alexandra Park, on the north-east,

to Pollokshields, south-west, the City Union Railway traverses the town,

and connects the North British Bathgate line with St. Enoch station and
the South-Western system. Two underground railways, belonging to the

North British and Caledonian Railway Companies respectively, have their

chief stations beneath the high-level termini of those companies, and form

connections with the suburbs ; also with Dumbarton, Helensburgh, and

Loch Lomond to the west, and Hamilton to the south-east. A circular

cable subway has its principal station in St. Enoch Square, whence it

proceeds round by Kelvin Bridge, Partick, and Govan. Within the city
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electric trams traverse almost every important thoroughfare, and run into

the suburbs.

As has been said, Glasgow is not a city that particularly im-

presses a visitor at first sight, nevertheless there are several

things which a visitor ought certainly to see, among which may
be mentioned The Cathedral, the Art Gallery and Museum,
The City Chambers, and the Botanic Gardens, not to mention

smaller things. The plan we have chosen is that of giving an

account of each of these objects as we come across it in a general

survey of the city itself.

It may first be premised, however, that Glasgow is an ex-

pensive place to stay in, the hotels at the great railway stations

have vied with each other in becoming more and more magnifi-

cent, and charge accordingly ; as they have unlimited custom

they have no need to condescend to those whose purses are not

well stocked.

George Square is in many senses the real centre of the city

and here we may start our general account. On its north side

is the principal station of the North British Railway. The
western side is occupied by the Merchants1 House and the Bank

of Scotland. On the south side the principal building is the

General Post-Office. The whole of the eastern side is occupied

by the City Chambers. (See below.) The Square is wide and

open. Seats, which are generally fully occupied, are placed

about at intervals in the central space, the middle of which
is occupied by the Scott monument, which, if not so striking as

that at Edinburgh, has the merit of having been the first erected

to Scott in his native land. It consists of a fluted column 80
ft. high, surmounted with a colossal statue. Flanking it, on
east and west, are equestrian bronze statues of Queen Victoria

and the Prince Consort, of no great artistic merit. There are

also, round the Square, figures of James Watt, by Chan trey
;

Sir John Moore (a native of Glasgow), by Flaxman ; Lord Clyde

(also a native), by Foley ; Dr. Thomas Graham, formerly Master

of the Mint, by W. Broclie, U.S.A. ; James Oswald, M.P. ; Dr.

David Livingstone the traveller, Thomas Campbell the poet,

and Sir Robert Peel, all by John Mossman ; Eobert Burns, by
George E. Ewing ; and Rt. Hon. W. E. Gladstone, M.P., near

the City Chambers, unveiled by Lord Rosehery in 1902, and

designed by Hamo Thorneycroft.
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City Chambers

City Chambers. Glasgow has grown so fast that four times

within a century have the municipal offices required enlarge-

ment. In 1810 the offices were removed from the ancient

Tolbooth to the buildings facing the Green, now used as a

Justiciary Court. Thence, in 1842, they were transferred to

new buildings in Wilson Street, now occupied as a Sheriff-Court

and County offices ; and, in 1875, they were moved to Ingram
Street, where a building was erected forming one block with

the Sheriff-Courts, etc. Within a very few years this increased

accommodation was found to be quite inadequate, and now a

building which easily takes a foremost place among its kind all

over the world has been erected. The designs were by William

Young of London (a native of Paisley) ; and the whole building

is in the Venetian Renaissance style. The Council Chamber is

placed over the grand entrance, facing George Square ; and the

Banqueting Hall, with suite of reception-rooms, occupies the

George Street frontage. The centre and wings of the principal

elevation to George Square project and rise an additional story,

the centre being capped with a pediment flanked by two domed
towers, and the wings end in domes and lanterns. In the

centre, over the entrance loggia, a tower rises about 100 ft.

above the main parapet—in all more than 200 ft. from the

street level. The building is enriched by statuary groups and

figures (Geo. Lawson, if.R.S.A., and others). But splendid as is

the exterior, the interior will strike a stranger with even greater

admiration. The employment of alabaster, marble, and coloured

tiles in the principal staircases, halls, and corridors produces an

effect of magnificence not easily to be surpassed. The entire

cost of the pile, including £170,000 for the site, exceeded

£500,000.
George Square lies in the very heart of the city, and close to

it are the principal places and most important streets. The
three great railways have already been noted. Queen Street Station,

the terminus of the N. B. R., is on the north side of the Square.

The principal stations of the other two are St. Enoch's (G. & S.W.)

at the foot of Buchanan Street, and the Central (Caledonian) in

Gordon Street. Nearly all the streets here lie at right angles.
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At one time St. Enoch Square was a rural churchyard with

a church dedicated to St. Tanew, the mother of Kentigern, a

name which, by a strange corruption, became Enoch.

The streets running north and south are well supplied with

excellent shops, of them all perhaps Buchanan Street is the

most important. In it are the fine offices of the Glasgoiv Herald.

An arcade filled with shops leads off from the eastern side near

the south end.

In Queen Street (east) is the Royal Exchange, and in Ingram
Street is Hutcheson's Hospital, which corresponds in some ways
with Heriot's Hospital in Edinburgh.

In Miller Street is Stirling's Library, and Baillids Library

is in West Regent Street ; both open to all comers for

reference. Near the foot of Glassford Street (made later) once

stood Shawfield House, belonging to Campbell of Shawfield,

who, with the compensation received for the damage done to

it in the Malt Tax riots of 1725, bought Islay. Twenty years

later Prince Charlie stayed here and met Clementina Walkinshaw,

by whom his life was to be so deeply influenced. It was
bought in 1760 by John Glassford, one of the "Tobacco lords,"

who strutted about in his scarlet cloak and curled wig,

with his cocked hat and gold -headed cane, as gay as any
courtier. It was after him the street was named.

Passing farther eastward, we come to High Street, running

roughly north and south, and traversing the older part of the

town. At its intersection with the Trongate stood the old Gross

of Glasgow, once the centre of the city. This part has been

much altered by modern improvements, and nearly all the old

houses—in many cases, it must be confessed, very insanitary and
squalid even if picturesque—have been swept away. At the

north-west corner of the two intersecting streets stands the

ancient Tolbooth or prison, five stories high and turreted. It

will be remembered that it was here young Osbaldistone visited

his friend in distress ; during which visit he discovered, to his

astonishment, that his mysterious guide was none less than Rob
Roy the redoubtable cattle-stealer himself (Rob Roy). The
contiguous building in the Trongate is now all that remains of

the old town hall, and is cut up into shops. When Defoe

visited Glasgow in 1726 there were colonnades or piazzas in

front of the houses of the four streets radiating from the Cross ;
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these called forth his praise, in spite of the meanness of the

small shops they sheltered and darkened. It was in " Donald's

Land," on the north side of the Trongate, that Sir John Moore
was born.

In the middle of the street is an equestrian statue of William
III. presented to the burgh in 1735 by James Macrae, Governor

of Madras. Near it is one of the accesses to the underground

line of the Caledonian Railway. On the south side of the

street projects the Tron Steeple, a venerable but stunted spire,

dating from 1637. This forms an arch over the pavement.

We are now in the centre of old Glasgow, though little enough
remains of it. To the north is the High Street mentioned below.

Eastwards is the old Gallowgate, and southwards the Salt-

market, for ever associated with Bailie Nicol Jarvie. The name
arose from the fact that the salt for pickling the salmon caught

in the river was sold here. The south end is called Jail Square,

and here was formerly the place of public execution. The
Court-House, as we have said, served for a time as the Municipal

offices, rebuilt in 1911. The whole of the Saltmarket is

modernised.

Off the Saltmarket runs the Briggate, a once fashionable and

busy street, which led to the ancient bridge of the city. Not-

withstanding its intersection by railways, the Briggate is one of

the few streets in Glasgow which still wears a 17th-century

aspect. Near its farther extremity there yet remains the Brig-

gate Steeple, now maintained by the Corporation as a relic of the

Merchants' House, built in 1659 by Sir William Bruce of Kinross,

the architect of the more modern part of Holyrood Palace. In

the words of M'Ure, the Glasgow historian, " the steeple is of

height 164 foot, the foundation is 20 foot square : it hath three

battlements of curious architecture above one another, and a

curious clock of molton brass, the spire whereof [of the steeple]

is mounted with a ship of copper finely gilded in place of a

weather-cock."

Before leaving this part we may just mention Glasgow
Green, the park of the people. The park has a frontage on

the river of about l£ miles. It is perhaps the worst placed of

all Glasgow's parks for vegetation, being in the thick of the

drifting smoke, but nevertheless of late years much has been

done to improve it. The two little streams, the Molendinar
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(see p. 297) and the Camlachie, ran across it, and when these

became mere sewers they were covered in. The Nelson monu-

ment was put up in 1805, and is as much a rendezvous for the

discontented ranters of Glasgow as Hyde Park is for those of

London. The Doulton fountain, which was exhibited at the

Glasgow International Exhibition of 1888, is a really fine piece

of work. The People's Palace and Winter Garden were opened

by Lord Rosebery in 1898, and in the former there is often a

fine loan collection of pictures to be seen.

If we follow the High Street northwards, we pass the prison

and ascend what is called the " Bell of the Brae" where, in the

year 1300, the fight between English and Scots, the former

commanded by Percy and Bishop Beik, and the latter by the

famous Sir William Wallace, took place. The English were

defeated with the loss of their commander. A street called

Drygate runs from the top of High Street, and in the upper

part of it was the house in which Darnley lay sick when Queen
Mary came to seek him, to condole with him, and to lure him
with all her charms, until he consented to be carried forth in

a litter to journey with her to Edinburgh where he was to

meet his awful fate. The Barony Church is soon passed. The
Barony parish embraces the principal part of the city ; and

the living has been held by many eminent men, among whom
was the late Dr. Norman Macleod, to whose memory a bronze

statue has been erected in the open space on the opposite side

of the street close to the site of the old Barony Church, now
removed, in which he ministered.

For over four hundred years the University was in the High
Street ; the site may be identified by the present College Station.

Many are the footsteps of men who have become famous that

we might hear if we listened to the echoes of history ; among
them we must mention one, a native of Glasgow by birth,

Thomas Campbell the poet, b. 1777, tenth child of his father,

who at the early age of thirteen printed and sold to his fellow-

scholars verses of his own composition. He was later Bursar

and then Rector of the University. In the old building of the

University worked also Smollett, Lockhart, " Christopher North,"

and Tait, afterwards Archbishop of Canterbury. The College

stood partly on the site of the old Monastery of Blackfriars.



306 THE CATHEDRAL

Soon after we come to a striking group formed by the

cathedral backed up by the rising ground of the Necropolis.

The Cathedral

Admittance daily 10 a.m. till dusk or (in summer) 6 p.m. No gratuities. Service
on Sundays 11 a.m. and 2 p.m

The Cathedral has the distinction of being the only old

minster in Scotland besides that at Kirkwall which is still in

good preservation. At first sight it is rather disappointing,

being of no great size, and with a smoke -blackened exterior,

and rather ungraceful spire ; but after visiting the interior, and
especially the crypt, its great charm—the charm which vener-

able age and good workmanship must always produce—will be

felt.

Sir Walter Scott, by the mouth of young Osbaldistone in

Rob Roy, doubtless spoke his own opinion of it in the following

words :
—" The pile is of a gloomy and massive rather than an

elegant style of Gothic architecture ; but its peculiar character

is so strongly preserved, and so well suited with the accompani-

ments that surround it, that the impression of the first view

was awful and solemn in the extreme. . . . We feel that its

appearance is heavy, yet that the effect produced would be

destroyed were it lighter or more ornamental."

The Cathedral is dedicated to St. Kentigern (p k 297), who came from the

Orkneys on his missionary errand to the district of Glasgow, then called

Cathures, about 539 ; he was subsequently expelled by the king or

chieftain, and. took refuge in Wales, where he founded the See of St.

Asaph. He was recalled, by the successor of his persecutor, and about

560 erected the earliest church on the site of the present Cathedral. He
is said to have died in 603, and was buried at the east end of the

ground on which the Cathedral stands. For more than five centuries

nothing further is heard of the church in Glasgow. It was probably of

wood, and possibly fell to pieces gradually, though it is likely that many
pilgrims were attracted by the shrine of so great a saint. King David,

whose mother was St. Margaret, came to the throne of Scotland in 1124,

having previously held Strathclyde as Prince. He founded the See of

Glasgow, made his tutor, John Achaius, bishop, and endowed the first

cathedral, dedicated 1136, which was built on the site of St. Kentigern's

church. Of this cathedral there remains nothing. Succeeding bishops

added and restored, and the earlier part of the existing building may be

attributed to Bishop Ingelram (1164). A mere fragment of this remains,
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and may " be found about twenty feet from the west end of the interior of

the south aisle of the present lower church," and consists of nothing more
than " a foot or two of splayed bench table, a single wall shaft of keel

section, with its unfinished octagonal capital, and its base with large

square plinth, and a few stones of walling" (P. Macgregor Chalmers).

Bishop Joceline began adding to his predecessor's church, which, while he

was actively engaged in repairing it, was partially burnt. Of his rebuild-

ing a considerable part remains, including the south aisle, and the north

wall of the north aisle of the lower church, but the bishop died before the

completion of his great scheme, and it was not until the time of Bishop
Bondington (1233) that Joceline's unfinished choir was removed and
replaced by the present one. It was Bishop Robert Wishart (1272) who
took the nave in hand, and it is to Bishop William Lauder (1408) that

we owe the design of the beautiful Chapter-House, Bishop John Cameron
(1426) practically completed the work ; he finished the Chapter-House
and built the spire of the cathedral. He also made a Consistory House
and Library which stood at the south-west angle, and were completely

destroyed in 1846.

Having in this very brief and summary sketch indicated

something of the growth of the building, we may turn to it as it

now stands.

The style is Early English, though differing greatly in

one part and another. The absence of chairs or any kind of

seats in the nave adds greatly to the effect, as the whole can be

seen in one fine sweep. The arches in the aisle arcades are

sharper than those in the choir, and the whole is characterised

by a greater simplicity, though it must be remembered the

nave is of the later date. The roofs of nave and choir have

been restored and are facsimiles of the originals. There are

clerestory and triforium to see, both worth notice. Looking up
toward the choir the first impression is one of disappointment,

for the rood-screen which separates the two is very heavy, and
pierced only by a low door. It is but fair to add that this

screen, due to Bishop Blacader (1484), has been greatly admired,

and is in itself a fine piece of work, with a parapet of good
tracery, but it is against present day ideas that such a cumber-
some obstacle should break the vista of a beautiful cathedral.

The Choir itself is very grand. It is raised considerably

above the nave, standing over the Lower Church. The chief

feature, the moulding, is seen best on the capitals of the piers.

One peculiarity is a chapel of four altars behind the high altar

;

this corresponds with the better-known Chapels of the Nine
Altars at Durham ; like that cathedral also Glasgow ends now



308 THE CRYPT

squarely, but is conjectured to have once finished in the apsidal

form. The choir is used for service and is called the High
Church. In the north-east corner of the High Church is the

entrance to the Sacristy.

Returning once more to the nave, we note that there are no

real transepts, only the foundations or lower part of the southern

transept, in itself a perfect little chapel. This used to be

known as the Dripping Aisle from the perpetual dropping of

water from the roof, a peculiarity which no longer continues.

It shows that probably transepts were at one time contemplated

in the plan of the building. But the chief feature of archi-

tectural interest is the Lower Church or Crypt, which has

already been more than once referred to. It follows the general

plan of the choir above. To the least knowing the design of

the pillars must appear curious. The four in the centre form a

square, indicating the position of St. Mungds Shrine, which

remained until the Reformation. The design of the vaulting

and the carving on the bosses should be especially noted, but it is

a drawback that it is often so dark as to be difficult to distinguish

the features of interest. It was in this crypt that Scott placed

one of the notable scenes of Rob Roy. In the south-east corner

is St Mungo's Well, the traditional spot on which the first saint

founded his church. At the east end is an old statue, popularly

said to be St. Mungo's tomb, but in reality probably connected

with the tomb of the famous Bishop Wishart. Edward Irving,

founder of the Catholic Apostolic Church, is buried in the crypt,

and there is a memorial window to him executed by Bertini of

Milan.

In the north-east corner of the crypt, below the Sacristy, we
find the beautiful 15th century Chapter- House, though the

foundations are of a much earlier date. The doorway is well

moulded, and the groined ceiling is supported by a slender shaft

20 feet in height. What is known as the Covenanters'

Stone, recording the names of some who were killed in those

disturbed times, is now to be seen here.

About the middle of the 19th century a general restoration of the

Cathedral took place, when the ancient tower and Consistory House on

the west face of the Cathedral were removed, an indiscretion which
has been lamented more on antiquarian than on architectural grounds.
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Cathedral Windows

It was also decided to fill in the windows with stained glass. The
eastern window, one of the finest of the series, was presented by Government.
The first window was erected in 1859, and the last in 1864, when the

whole (81 in number) were formally handed over to the Crown. The
windows in the nave, transepts, and Lady Chapel were all executed at

Munich ; those in the chapter-house and crypts by various British and
foreign artists, whose names, as well as those of the donors, are given in

the descriptive catalogue sold in the Cathedral. The subjects are arranged

with a certain regard to chronological order, commencing at the north-west

corner of the nave with the expulsion of Adam and Eve, and continued to

the south-west angle with other Old Testament characters. The great

west window contains subjects taken from the history of the Jews : and

the north transept window figures of the prophets and John the Baptist.

The subjects in the choir illustrate the parables ; those in the Lady Chapel

are figures of the apostles ; and those in the great eastern window the

evangelists. The clerestory windows are as yet only partially filled with

stained glass.

The revenues of the See of Glasgow were at one time very consider-

able, as, beside the royalty and baronies of Glasgow, 18 baronies of land

in various parts of the kingdom belonged to it. Parts of these revenues

have fallen to the University of Glasgow and part to the Crown.
Among the line of Bishops there are many men of learning and dignity

above the average
;
particularly noticeable is the name of Bishop Robert

Wishart (1272), a firm friend of Wallace and Bruce, who furnished from
his own wardrobe the robes in which Bruce was crowned. For this act he

suffered imprisonment for some years at the hands of Edward I. The See of

Glasgow was made Archiepiscopal in 1491 at the instance of James IV.,

who was an honorary canon of the Cathedral. Among the Archbishops

the names of Bishop Burnet and Leighton stand out. During the fit of

destructive enthusiasm which followed the Reformation the building was
saved from injury by the zealous activity of the craftsmen of Glasgow,

who forbade the fulfilment of an edict which had gone forth for the

destruction of the "idolatrous monument." The structure was carefully

repaired by certain of the Protestant Archbishops, notably by Bishop Law,
whose monument may be seen in the Lady Chapel.

On the exterior of the cathedral the great tower and spire

should be noted, and the gargoyles projecting from the parapet,

especially those on the north side, which are in good preserva-

tion and very original.

The Bishop's Palace or castle, now vanished, stood a little S.W.

of the cathedral, on the site of the present Royal Infirmary ;

the remains were removed in 1789 to make way for that

building. The principal architectural feature of the Infirmary,

which was designed by brothers Adam, and opened in 1794, is
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the central dome, which forms a roof to the lecture and operat-

ing theatre. Adjoining the cathedral is the Victoria wing
with a bronze statue of the late Queen over the entrance.

This was opened by King George V. in 1914.

The Necropolis

From time immemorial this part has been associated with

the burial of the dead. St. Ninian made a burying-ground, on
the site of which now stands the Cathedral, for it was to this

spot that the untamed oxen led the body of Fergus, thus deciding

St. Kentigern here to fix his cell. Somewhat similar tales are

told of many great cathedrals. The present Necropolis is on

a steep conical hill rising from the valley of the little Molendinar

stream, and with its trees and various monuments it forms a

striking background to the Cathedral. Across the valley is a

light bridge called the Bridge of Sighs, from the many sorrow-

ful processions that have wended across it. The cemetery is

the property of the Merchants' House, and was known at first

as the Fir Park. In 1824 the tall column surmounted by a statue

of John Knox was put up by public subscription, and only subse-

quently did the idea of making the place a public cemetery occur

to any one. It cannot, of course, bear comparison with the well-

known Tomnahurich cemetery at Inverness, but it is a noticeable

spot. The column to John Knox stands up above its fellows,

but there are other monuments also conspicuous, namely those

to William Black, William M'Gavin, George Coventry, Rev.

Dr. Heugh, Charles Tennant of St. Rollox, Principal Macfarlan,

the poet Motherwell, Sheridan Knowles, and Edward Irving

{see p. 308). In one corner of the Necropolis is the Jews' burying-

ground, in which the first body was laid in 1832.

There is a good view of the city from the summit of the

Necropolis, which rises to a height of 200 or 300 feet.

St. Rollox

Passing in a line with the High Street by the Eoyal

Infirmary, northward through Castle Street (so named from the

Bishop's Castle), the Monkland Canal is crossed, and the visitor

at once finds himself in the grimiest of manufacturing regions.

On the one hand are the great works of the Caledonian Railway
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Company. On the left hand, stretching along the canal bank,

are the St. Kollox Chemical Works of C. Tennant, Sons, and

Co. (Lord Glenconner). The works were distinguished by the

great chimney stalk, 435 ft. high, long the pride and boast

of Glasgow, until an ambitious rival erected another a few feet

higher; the "Tennant Stalk" was subsequently shortened.

Then we pass the huge Sighthill cemetery.

Farther out still is Springburn with its public park, in

which is a winter garden.

The Alexandra Park,

one of the numerous public pleasure-grounds within the city, is

situated at the extreme east, and can be reached by tramway
from George Square or Duke Street. It was acquired at a

cost of ,£40,000 by the City Improvement Trust, and a

considerable additional sum has been expended upon it.

If we return now to George Square we shall easily find our

way westward by any of the great east and west running streets,

of which the principal are Sauchiehall Street (such a stumbling-

block to southern tongues) on the north, and Argyle Street on the

south. In Sauchiehall Street are some fine shops, the Theatre

Koyal, and the Empire Palace ; in Elmbank Street is the

King's Theatre, and in Berkeley Street, opening off it, are the

St. Andrew's Halls, the property of the Corporation, where

the orchestra can seat 650 performers. In Sauchiehall Street

is the Royal Institute of Fine Arts, where periodical exhibitions

of Modern Art take place. At Charing Cross stands the Grand
Hotel, and from this point the residential west end of Glasgow
may be said to begin.

In North Street is the Mitchell Library, which is Glasgow's

public library. It originated in a bequest by Stephen Mitchell,

a native of Linlithgow, who carried on a tobacco manufacturing

business in Glasgow, and died 1874. The amount he left for

this purpose was close on £67,000. Many bequests to the

library have since been made, of which the most important is

that of Robert Jeffrey, of over 4000 volumes, some of them
works of great rarity and value. The library now contains

over 200,000 volumes, and is housed in a magnificent building

opened in 1911. There are branch libraries in connection in

2
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almost every suburb ; to the erection of these Mr. Carnegie

has contributed £100,000.
Argyle Street, which continues all the way to Kelvin

Bridge in one direction, and by Trongate and Gallowgate the

other, runs roughly parallel to the course of the river for about
five miles.

The great feature of the western end of the city is Kelvin-

grove Park.

Kelvingrove Park

The Park owes much to its hilliness, for the abrupt rises

and falls add greatly to its picturesqueness, and make it seem
much larger than it is. From the flagstaff at the east end the

splendid buildings of the University can be seen towering

majestically on their high ground. Beyond them is the Western

Infirmary, and some new buildings in connection with the

University. Farther to the left is the handsome red sandstone

building of the Fine Art Gallery and Museum.
In the middle distance is a fountain called the Stewart

Fountain, well carried out, which serves as a rendezvous for old

and young. It was designed in commemoration of Lord Provost

Stewart to whom the city owes its unequalled water-supply.

Between it and the Fine Art Gallery is the old Museum, which

was temporarily incorporated into the Exhibition Buildings

of 1911. In front of the Art Gallery are two exceptionally

good howling greens. The Park is 85 acres in extent, and was

acquired by the Corporation in 1852. It is well laid out, and

the flower beds add no small charm to it. It is traversed by

the river Kelvin, which, it must be confessed, is a mere muddy
brook. In the Park were held the Exhibitions of 1888 and

1901 and the Scottish Exhibition of 1911.

The University

The University of Glasgow is second in seniority among
Scottish Universities, having been founded by a charter of James

II. of Scotland on the instance of Bishop Turnbull, and further

confirmed by a Bull of Pope Nicholas V. in 1450.

it was at first established in a tenement in the old street named
Rotten Row, not far from the Cathedral, thence in 1460 it was moved to
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the High Street, and there remained until 1870. At the Reformation it

suffered as much as other institutions of its kind, and for some time

subsequently lingered on in a very precarious state, but in 1577 it was

remodelled. In 1846 an attempt was made to transfer it to a more

worthy position, but nearly twenty years elapsed before the project was

taken up in earnest. The present magnificent site and worthy buildings

cost an enormous sum, which was made up in various ways, partly by

the sale of the ancient site, partly by munificent subscription, and partly

by the help of the National Exchequer, for Parliament granted no less

than £120,000 in six annual instalments. The new buildings, erected on

Gilmorehill, as the site is called, were designed by Sir G. Gilbert Scott

;

the foundation was laid by King Edward VII., 1868, and two years later

they were first opened for classes. There are now thirty-one chairs, and

over 2000 students. The eminent men connected with the University

have been so many that it is quite impossible to attempt any exhaustive

list : a few among the names, however, may be mentioned :—Adam Smith,

James Watt, Sir William Hamilton, William Hunter, Edmund Burke,

Francis Jeffrey, Thomas Campbell, Sir Robert Peel, Macaulay, the two

Lyttons, Disraeli, Gladstone, John Bright ; and among those of our own

times, Lord Lister and Lord Kelvin.

From the terrace in front one can see the facade of the noble

range of buildings with the great spire rising 300 feet from the

ground. This was erected in 1888 as the result of a bequest.

The latest additions to the University were opened in April 1907

by the King, then Prince of Wales, and include the Natural

Philosophy and Medical Departments, which cost ,£70,000.

Otherwise the chief points to note are the Common Hall of

the University, known as the Bute Hall, which was the result

of a donation of £45,000 from the late Marquess of Bute.

This is one of the most important architectural features of the

buildings. It forms the central and main portion of a pile

which intersects, from north to south, the great quadrangle, and

binds together the various public departments, senate hall,

library, reading-room, and museum of the college. The Bute

Hall rises over a range of cloisters, and internally is of grand

proportions. The fittings throughout are richly wrought in the

Gothic style, and a magnificent Gothic screen at the south end

separates this noble apartment from the smaller Randolph Hall,

which connects with the Senate Hall, etc. At the north end

the Grand Randolph Staircase supplies the principal entrance,

and gives access also to the reading-room, Hunterian Museum,
etc. ; the cost of the Randolph Hall and staircase fell on the

bequest to the University by Charles Randolph, shipbuilder
;

and the cloisters were partly erected by public subscription.
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In the Museum, which is open free daily five days a week,

10 a.m. to 4 p.m., on Saturdays till 1 p.m.; and on Sundays

closed altogether, there is, besides the usual Mineralogical and

Geological details, an unrivalled collection of coins valued

at £80,000 ; this, however, is not shown except on special

occasions. There is a library attached to the Museum, part of

the same bequest, and this contains a valuable series of Caxtons,

Pynsons, and other early printed books, also a collection

of MSS. the value of which is now only beginning to be

realised.

The University Library (open 11 a.m. to 2.30 p.m. in

winter, and 11.30 a.m. to 2 p.m. Monday, Wednesday, and
Friday in summer) is on the ground floor, and is especially rich

in Philosophical and Theological literature. Like every other

public institution in Glasgow—surely the most liberal hearted

of all cities—it has been enriched by numerous bequests of

great value. Of these the two separate Euing bequests are the

most remarkable, one consisting of more than 10,000 volumes,

many of them of great rarity and value, and the other of a

unique collection of Bibles. The library is open to others than

those connected with the University on the modest payment of

10s. 6d. yearly.

In close proximity to the University is the Western Infirmary.

The institution is largely used for clinical instruction in con-

nection with the Medical School of the University. Adjoining

the Infirmary is the Anderson's College Medical School.

Art Gallery and Museum

This Gallery is worthy of the high estimation in which it is

held by the city ; for it is a splendid building containing a

valuable collection. Free admission daily, 10 a.m. to 9 p.m.

The origin of the collection is really due to Archibald M'Lellan, at one

time a Town Councillor, who left his collection of valuable pictures to the

city ; but when it was discovered that his affairs would not in justice

allow of such a bequest, the Town Council came forward and purchased

the collection. Various bequests and gifts have since been made, and

many purchases, until Glasgow stands in the first rank of Art galleries.

The collection was at first housed in Sauchiehall Street, but the balance

of the money from the International Exhibition of 1888 formed the

nucleus of a fund for providing more suitable accommodation. And the
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Gallery as it now stands is finer than anything of the same kind that

London can show.

It is of red sandstone, designed in a French Kenaissance

style, with large entrances on both the north and south sides.

Over the north porch rises a tower flanked on each side by a

smaller one, and surmounting it is the statue of Victory in

bronze, while the other two bear figures typical of Immortality

and Fame. A large group of Sculpture by George B. Frampton,

RA., stands within an open arch in the north porch. This

represents St. Mungo protecting Art and Music. The building

was opened in 1902, when the collections had been transferred

to it. The only weak point seems to be the catalogue, which is

arranged in alphabetical order under the names of the artists,

instead of corresponding with the rooms of the Gallery. It is

full of biographical notes as to the artists, which can be obtained

in any book of reference, and gives the baldest details in reference

to the actual pictures, not even indicating which are genuine

and which are merely of the school of, or after, particular artists.

It is a mechanical piece of work. There is, however, a plan of

the building in it, though no indication where to find particular

works. As this is so, we attempt to supply the want here by
giving a few practical details.

The entrance hall, which is finely carried out in cream-

coloured sandstone, and a floor of variegated marble, is devoted

to statuary. It rises the whole height of the building, and on
the upper storey at one end is a great organ. The statuary is

not equal to the pictures, and much of it consists of plaster

casts only. The marble statue of Pitt by Ghantrey in the left-

hand corner is the gem of the collection. Subsidiary halls on
the ground floor and galleries are devoted to Natural History,

Engineering models, etc. In the open galleries, running round
the halls on the first floor level, are some pictures and various

other objects, such as collections of glass, china, etc., showing
the finest work done in the Industrial Arts. The pictures

proper are in the saloons on the first floor, and are roughly

classified, so far as is possible, in accordance with the conditions

of bequests. We note the most striking and valuable in each

room in passing, a task rendered easier because the title and
artist's name are in all cases on the frames.
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Going up the stairs to left of entrance, and turning left, we find the

Old Masters. Flemish— Vandyck, The Repose in Egypt ; several of

Rubens 1

works, including his Wild Boar Hunt ; a couple of Murillo's ;

many of the Teniers', father and son ; Van Der Goes' St. Victor with a

Donor, counted as the chef d'ceuvre of this master, and worthy of careful

scrutiny. Dutch—in first small room Sir Godfrey Knellers William of

Orange ; in larger room many of Rembrandt's, including his Man in

Armour ; there are also here represented Franz Hals, Hobbema, Wouver-
mans, Ruysdael, etc. Donald Bequest—If there is time to see only a
small number of pictures, this room with the following one should
certainly be selected. The bequest consists of works estimated at not

less than £40,000 of value. There are three Troyons, the finest being

Returning Home ; two Millets, including Going to Work ; three Oorots,

including The Cray Fisher and The Woodcutters ; Monticelli's Adoration
of the Magi ; three works of James Maris ; Velasquez Philip IV. ; a

Turner, and other works by Daubigny, Constable, Orchardson, etc.

Here is also the Carfrae-Alston collection of twenty-one pictures, gifted

in 1909. Old Masters, Italian—Here there are specimens of the works
of Botticelli, Titian, Tintoretto, Raphael, Coreggio, Salvator Rosa, Carlo

Bold, and Paul Veronese. Crossing now to the east side we come to a

Modern Room, where the chief objects to notice are two Turners, one

of them of Modern Italy, exquisite ; and others by Millais, including

The Forerunner ; Whistler s Carlyle ; a fine specimen of Corot ; Alma
Tadema, Burne Jones, and Constable.

In the Smellie Bequest room there is nothing particular to note.

British Art of the Eighteenth and Nineteenth Centuries.—Sir

Joshua Reynolds is well represented ; also Wilson, "the father of

English landscape painting," besides Raeburn and Morland. In this

room are also to be found usually some quite modern pictures, to be

drafted later into other positions. Two small rooms adjoining contain

sketches of old Glasgow. Modern School.—This is a collection of very

varying merit, containing a good many portraits of local rather than
general interest, and several views of Scottish scenery.

There are various branches in connection with the main Art

Gallery which receive loans of pictures, namely Camphill Gallery,

the People's Palace at Glasgow Green already mentioned, Tollcross

Museum and Mosesfteld Branch Museum, Springfield Park. The
Old Museum has been mentioned ; this was built by public

subscription as an addition to old Kelvingrove House, which

was taken down in view of the Exhibition of 1901. Not far

from the Kelvingrove Park northward are

The Royal Botanic Gardens

of 43\ acres, one of the most delightful of the free spaces of

Glasgow. They are open to the public, and stand on high
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ground. In the centre is a fine range of glasshouses, including

the Kibble Palace, a large conservatory and winter garden. Past

the Gardens runs the great trunk road called the Great Western

Eoad, straight as a ruler, to the heart of the city. At the east

end of the Gardens is Queen Margaret's College for Women.
North-westward is Euchill Park of about 53 acres, near which is

the Ruchill Hospital. To the north is the suburb of Maryhill,

and beyond it the Western Necropolis and St. Kentigem's Catholic

Cemetery.

The River

Before crossing over to the south side it is necessary to make

a few notes on the river and bridges. Something has already

been said on this subject when the progress of Glasgow as a

city of trade was under review. A tidal dam above the Albert

Bridge near Glasgow Green limits the flow of the water.

Up to 1768, the old bridge, crossing where the present

Victoria Bridge (opened 1856) is, was the only one over the river

at Glasgow. Then the Jamaica Street Bridge, or as it is more

correctly called Glasgow Bridge, was erected. This has been

twice renewed, the last time in 1899. Unfortunately the

railway bridge crossing just below it blocks the picturesque

view of the Broomielaw with its steamers and busy traffic, and

the quay from which the pleasure steamboats start. Not far

off is the Kingston Dock, opened in 1867, with 5 acres of

water area. Farther down there are two larger docks on the

north and south sides respectively, the Queen's and Prince's,

opened 1877 and 1897, with a combined area of 69 acres.

Eighteen and a half miles of the river are now navigable.

The shoals and obstacles removed speak well for the patience and
enterprise of the Navigation Trust, among them all may be specially

mentioned the Elderslie Rock, discovered by the grounding of a vessel in

1854. This extended 1000 feet along the river, and partially across it,

and required years of labour for its removal. It gives some idea of the

magnitude of the operations which have been successfully carried out,

when one knows that from 25 to 29 feet of depth have been added to the
channel. At Clydebank, some 6 miles farther down, is the great Eothesay
Dock. Stately examples of naval architecture may be seen at Lancefield,

Finnieston, Mavisbank, and Plantation quays on both sides of the water.

Engines, boilers, and heavy machinery, are usually put into new vessels

at the 75-ton crane at Finnieston. At intervals for some miles farther

down the river there occur great shipbuilding and marine engineer-
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tag establishments, Govau and Clydebank being especially noticeable for

their activity. (For further see p. 352.)

South Side

The part of the city lying to the south of the Clyde comprises

the districts of Hutchesontown, Ltturieston, Tradeston, Kinning
Park, and Kingston partly in the barony of Gorbals (these districts

are chiefly industrial) ; beyond which lie the residential districts

of Pollokshields, Strathbungo, Govanhill, Crossbill, Crossmyloof, etc.

Eglinton Street, a continuation of Bridge Street, leads straight to

Crosshill and the Queen's Park. On the left-hand side, at some
distance, are the great blast furnaces and ironworks of William
Dixon (Lim.), which used to illumine the south-eastern sky of

Glasgow. The Queen's Park, of about 146 acres, which is to the

south side what Kelvingrove is to the north, and Richmond
Park, of 44 acres, are both in this quarter. The former, from
which commanding views of the city may be obtained, was
laid out by Sir Joseph Paxton. The latter takes its name
from Lord Provost Sir David Kichmond.

Langside

South of Queen's Park is the Victoria Infirmary of Glasgow,

opened in 1889. A little beyond is the village of Langside,

where Queen Mary met with her final defeat, an event which
" settled the fate of Scotland, affected the future of England,

and had its influence over all Europe." This battle took place

shortly after the Queen's escape from Lochleven Castle. She

had been joined by a considerable party of friends, who raised

an army of 6000 men, commanded by Argyll, to reinstate her

on the throne. This army was on its march from Hamilton to

Dumbarton Castle (considered then impregnable), when it en-

countered the Eegent Murray, who had concentrated his forces

on the ridge of Langside Hill. As both armies were arrayed in

heavy armour, when they met " each line of spears finally stuck

in the angles and joints of the mail of the opposite rank, and

the battle was a mere trial of superior weight and pressure"

(Burton). It lasted three quarters of an hour, after which the

Queen's men broke and fled. Three hundred of them are said

to have been killed and only one on the other side ! Mary, who
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had witnessed the battle from a hillock near Cathcart Castle, a
mile and a half to the east of Langside, fled to the Borders, and
took refuge in England. A memorial, composed of two granite
slabs weighing about two tons, was erected by Earl Cathcart, on
what is known as the Queen's Knowe, at Cathcart, to mark the
spot from which she watched. A public memorial was put up
in the village of Langside, at a cost of about £1000.

One of the pleasantest of the many Glasgow parks is that of
Cathkin Braes (49 acres) beyond Eutherglen (see p. 435). It was
presented to the public by James Dick, a boot manufacturer in
Glasgow. From the so-called Queen's View within this park
the most extensive and varied view of the Clyde valley may be
obtained. The city lies expanded like a map to the north-west,
having for a background the Campsie Hills, to the west of
which are Ben Lomond and the rugged mountains of Argyll-
shire.

Routes from Glasgow
All the pages above 378 referred to in the routes Mow are in the « West and South-

\\ est Scotland Guide," of which this forms apart.\

320)
T° Bothwe11, Hamilton

>
Lanark, and the Falls of Clyde (see

<

(2)
q£)°n

Greenock
>
Gourock, and intermediate places on the Clyde

fil 1° Helensburgh, Crai£endoran, and the Gareloch (see p. 414).
(4) To Holy Loch, Loch Goil, and Loch Long (see p. 343)

tal 1° ^°C
i
1S Striven and bidden and the Kyles of Bute (see p. 352).

343)
ArdnsnaiS> Inveraray, and other places on Loch Fyne (see

\ll 1° Islay
'
Jura

'
Colonsay, Oronsay, etc. (see p. 363).

(8 To the Mull of Kintyre, Campbeltown (see p. 364).
(9) To Arran (see p. 346).

(10) To Paisley, Kilwinning, Ayr, etc. (see p. 328).

/i i! 1° Girvan
'
Stranraer, and the Mull of Galloway (see p. 425).

;;« £ewton Stewart and the Wigtonshire district (see p. 460).
(13) Kirkcudbright, Castle Douglas, and the New Gallowav

listrict (see p. 454).
J

(U)J^Kilmaruock
'
Tnornhill

>
Dumfries, and intermediate places

see p. 444). *

(15) Moffat and district (see p. 438).
(16) To Loch Lomond and the Trossachs (see p. 367).
(17) To Loch Earn, Loch Tay, etc. (see p. 380).

)}«} Z?
Fort William and the Caledonian Canal (see p. 414).

(19) The district of Appin (see p. 423).
(20) Oban and district (see p. 383).
(21) Mull (see p. 406).
(22) To the Hebrides (see pp. viiie and viii/).
(23) To Loch Awe (see p. 388).
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GLASGOW TO BOTHWELL, HAMILTON, LANARK,
FALLS OF CLYDE, ETC.

See Maps, pp. 326, 360.

Routes from Glasgow— Caledonian Railway—Central Station (high-level); North
British Railway, Queen Street (low-level).

Days of Admission, Tuesday and Friday (10 to 4)„ For further details see below,
under Bothwell and Hamilton.

The simplest way of combining Bothwell and Hamilton is to take train, North
British or Caledonian, to Uddingston station. - Thence walk to Bothwell Castle
(1 m.), and thence another mile to Bothwell station (KB.), whence take train to
Hamilton (3 m.), returning to Glasgow from either station at Hamilton.

As far as Newton see main line p. 436.

At Newton, where the Hamilton branch leaves the main
line, are the huge works of the Steel Company of Scotland, the

first erected in Scotland for the manufacture of mild steel by
the Siemens-Martin process. About 1^- mile to the east, across

the river on the main line to Carstairs (p. 436), is the town

of Uddingston (Hotel : the Royal), where there are many villas

belonging to Glasgow merchants. About a mile from Uddingston

is Bothwell. Bothwell Castle (Earl of Home) stands in a

splendid position above the windings of the Clyde, and must at

one time have been charming, but the thick smoke which drifts

through the blackened atmosphere detracts greatly from the

charm of the place. The Castle gate is open (south entrance)

10 to 4 on Tuesdays, and there is a walk of about a mile up the

drive before the modern mansion is passed. The ruined castle

is built of that most picturesque of all materials in decay

—red sandstone—and many a flowering plant and creeping

shrub cover up its ruggedness. There are great round towers

with battlements at the corners, and in the centre a space of

smooth greensward encircled by the crumbling walls. Mighty

beeches throw their branches through the breach in the walls,

and the noble outlines of the pointed windows of the chapel

may be traced on the river side, also the remains of the hall

near the S.E. tower.

The tufted grass lines Bothwell's ancient hall.

The fox peeps cautious from the creviced wall,

Where once proud Murray, Clydesdale's ancient lord,

A mimic sovereign held the festive board."



HAMILTON 321

The castle was built in the 13th century and partly rebuilt in the two
succeeding ones ; the great donjon belongs to the earlier period. It was
captured by Edward I., who gave it to Aylmer de Valence, Earl of

Pembroke. In 1377, after a strenuous and destructive siege, it was retaken

by the Scots. It was held by the Douglases until 1445.

Across the river is another fragment of ruin, which is all

that remains of Blantyre priory, founded in the 13th century.

David Livingstone was born in the village of Blantyre, which is

two miles away in the midst of the coal and iron district.

Half a mile from the castle gates is the village of Bothwell.

The Church is worth seeing, for part of it is old, and though

lately restored, it has not lost its charm, for the work has

been well done. In front is a very ugly mosaic monument to

Joanna Baillie, who was born in the manse, her father being

the minister. The Duke of Rothesay, of whose terrible fate Scott

gives an account in the Fair Maid of Perth, was married in the

old church to a daughter of Archibald Douglas the Grim. Half

a mile beyond the village is the famous Bothwell Bridge where,

in 1679, the encounter between the royal troops under the

Duke of Monmouth, and the Covenanters took place, when 500
Covenanters were killed, and as many again taken prisoners.

The bridge is modernised, and a monument has been put up
in late years at the north end in memory of the Covenanters,

(see Old Mortality). The grounds stretching from the bridge

along the north-east bank of the river, were part of the estate

of Hamilton of Bothwellhaugh, who assassinated the Regent

Murray. It was a hawk's flight of land granted according to the

old custom to his ancestor for valour. Hamilton (twelve miles

south-east of Glasgow and two from Bothwell) is the capital

of the Middle Ward of Lanarkshire, and an ancient parliamentary

burgh, with 38,644 inhabitants. It formerly carried on a

considerable trade in weaving and tambouring, but now it

depends chiefly on the mineral wealth in the midst of which it

is situated. It used formerly to be noted for its flower and
fruit gardens. From the bridge in the principal street we see

a new building—a Masonic Lodge, and also the Carnegie Free

Library. From this point the chimneys of the Palace may be

seen over the house roofs to the left, and a little away on the

right is the tower of the ugly Parish Church, which, however,
was built by Adam. The centre of gravity of the town has
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been shifted many times in accordance with the reigning Duke's
ideas. The oldest village was called Netherton, and of this

there remains only a cross not far from the Mausoleum in the

Palace grounds {see p. 323). The next town sprang up around
and very near the Palace, and by turning down to the left just

before the bridge aforementioned the long winding main street

of this may be reached. It is now wretchedly poor, and the

strange feature may be noted that when the exclusiveness of

the reigning dukes resented the nearness of their poor neigh-

bours this town was thrust away. The fine building, once

the inn, where Boswell and Johnson stayed, is now enclosed

within the high encircling wall and is used as estate offices.

The old Town Hall or Tolbooth with its quaint tower still

remains, though disused, and the houses which formed the side

of the street near the Palace still stand, with windows blocked

so that they form a wall.

The Low Parks are open to the public free twice a week, on
Tuesday and Friday from 10 to 5. On other days orders of

admission can be obtained at the Estates Office, which is at the

Palace. Here also orders are issued to admit visitors to the

High Parks of Hamilton {see beloiv). Palace interior not shown.

The Palace itself is very close within the wall at the point noted, a

classical musenm-like building, of two dates. The north side and wings,

which were built on to it about 1830, have all the hideous massiveness

that characterises that period. The portico is of the Corinthian order,

after the style of the Temple of Jupiter Stator at Rome. The 12 pillars

are 60 ft. in height, and are formed of solid blocks of stone, quarried

in Dalserf ; each required 30 horses to draw it to its position. The
southern front is much simpler.

The interior was divested of all its treasures except those that were

entailed, by the late Duke
;

pictures, the Beckford library, the very

tapestry from the walls were sold ; even the marble staircase would
have gone had it not been found impossible to uproot it. On the east

side, where a green lawn with flower beds now is, used to stand the old

Collegiate Parish Church ; of this the Dean of Glasgow was rector ex

officio ; not a stone remains.

Looking from the south part we see the moulded iron parapet and
sunk road to Motherwell, built by the Duke to replace the ancient road,

which ran right past the front of the Palace. High on the hill at the end

of the vista are the buildings, stables, dog-kennels, etc., on the site of the

old Palace of Chatelherault. About 2 miles south-east of Hamilton,

within the western high park, are the ruins of Cadzow Castle (the original

baronial residence of the Hamilton family, and the subject of Scott's

spirited ballad), which occupy a site overhanging the river Avon. In the
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chase are the ancient oaks, the remains of the Caledonian Forest, where

browse some of the breed of Scottish wild cattle, of the same breed as

those still preserved at Chillingham.

Turning now northward we find the Mausoleum (key at keeper's cottage,

close by). The general design is that of the Emperor Hadrian's Tomb at

Rome. Under the floor are vaults, arranged according to the fashion of

a catacomb. The rustic basement contains effigies of Life, Death, and
Eternity, each personified by a human face. The chapel doors are

formed of bronze panels, copied from the famous G-hiberti gates at

Florence. The floor is a beautiful mosaic of rare and costly marbles,

granites, and porphyries.

The builder himself lies interred in a sarcophagus of green

syenite brought from Egypt, said to be 5000 years old, and for

long popularly supposed to be that of Pharaoh's daughter. It

stands on a pedestal of black marble. But the most interesting

point about the Mausoleum is the extraordinary vibration

which prolongs and carries on any note uttered in the building

with marvellous sweetness. Not far from the Mausoleum is a

clump of trees on an eminence called Moat Hill, which is neai

the site of the oldest village.

The modern town of Hamilton covers a considerable extent

of ground. It contains a town-hall, a suite of county buildings

and court-houses of an earlier date, and an extensive range of

military barracks. The Dutch gardens of Barncleuth, constructed

in terraces on the steep banks of the Avon, 1 mile S.E. of

the town, with their fantastically trimmed shrubbery and
general quaintness of furniture, are curious. The gardens

were laid out by John Hamilton, an ancestor of Lord Belhaven,

about 1583. Dorothy Wordsworth, whom nothing escaped,

speaks of it in her journal as " a little hanging garden of

Babylon."

Seven and a half miles south of Hamilton is Strathaven with the
ruins of the Castle of Avondale. About 7 miles north of Hamilton are

Coatbridge (pop. 43,287 and Airdrie (pop. 24,388 the very foci of the

iron trade. There are more blast furnaces and a greater output of iron

in proportion to the area in this region of Scotland than in any other
in the world. The manufacture of malleable iron, iron wire, and all the
heavier metallurgical industries are carried on extensively at Coatbridge.

If possible, it is best to cycle from Hamilton to Lanark, as

the two, or with the addition of Bothwell, the three places can
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easily be seen in a day ; but for those who merely want to see

the Falls of Clyde, the route from Glasgow is given below.

From Hamilton there is a good road (14 miles) all along the

valley of the Clyde, noted for its orchards. Between two and
three miles before reaching Lanark a sign-post on the side of

the road shows the way to the Stonebyres Fall, which stands by
itself on this side of the town, and for size and beauty comes
second of the three. For the others, and also for Tillietudlem,

etc., see p. 326. Before reaching Lanark by road there is a

stupendous hill to climb.

LANARK
Hotels: Clydesdale (C) ; Station; Black Bull. Pop. 5900. Eighteen-hole golf courss.

Route.—Train from Glasgow (Central Station) ; Edinburgh (Princes Street Station)

;

Coach from Lanark Station to Upper Falls, returning to Lanark for lunch

;

Coach from Clydesdale Hotel to Cartland Crags, Stonebyres Fall, and
Craignethan Castle ; Train from Tillietudlem Station.

Lanark is an ancient town ; it was in existence in the time

of the Romans, and its castle, now remembered only by the

names of Castlegate, etc., was a royal residence. In the town
steeple is a bell, still in use, with the date 1100 on it, also a

silver bell, said to have been the gift of William the Lion,

which is annually competed for at the September race meeting.

The ruins of the old church, which are a little way from the

town, are also undoubtedly ancient. As it is to-day, Lanark is a

very quiet little county town with some features peculiar to

itself. The main street is very wide and slopes uphill steeply.

In certain states of the atmosphere, the glow of the setting sun

catches it, and bathes it in a peculiar glory, which was remarked

by Dorothy Wordsworth when she visited the town in 1803,

and which is still notable. The town stands on a great height

and has to be approached by weary hills ; down in the valley

below are the large cotton mills of New Lanark. Lanark was

the scene of many of William Wallace's exploits, and a statue

of the patriot, as bad as they usually are, stands over the

entrance to the parish church.

In 1293 Wallace was engaged in a street scuffle, and subsequently had
to fly before the English Sheriff Heselrigg ; while he was away Heselrigg

seized and killed his wife, which brought Wallace down upon him in the

night, and was the cause of an uproar ending in his well-deserved death.
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At the high end of the town are the race-course and a small

loch where pleasure boats can be hired. The Lanark bowling-

green is celebrated.o

The Falls of Clyde

The Falls are difficult to see, and the effort to do so entails

a great deal of walking even at the best. There are three of

them, as already stated, viz. Stonebyres, Gorra Linn, and Bonnington.

Of these the first is three miles away on the Hamilton road, and

must be seen en route to Tillietudlem Station, while the other

two are in the neighbourhood of the town in private grounds,

and those who are not already provided with the tour tickets

of the railway must get tickets at the lodge (sixpence). The

road to the Falls leads south-west from the town, and goes down
a very steep hill. Those who are cycling will find it best to

make a complete detour through New Lanark, turning back on

their tracks by the river. Cycles are permitted as far as the

second lodge, where they may be left. If preferred, the Falls

may be viewed from the south-west side of the river, where the

same formalities are observed ; the way here is worse, and the

view of Corra not so good, though that of Bonnington is better.

On each side a raised path runs through woods for about half a

mile before we arrive at Corra Linn. The whole of the river

Clyde, of considerable width here, flings itself over a drop of

eighty-four feet into a deep basin at the turn of the channel,

and the effect is marvellously fine. The banks of the river

are clothed with birch and ash, oak and hazel, and the setting

adds much to the falling water. Wordsworth's ode to Corra

Linn beginning :

The dullest leaf in this thick wood, quakes—conscious of thy power,

is well known.

Bonnington Linn is about a mile farther on. Near Corra Linn
stands a fragment of Gorehouse Gastle, on a fine cliff with perpen-

dicular sides, and the way to it lies by pleasant pathways beneath

shady trees. Part of the Linn may be crossed by a bridge

resting on a small island. The river here only drops thirty

feet, but sweeps round in a great circle, and then flows along in

a deep gorge to Corra. Bonnington House, in the grounds of
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which the Falls are situated, was built by Sir John Ross, the

naval explorer.

After leaving the Falls, those who are going by the railway

tour rejoin the coach at the lodge, and go back to Lanark for

lunch, leaving later from the Clydesdale hotel. In any case,

even for those who are independent, there is the steep hill to

Lanark to be re-climbed, for there is no way through to the

bridge by the Clyde banks. On leaving the town northward
on the return journey two roads bifurcate, and that on the right

goes to Cartland Bridge, over the Mouse Water, near to the range

known as Cartland Crags, where the rocks rise to nearly 400
feet. The bridge is high, and a lower one, supposed to be of

Roman origin, crosses the stream lower down. One of the caves

in the crags is said to have sheltered Wallace, and is called by
his name. On the edge of the cliffs is a bit of ruin, known as

Castle Dykes, or the Castle of Quaw. After crossing the stream

by the high bridge the coach turns left, and recrosses again by
the old one, coming out near the bridge on the main road

over the Clyde, which may also be reached direct by the other

bifurcating road going left, before mentioned. Passing through

the little hamlet of Kirkfieldbank, which seems mainly tenanted

by children, tourist-spoilt, and on pennies intent, the road follows

the river to Stonebyres Fall (threepence). This Fall, for some

reason or other, is not thought so much of as the two already

noted, but it is much more easily reached, and makes a perfect

picture, especially if seen in autumn, when russet and yellow

trees form a background for its grey rocks, which rise from the

water like a giant stairway. After Stonebyres the coach takes

people on to the ruined Craignethan Castle, known, without the

least foundation, as the Tillietudlem of Old Mortality. The

Castle also claims to have sheltered Queen Mary for some

eleven days between her flight from Loch Leven and her defeat

at Langside, a point that seems very doubtful. There is a

good deal of the building left, and as usual the oldest part is

the keep, round which there is handsome corbel work. The

place is undoubtedly worth seeing. From here to the station

is not a mile, and the whole round makes a very delightful

and much-patronised excursion.
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Lanark to Douglas and Ayr. (46 m.)

This cross-country line is full of interest, and the road which runs near

it to Cumnock, and thence directly to Ayr, is of good surface, and
though there are many hills, there is nothing so severe that an average

cyclist need complain.

The railway crosses the river above the Falls, and runs through a green

open valley with wide horizons and gently swelling fields, now so peace-

ful, and yet associated in the names of its owners with nearly all the

turmoil and bloodshed of Scottish history. The Earl of Home inherited

the land through his grandmother, sister and co-heir of the last Lord
Douglas, after a cause c&ebre known as the Douglas case. Douglas
Castle was built by the Duke who died in 1761, but it is only one wing
of his great design. The old Castle, the Castle Dangerous of Scott's

romance, is represented by a tower standing not far from the present

magnificent Castle. The grounds are open to all comers when the

family are not at home, but the Castle cannot be seen from the road.

The village has two stations, the old one being about 4 miles from
the village, and the new about 2. It is a quaint and pleasant little

place with a very narrow odd main street. There is a neat and pleasant

little hotel, where everything is clean and well kept. The old Kirk of

St. Bride's is the chief object to see (key at cottage near). The
hexagonal steeple, date 1618, with a bit of the ruined choir, dates from
12th century, and the rest of the small building has been added
later. It forms the vault for the Douglas family, and contains some
interesting tombs. The principal monuments are those of the Good
Sir James, d. 1330, a fine piece of 14th-century work. His heart

is enshrined in a silver case, also shown. There are to be noted in addi-

tion the monuments of the fifth earl ; and of the seventh, James le Gros,

d. 1443 ; the oldest is that to Marjory, wife of Hugh Douglas the Younger,
d. 1259 ; and in the centre is the tomb of the Countess of Home, d.

1877, with an alabaster effigy by Sir Edgar Boehm, a beautiful piece of

work. In 1904 a handsome stone altar was placed in the chapel and
consecrated. The glass in the windows is of the 14th century, brought
here from elsewhere. The chapel was restored in 1880. Near the
chapel is a small public park.

After Douglas the valley closes in and Cairntable (1942 ft.) is seen to

the south ; then the line passes two artificial lochs from which flow the
waters of the river Ayr. The whole of the district has its records of

Covenanting times. With Muirkirk, 11 miles from Douglas, we come
once more into a coal and iron district.

Airds Moss, to the west, was the scene of a fight in 1680 between 63
Covenanters, who had renounced allegiance to the king, and 112 dragoons.
The Covenanters were overpowered after a desperate resistance. A monu-
ment marks the place. 9 miles from Muirkirk is Cumnock (see p. 445),
and from thence to Ayr calls for no remark.
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GLASGOW TO AYR

See maps, pp. 350, 3 GO.

Th8 route is by the Glasgow and South-Western Railway.

The first place of importance after leaving Glasgow is Paisley
;

where there is a joint station owned by the Caledonian in

connection with the G. and S.W.

Paisley may also be reached by electric car from Glasgow.

Paisley

Hotels: Globe, George (temp.) ; two eighteen-hole golf courses in the
neighbourhood. Pop. 84,477.

Paisley is a manufacturing town, a miniature Glasgow, and

offers few attractions to outsiders beyond the beautiful old abbey.

It stands on the banks of the White Cart, and was made into

a royal burgh in 1488. The town is principally known for its

thread-manufactories and is one of the largest thread-producing

towns in the world. The famous Paisley shawls had their

origin here, but they were superseded by the muslin and linen

industries, and they in their turn by thread. The great liberality

of the Coats and Clark families to the town where their factories

are situated, shows itself in many fine public buildings, which

will be treated in their turn. Any one coming out of the main

station finds himself in an open space between the post-office and

prison. If he walks straight forward he will presently come to

the Town Hall, behind which is the Abbey, standing low, and

not easily seen. The tram terminus from Glasgow is at the

Town Hall.

THE ABBEY

(Admission 3d.)

The Abbey was founded as a priory in 1163 by Walter Fitzalan, first

High Steward of Scotland, and the ancestor of the Stuart line. It was

endowed for the souls of King Henry of England, King David, and King

Malcolm, and dedicated to the Virgin, St. James, St. Milburga of Wenlock
(whence its first monks came), and St. Mirrin or Mirinus, the patron saint

of Paisley. In 1248 the priory became an abbey. It was partly burnt by

the English during the Scottish wars with England, but rebuilt after

Bannockburn.
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At the first glance the exterior is somewhat disappointing ; the west end

is right out of the perpendicular ; the tower, which fell some time before

the Reformation, has been restored, but rises no higher than the ridgepole

of the roof, though it is intended to heighten it eventually. The church

has been well and carefully restored inside. The nave is in the transitional

style of Decorated architecture, and contains six bays divided by massive

pillars with well-moulded capitals. The transepts have been thoroughly

restored, and the choir partly ; in the untouched part the original walls

stand to the height of ten feet, and the sedilia and piscina remain. A
monument of Sicilian marble erected in 1888 marks the place before the

High Altar where were buried the founder, his wife Marjory, and the

wives of Robert II. and Robert III. The clerestory and triforium are

of a very curious design and the window of the north transept retains its

ancient tracery.

The chief gem of the Abbey is St. Mirrin's Chapel, which is on the

south side. It was formerly called the " sounding aisle " from the strong

echo. The views between the chapel and the nave should be noted, as

they include some beautiful architectural compositions. In the chapel is

a tomb, with a life-size recumbent woman's figure, supposed to represent

Marjory, the daughter of Robert Bruce, and wife of the founder. She
died in childbirth from the effects of an injury caused by a fall from her

horse. There is also a memorial tablet to the last Abbot-Archbishop,

John Hamilton, and a tablet put up by the first Lord Paisley in memory
of his children. A series of bas-reliefs on the east wall of the chapel, re-

presenting scenes in the life of St. Mirrin, should be particularly noticed
;

they are very ancient, and are believed to have been part of the decoration

of a Celtic cell which stood here before the building of the Abbey.

Turning now to the Town Hall, we notice at the north-east

angle a statue of George Clark, who left a bequest of £20,000
with which the building was begun ; a grand organ was after-

wards presented by Messrs. Clark, who also completed the build-

ing at their own cost. So much does Paisley owe to her liberal

citizens. The two firms of Coats and Clark by a recent combine
have united the thread industry in Paisley. There are other

manufactories in the town, but all come far behind the thread.

Among these we may mention fancy and figure weaving, the

manufacture of soap, starch, machinery, and some shipbuilding.

A public park called the Fountain Gardens, 7J acres in extent,

was presented to the town by Thomas Coats.

On leaving the Town Hall, if we turn up the narrow main
street, down which trams run every few minutes, a five minutes'

walk brings us to a group of public buildings which would
attract attention anywhere. Prominent among them, standing

high, is the fine red sandstone Memorial Church built in memory
of Thomas Coats by his family. The design is cruciform and
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the tower is surmounted by a crown. The whole gives the
impression of great care and completeness, and the interior fittings

are worthy of the building. Quite near it is the Drill Hall,
and not far off are the Free Library and Museum in one building,
erected at the expense of the late Sir Peter Coats, and the
Observatory, a gift to the town by the late Thomas Coats, in
whose memory the church was built.

No. 90 in the High Street is the house in which Christopher
North was born.

Another public park called the Brodie is named after its

owner.

There are trams running all the way between Paisley and
Glasgow, also between Paisley and Eenfrew, and Paisley and
Johnstone. Renfrew, though it gives its name to the county,
is an uninteresting place ; the chief object in it is a tall Town
Hall steeple.

About 2j miles south-east of Paisley are the ruins of

GrooJcston Castle, where Queen Mary's betrothal to Darnley is

said to have been formally carried out.

About 3 miles to the south of the town are the Braes of
Gleniffer, a favourite holiday resort, which appear frequently in

the work of the poet Tannahill, who was a native of Paisley.

The Braes rise to upwards of 700 feet at Duchal Law, command-
ing fine views ; a road runs right across them, coming near to

the line again at Beith.

Resuming the journey by rail, we pass Elderslie (both eighteen-

hole and nine-hole golf courses), the birthplace of William Wallace,
and then see the G. and S.W. line to Greenock {see p. 356) ;

afterwards we pass through the manufacturing town of Johnstone

(eighteen-hole golf course). At Kilbarchan, 2 miles west, there is

in the town steeple a statue of Habbie Simpson in a niche
;

Habbie was the piper of Kilbarchan and was of great note in

his day at the end of the 17th century. Lochwinnoch (golf

course) stands more than a mile away from its station, near the

end of Castle Semple Loch or Lochwinnoch, a favourite curling

and skating resort. This loch is the source of the Black Cart

River. During the last few years an association has been

formed for preserving the fish in it : pike have been caught, and

young trout introduced, so that the loch bids fair to become one

of the best angling places within easy reach of Glasgow.
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Whatever charms the place may once have had, they have been

destroyed by the smoke which belches forth from the tall

chimneys. At the end of the loch is the mansion of Gastle

Semple with a large park. Here are the remains of a collegiate

church, with a three-sided apsidal termination, founded by the

first Lord Sempill in 1504. Not far from Lochwinnoch is a

ruined tower called Barr House. At Beith is a nine-hole golf

course on the Bigholm Hills. Kilbirnie stands very much in

the same position to its loch that Lochwinnoch does to Castle

Semple, but a branch rail goes right up to it. Kilbirnie Gastle

is a modern building, near an old ruin of the same name.

Dairy, which is next reached, is a large manufacturing place

drowned in the smoke of the Blair ironworks.

From Dairy Junction the main line goes south-east to

Kilmarnock (see p. 444).

The Stranraer line, however, continues to Kilwinning (hotels,

small), an old town with something more interesting in its

aspect than the purely manufacturing places through which we
have so far passed. The town takes its name from St. Winning,

a bishop or abbot of the 7th or 8th century, whose name is

also retained in Caerwinning Hill. There is in the centre of

the town the fragment of an abbey, founded in 1140 by Hugh
de Morville, Constable of Scotland, for monks of the Benedictine

order. Freemasonry is said to have been first introduced into

Scotland at Kilwinning, and the Kilwinning Lodge claims to be

the parent of all the Scottish Lodges.

A mile from the town is Eglinton Gastle (Earl of Eglinton

and Winton). It is widely known as the place where the

famous Eglinton tournament of 1839 was held, when Louis
Napoleon, later, French Emperor, was present. The castle

itself was built in 1800. The grounds are freely open to all

comers on Saturdays throughout the year. Near Kilwinning
the Caledonian Company's line to Ardrossan crosses the G. and
S.W. Kilwinning is also the junction for the Ardrossan line of

G. and S.W. (see below).

Branch Line to Ardrossan, West Kilbride, etc.

From Kilwinning there is a branch line to Ardrossan, Stevenston,
Saltcoats, West Kilbride, Fairlie, and Largs. At Stevenston are the
Merry and Cunninghame ironworks, and among the sand-dunes on the
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coast, a mile south, is the factory of Nobel's Explosives Company, where
dynamite and other powerful explosives used in engineering are made.
Stevenston is the station for the fine golf course of Ardeer, eighteen holes.

Saltcoats (Hotel: Crown (C)) is an old-fashioned town with narrow
streets, and a pier. Ardrossan (Hotel : Eglinton Arms) golf course,

eighteen holes, five minutes' walk from South Beach station. The harbour,

built (1806-1819), has been greatly enlarged since. From Ardrossan
there are numerous steamer trips to Arran (14 miles), and a variety of

summer circular tours to the Isle of Man, Liverpool, Dublin, and Belfast.

There are splendid views of the Mountains of Arran before we reach West
Kilbride (Sea Mill Hydropathic ; eighteen-hole golf course) ; Law Castle

is on the right of the station. 4 miles north we reach the seaside village

of Fairlie—Kelbume Arms, famous for its yacht-building, and with an
old watch tower. Fairlie Glen is a pleasant picnicking resort, and the

ruins of the castle, built about 1520, add a touch of historical interest.

From Fairlie the turbine steamers for Campbeltown may be boarded (see

p. 365). Proceeding up the coast, we pass, on the right, Kelbume Castle

(seat of Earl of Glasgow) and reach Largs.

Largs (Hotels: Royal (C) ; White Hart (C) ; two golf courses) is one

of the yachting centres of the Clyde. It has been called the '

' Town of

Spires." The battle of Largs in 1263 between Haco of Norway and
Alexander III. of Scotland, which so altered the whole course of Scottish

history, was fought partly on the ground on which the town now stands.

Haco was defeated and fled to his ships to die in Orkney (see Scotland,

North, p. 262).

There is no doubt that a railway connection between Largs and
Wemyss Bay is greatly needed ; the difficulty lies in the fact that the

Wemyss Bay terminus is Caledonian, and the line by which we have come
G. and S.W., but motor omnibuses connect the two. The road between

the two passes the Skelmorlie golf course of nine holes.

Close to the coast by Largs and Fairlie lie the Cumbrae Islands,

with their curious reared-up stratified rocks. The chief town of Great

Cumbrae Island is Millport (Hotels: Cumbrae ; Royal George ; Kelburne),

a summer resort stretching for about 2 miles along a bay. There are a

good pier and harbour, also two eighteen-hole golf courses, justly celebrated,

where professional matches are played. The second (6000 yards) was

laid out by James Braid. The College and Collegiate Church, opened in

1851, are graceful Gothic buildings occupying a fine site on a rising

ground behind the town. In 1876 the Collegiate Church was consecrated

as the Cathedral of the Isles, and there is daily service. Noteworthy

also are the Marine Biological Station and the Lady Margaret

Hospital (for infectious diseases), the latter a red sandstone building

overlooking the bay. With a southern exposure, Millport has a warm
but bracing atmosphere, and a drier climate than the surrounding

districts of Ayrshire and Argyll. The island is 4 miles long by 3 broad.

There are good roads round and across it, and during summer a service

of coaches. The north end is low, but in the east and west towards Mill-

port the coast shows bold cliffs and a rocky shore. There are numerous

basaltic dykes running through the island, one of which, on the east
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shore, known as the Lion Rock, assumes a grotesque representation of a

lion entering a cave.

The J.ittlc Cuinhrae lies 1J mile to the south of Millport. On its

southern shore are a number of caves wrought in the stratitied rocks by
the action of the sea, the largest of which is called the King's Cave. On
a small island, off the eastern shore, are the ruins of an old embattled

square tower, said to have been a safety retreat of the Eglinton family.

The ruins of the chapel and tomb of St. Vey are near the top of the

small hill in the island, the property of the Earl of Eglinton.

The mid-day and evening steamers cross from Millport to the sweet

little bay and hamlet of Kilchattan, in the south of Bute (p. 358).

Resuming the line to Ayr where we left it at Kilwinning,

we soon reach Irvine, with several small hotels, including

King's Arms (C). This is an old royal burgh with a population

of 10,180, standing near the mouth of the river Irvine. The
main street is wide, and mostly cobble paved, and the whole

town has an air of sleepiness in spite of its large shipping con-

nection. There is a golf course of eighteen holes northward
;

the club-house is beside Bogside station on G. and S.W.

Railway. In a back street is an old building called the

Castle, where a bit of cable moulding on the windows, and a

doorway with dog-tooth ornament, speak of departed days of

grandeur. John Gait, author of Annals of the Parish, was born

here in 1779, and also James Montgomery the poet in 1772.

It was at Irvine that Burns for nearly a year struggled to earn

a living as a flax-dresser.

After leaving Irvine the ruins of the old castle of Dundonald

may be seen about 2 miles to the east. King Robert II. died

here in 1390. Near it are the remains of an old church called

Our Lady's Kirk of Kyle to which King James IV. made
offerings. Between Irvine and Troon the line skirts the

eighteen-hole golf course of Gailes. The famous golfing resort,

Troon, is next reached. (Hotels, see below).

It is a curious place and very widely extended. The huge crescent

beach stretches for 2 miles, and ends in the lighthouse. The streets are

laid out regularly in rowrs of neat red houses. The harbour was made by
the Duke of Portland at a cost of more than £50,000, and from it large

quantities of coal are embarked. Fullarton House, a seat of the Duke's,

stands about 3 miles south-eastward.

There are three hotels : the huge Marine, latest style, terms from
10s. 6d. per day, near the golf links, also the South Beach and the Mar
Lodge, smaller and modern and comfortable. The Troon and Prestwick
links run on continuously, and are certainly wonderful, there being no less
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than seven courses of eighteen holes between the two places, and of these the

Municipal Links are the longest in Britain. From the hotel there is a fine

view of the hills of Arran, but the place itself is wind-swept and un-

sheltered, and the country somewhat uninteresting, and not wholly free

from chimneys. The line goes southward to Prestwick, the rival golfing

station, where, strange to say, in spite of good links, there is no first-

class hotel. The reason doubtless is that Ayr is now brought so near by
electric trams that golfers prefer to stay there and come to and fro.

Prestwick, it must be noted, is a very quiet little place without any

attraction save its links.

Only 3 miles farther on is Ayr.

AYR AND THE LAND OF BURNS
Hotels : Station, very large, belonging to railway company, with modern luxuries,

on same footing as St. Enoch's in Glasgow and Station at Dumfries ; King's
Arms, Dalblair, etc. Population, 32,985. Burgh golf course, eighteen holes,
on old race-course.

The electric cars run from Prestwick Cross right through the town to Alloway,
so that it is possible to see Burns's Cottage and Monument very easily.

Ayr is an attractive place, with a curious mingling of

quaintness and modernity. The large number of visitors has

enabled it to afford such things as a really first-class hotel and
electric trams, and a becoming spirit of reverence for its past

causes it to retain with care any ancient relics. The long

winding main street runs to a great distance in the Prestwick

direction, and is as a rule very narrow.

On arriving at Ayr station, and passing beneath the fine

hotel, we see first, in the open space in front, the Burns 9

s Statue

and a memorial to the Royal Scots Fusiliers who fell in South

Africa. Turning right into the High Street we catch sight of

the Wallace Tower, built in 1832—the original Wallace Tower
in which the patriot was said to have been kept a prisoner

was a rude old building at the head of Millvennel, which was

destroyed and replaced by this. On the same side as the

tower a narrow lane, Kirkport, runs down to the river, and

by following it we shall come to the old church, built in 1655
on the site of the Greyfriars' Monastery, and probably with the

same old stones. Continuing down the High Street, we see

another statue of Wallace, set in the house which stands on the

site of the old tower already mentioned. Then we come to

" The Twa Brigs," old and new.
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The old one was built in the reign of Alexander III. (1249-1285) by

two maiden ladies, whose effigies are still to be seen in the parapet.

This bridge was condemned as unsafe, but such an outcry was aroused

about its demolition, that £10,000 was raised and it was thoroughly

restored instead. The new bridge is not that referred to by Burns,

which indeed fell before it had been in existence a hundred years, and

was replaced by the present wide one in 1877. Even that proved

insecure shortly afterwards, so that the prophecy which Burns put in

the mouth of the " Auld Brig " came literally true

—

Conceited gowk ! puff'd up wi' windy pride !

This monie a year I've stood the flood an' tide

;

And tho' wi' crazy eild I'm sair forfairn,

I'll be a Brig when ye're a shapeless cairn !

A third bridge, the Victoria, at the south-east end of the town, beyond

the railway bridge, was opened in 1898. Near the east or Ayr side of

the new bridge is the King's Arms hotel, and the modern town buildings

with a tall spire.

Crossing the bridge we are in the suburb of Newton, where

is the handsome free library.

Returning once more by the new bridge, we can turn down
to the harbour, which in early times was a very flourishing

port. It was here that Edward Bruce embarked for the purpose

of invading Ireland. Recently a large dock has been built,

and considerable improvements made on the south of the

harbour, including a fine esplanade. Shipbuilding is carried

on to a large extent. The views from the bay include the

hills of Bute, Arran, and Ailsa Craig.

The sea-coast, which near the town is comparatively flat and
sandy, rises on the south into bold rocky headlands, among
which are " The Heads of Ayr," well known to seamen. About
midway between these and the harbour are the ruins of

Greenan Castle,

The fragments of a fort between the town and the sea are

the work of Oliver Cromwell, who built it in 1652. He had
found the site where stood the old church of St, John a suit-

able situation, so he took it and paid the citizens £500 towards

the erection of another church already noticed. The Castle of

Ayr, built by William the Lion, who constituted Ayr a royal

burgh, is supposed to have stood at the north-eastern angle of

the fort, close upon the harbour.

Along the flat shores to the south of the town is the race-

course, which, at the time of the Western meeting at the end
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of September, brings such a concourse of undesirable people tc

the town that all quiet travellers would do well to avoid it.

Burns's Cottage, Monument, and Alloway Kirk

By means of the electric cars, or on foot or bicycle, along a

pleasant tree-shaded road, some of the more interesting scenes

connected with the poet Burns may be visited. The town is

no sooner left than various localities are reached mentioned in

"Tarn o' Shanter." 2 miles south of the station and 150
yards from Slaphouse Bridge is

The ford,

Whare in the snaw the chapman smoor'd.

About 100 yards from the "ford," and about 20 from the

road, in the plot of ground behind the house occupied by the

Rozelle gamekeeper, is the

Meikle stane,

Whare drunken Ghairlie brak's neck-hane.

Passing on the left the mansion of Rozelle, at a distance of

about 2 miles from Ayr, we reach the cottage where Burns was
born, 25th January 1759. The original cottage is a clay

biggin, consisting of two apartments, the kitchen and the spence

or sitting-room. The cottage was built on part of 7 acres of

ground, of which Burns's father took a perpetual lease from

Dr. Campbell, physician in Ayr, with the view of commencing
business as nurseryman and gardener. Having built this house

with his own hands, he married, in December 1757, Agnes

Brown, the mother of the poet ; and after becoming gardener

and overseer to Mr. Ferguson of Doonholm (now James

Kennedy), he abandoned his design of forming a nursery.

He continued to reside in the cottage till Whitsunday 1766.

On removing to Lochlea he sold his leasehold to the Corpora-

tion of Shoemakers in Ayr.

The contrast between the bare simplicity of the cottage

itself, with its rough -cast walls and thatched roof, and the

highly polished -up surroundings is almost ludicrous. One
goes through a turnstile and pays twopence, whereupon one

is admitted to an expanse of beautifully-kept green lawn with

•flowers round it, and one can sit under the verandah of a
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building like a club golf-house, or go inside to see the relics

there collected. By far the most interesting items in this

collection are the original MS. of Burns's poems ; a perfect

copy of the first, or Kilmarnock, edition of the same (bought

for <£1000) ; and Burns's family Bible, with entries in the

poet's handwriting (bought for .£1700). In the cottage itself

there are some bits of furniture connected with the poet, and

in the kitchen the old dresser, recess-bed, etc., which make it

look as he must have seen it.

On an eminence about LJ miles to the south-east of the

cottage stands the farm of Mount Oliphant, to which Burns's

father removed on leaving the cottage, and where the family

lived for eleven years.

Proceeding towards Burns's Monument, we perceive in a

field a single tree, enclosed with a paling, the last remnant of

a group which covered

The cairn

Whare hunters fand the murder'd bairn.

The position of the " cairn," and also of the " ford," at a

distance from the highway, is accounted for by the old road

from Ayr, by which the poet supposed his hero to have

approached Alloway Kirk, having been to the west of the

present line. Beyond this stands

Alloway's auld haunted Kirk,

roofless, but with walls pretty well preserved, and still retaining

its bell at the east end. The woodwork has all been taken

away to form snuff-boxes and other memorials. In the area of

the kirk the late Lord Alloway, one of the Judges of the

Court of Session, was interred ; and near the gate of the

churchyard is the grave of Burns's father, marked by a plain

tombstone, a renewal of the original, which was carried away
in fragments. Near the ruined kirk, between 200 and 300
yards off the public road, is Mungo's Well,

Whare Mungo's mither hang'd hersel'.

It is reached by a footpath, and the spot, beyond its interest, is

to the spectator one of the loveliest on the banks of Doom

Before him Doon pours all his floods

;

The doubling storm loars thro' the woods.
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The river Doon, to which the writings of Burns gave
celebrity, rises in a loch of the same name, about 8 miles in

length, situated in the mineral district of Dalrnellington {see

p. 458). The river has a course of 18 miles, throughout which
it amply sustains its right to the title of " Bonny Doon."

The church of Alioway stands on the opposite side of the

road from Mungo's Well, and near by are the mansions of

Cambusdoon (Mrs. Baird), Doonholm (James Kennedy), and
Doon side (W. H. Dunlop). Good hotel at Alioway.

Burns's Monument, which stands close by on a conspicuous

position, is a building in the usual style of the first few
decades of the 19th century, when taste was at its lowest ebb.

It matches the Burns's monument in Edinburgh, and the cost

was upwards of £3300. In a circular apartment on the

ground floor there are exhibited several appropriate articles

—

various editions of the poet's works, a snuff-box made from the

woodwork of Alloway Kirk, a copy of the original portrait of

Burns by Nasmyth, and the Bible given by Burns to his

Highland Mary. In a small grotto at the south side of the

enclosed ground are two statues of Tarn o' Shanter and Souter

Johnnie, by Mr. Thorn of Ayr.

The electric cars run as far as the new bridge, where stands

the Burns Arms Inn (and tea gardens), through which admission

to the wooded banks of the river can be obtained (2d.). The
old and new bridges are somewhat reminiscent of those near

Aberdeen.

Burns's subsequent career takes us to a more distant part of the county,

and to the north-east of the town of Ayr. Burns's father, on the death of

his landlord, Provost Ferguson, removed from Mount Oliphant, in 1777,

to Lochlea, in the parish of, and 3 miles from the village of, Tarbolton

(inn), that can be reached by rail (7 miles) from Ayr, by the line to

Mauchline. While residing in this farm the poet established a Bachelors'

Club in Tarbolton, in the latter part of the year 1780 ; and here, in 1783,

he was initiated into the mysteries of freemasonry. About 200 yards

north of the village on the road leading to Galston, lies the scene of

"Death and Dr. Hornbook." "Willie's Mill," alluded to in the poem,
was the Mill of Tarbolton, situated on the Faile, about 200 yards east of

the village, and was called by the name used in the poem in consequence

of its being then occupied by William Muir, a friend of the Burns family.

About half a mile from Tarbolton stands the mansion-house of Coilsfield,

designated by Burns "The Castle o' Montgomery,'* from its being in his

time the residence of Colonel Hugh Montgomery, afterwards Earl of

Eglinton. Here Mary Campbell, Burns's "Highland Mary," lived in
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the humble capacity of dairymaid. And in this neighbourhood, near the

junction of the river Faile with the Ayr, lies the scene of the parting

which the poet has described in such exquisite terms.

According to unvarying tradition, Coilsfield derived its designation

from " Auld King Coil," who is said to have been overthrown and slain

in this neighbourhood in a battle with Fergus, King of Scots. Burns

alludes to this tradition in his poem of "The Vision" :

—

There where a sceptred Pictish shade
Stalk'd round his ashes lowly laid,

I mark'd a martial race, portray'd
In colours strong

;

Bold, soldier-featured, undismay'd
They strode along.

The " martial race " here referred to are the Montgomeries. Coilsfield

has now the more poetic name of " Montgornerie."

On the death of Burns' s father, his widow and family removed to Moss-

giel, a farm about a mile north of the clean and neat village of Mauchline
{Hotels: Loudon Arms ; Springfield (C and temp.)), which the poet and his

brother Gilbert had taken some months before. Here Burns lived from his

25th to his 28th year, the period during which he wrote his principal poems.

The spence of this farmhouse is the scene described in the opening of " The
Vision," and in the "stable-loft," where he slept, many of his most
admired poems were written. The village is prettily situated on the face

of a slope, about a mile from the river Ayr, and contains about 1767
inhabitants. It is famed for its manufacture of snuff-boxes, etc. , and its

horse fairs ; and it was the scene of the " Holy Fair," and of the "Jolly
Beggars," and here dwelt John Dove, Nanse Tinnock, "Daddy Auld,"
and other characters who figure conspicuously in the poet's writings. The
churchyard was the scene of the " Holy Fair," but the present church is a

recent substitute for the old barn-like edifice which existed in Burns's

time. Near the church is the "Whitefoord Arms Inn," where Burns
wrote on a pane of glass the amusing epitaph on the Landlord John Dove.

Nearly opposite the churchyard gate is the house of '
' Auld Nanse Tin-

nock," bearing over the door the date 1744. " Poosie Nansie's," the scene

of the "Jolly Beggars," is still a popular little inn. Close behind the

churchyard is the house in which Mr. Gavin Hamilton, the early friend of

Burns, lived, and here is shown the room in which Burns composed the
satirical poem entitled " The Calf." This room is further remarkable as

the one in which the poet was married.

The scenes of some of Burns's most admired lyrics are to be found on
the banks of the river Ayr, at a short distance from Mauchline. The
"Braes of Ballochmyle," the scene of his exquisite song "The Lass o'

Ballochmyle," are situated a mile from the village, extending along the
north bank of the Ayr, between Catrine and Howford Bridge. They form
part of the pleasure-grounds connected with Ballochmyle House (Sir Claud
Alexander, Bart. ), which was at one time the property of the Whitefoords,
an old and once powerful Ayrshire family. Colonel Allan Whitefoord,
one of the members of this family, was the original of the character of

Colonel Talbot, described in the novel of Waverley. Another of them,
Caleb Whitefoord, " the best-natured man with the worst-natured muse,"
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has been immortalised "by Goldsmith in a postscript to his witty poem
entitled "Retaliation." Sir John Whitefoord, the representative of the

family in the time of Burns, having been forced to part with his estate in

consequence of reduced circumstances, Burns wrote some plaintive verses

on the occasion, referring to the grief of Maria Whitefoord, afterwards Mrs.

Cranstoun, on leaving the family inheritance :

—

Through faded groves Maria sang,
Hersel' in beauty's bloom the while ;

And aye the wild-wood echoes rang,
Fareweel the braes of Ballochmyle.

Ballochmyle was purchased by Claud Alexander, and shortly after he

had taken possession of the mansion, his sister Miss Wilhelmina Alexander,

a famed beauty, walking out along the braes one evening in July 1786,

encountered Burns, musing as he leaned against one of the trees. The
result was that the poet, during his homeward walk, composed the well-

known song above alluded to. The spot where the meeting took place is

now distinguished by a rustic grotto or moss-house, ornamented with

appropriate devices, in the back of which there is devised on a tablet a

facsimile of two of the verses of the poem, as it appeared in the holograph

of the author.

Near Ballochmyle is the manufacturing village of Catrine, famous for

its big wheel, second only in size to that of Laxey, in the Isle of Man.

Close by was the seat of Dr. Stewart, father of Professor Dugald Stewart.

To them Burns alludes in the following stanza in " The Vision " :

—

With deep-struck reverential awe
The learned sire and son I saw

;

To nature's God and nature's law
They gave their lore

;

This all its source and end to draw,
That to adore.

Barskimming House (Sir W. F. Miller of Glenlee, Bart.), 2 miles from

Mauchline, is romantically situated on the banks of the Ayr, whose scenery

here is very beautiful. Barskimming and its then proprietor, Lord Presi-

dent Miller, are thus alluded to in the above poem :
—

Through many a wild romantic grove,

Near many a hermit-fancied cove,

Fit haunts for friendship or for love,

In musing mood,
An aged judge, I saw him rove,

Dispensing good.

A short distance farther up the river, near the point where the Lugar

joins, is the spot where Burns composed the poem entitled "Man was

made to mourn."
Mauchline (p. 445) has an inland golf course of nine holes on Temple-

bogwood Farm, about 12 minutes' walk from the station.

8 miles S.E. of Mauchline, on the main line (past Auchinleck village

inn, and House—built by the father of James Boswell, and visited by Dr.

Johnson), is the pleasant, sheltered town of Cumnock (pop. 3088—Dumfries
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Arms) on the Lugar Water, near which are some valuable minerals. At
Cumnock is buried the Prophet Peden (see p. 445). Here the Caledonian

Railway's line from Edinburgh to Ayr (vid Carstairs and Lanark—p. 436)
crosses the South-Western line at right angles. On the former, 10 miles

north-east from Cumnock, is Muirkirk (inn), with large ironworks. On
the rather bleak hills around there is good grouse and other shooting.

Ayr to Dalmellington, etc. (see p. 457 reverse way).

Ayr to Stranraer (main line continued, see p. 425).

GLASGOW TO ABERFOYLE

See map, p. 374.

From Glasgow trains run by Gowlairs and Lennoxtown, before

which there is nothing of any interest to remark upon. From
Lennoxtown, or the next station, Campsie Glen, Campsie Glen

itself may be ascended. This beautiful glen is a favourite place

of summer resort, and leads up into the heights of the Campsie

Fells. The next station on the line is Strathblane, lying between

the Campsie and Kilpatrick hills. At this point the most direct

road between Glasgow and Aberfoyle joins the line, and with it

proceeds up the valley. Just before Gartness station we cross

the Endrick Water, and are joined by the line from Balloch, by

which an alternate route from Glasgow may be made.

To the west lies Buchanan Gastle (Duke of Montrose) ; con-

tinuing north-eastward, in a narrow pass between the hills,

often made use of in the old reiving days, we come to the

junction at Bucklyvie, whence the main line goes on to Stirling,

and the branch turns up northward to the terminus at Aberfoyle.

ABERFOYLE

Hotels : Bailie Nicol Jarvie ; Aberfoyle Temperance * (C). Nine-hole golf course.

At the former hotel terms are by tariff only in the season. The smaller hotel,

MacKellar's Temperance (terms, £1 : 15s. and £2 : 2 a week), is both comfortable
and pleasant. Aberfoyle is a bright little place standing at the foot of the
wooded Craigmorc, which, though only 1271 feet, rises so abruptly as to seem
much more.

This is all historic ground, for, as the meeting-place of Highlands and
Lowlands, many were the scenes here enacted. The most famous of all,
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for in the hands of the magician fiction became fact, was that exciting
scene when the Bailie Nicol Jarvie and young Osbaldistone arrived
wearied out at the Clachan and were refused shelter at the rough inn
because "three Hieland shentlemens " wanted the place to themselves.
The landlady said her house was taken up " wi' them wadna like to be
intruded on wi' strangers." The row that subsequently took place, in
which the stout little Bailie defended himself with a red-hot coulter of a
plough, is too well known to need quotation. Suffice to say that a
coulter, traditionally said to be the very weapon, hangs on a tree outside
the hotel which bears his name to this very day. Very different are the
luxuries that now await the traveller at Aberfoyle from those of the
primitive shieling, with its discoloured walls, broken roof, and mud
floors.

The earlier part of the Forth, here known as the Laggan,
runs past the little town, and the old saying, " Forth bridles

the wild Highlandman," becomes significant.

Aberfoyle is in the district of Menteith, which at one time
was one of the five large divisions of the then known Scotland.

About 4 miles westward is Lake of Menteith, on an island of

which the Earls of Menteith (Graham) had their residence.

There is a larger island, called Inchmahone, on which are

the ruins of a priory, where Queen Mary spent a year of her

childhood. The loch is about 2 miles long and a mile broad.

Near Port of Menteith, on the north side, is an hotel, from

which boats run at regular intervals to the islands.

Inchmahone means the "Isle of Rest," and the name at present suits

it well. There are the monastic ruins in the Early English style, and a

western door, richly moulded. Also a large monument, with two
recumbent figures on it. The church was founded by the Earl of

Menteith early in the 13th century.

Little Queen Mary, then only five years of age, was brought here after

the battle of Pinkie, and the following year went to France to be
betrothed to the dauphin. There are some fine trees on the island,

which probably overshadowed with their leaves the head of the little

girl who was to cause more discussion, more excitement, than any other

queen that ever reigned in England or Scotland.

On Inch Tulla are the remains of the fortress stronghold of the Earls,

now in ruins.

Beyond Lake of Menteith a branch of the road goes north

over a stiff hill (566 ft.), to Callander, and the main part con-

tinues to Thorrihill, whence it branches to Doune and Stirling.
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Aberfoyle to Stronachlachar (12 m.)

This is a pass through which many a band of military men have

come intent on suppressing the wild Highlanders. General Monk
passed this way, having previously sent a letter to the Earl of Airth

anent the cutting down of the woods, " Which are grete shelters to the

rebelles and mossarsers." It was up the pass of Aberfoyle, too, that

the Bailie and Osbaldistone went unwillingly with the escort of

soldiery, as described in Rob Roy ; and here they were set upon by
the redoubtable Helen Macgregor and her men, and ran a narrow
escape from a sudden and ignominious death.

The route seems perpetually up and down, but is in reality mostly a

rise. After rain the first part of the way, being beneath trees, is an almost

impassable sea of mud. Loch Ard is supposed to have been the loch

Scott had in mind when he told of Helen Macgregor's vengeance on
the gauger Morris, though even the inhabitants do not point out the

exact rock from which the unhappy man was precipitated into the

water. The fishing, which is good, is free to people staying in the

hotel at Aberfoyle, though the charge for boat and boatman (seven

shillings per day) is heavy. The loch sport begins as early as March,

and continues good for the next four months ; the fish are supposed to

be almost equal to those of Loch Leven. Not far off is Duchray Castle,

near which runs the Duchray Water ; this is one of the main streams

which combine to form the Forth—trout fishing free. Near the north

or west end of Loch Ard, a little off the road, the Ledard comes down
in some Falls. For the next 5 miles the road rises almost all the

way, though the ascent is disguised by minor drops. It passes Loch
Chon (pron. Con), which can be fished from Stronachlachar or

Aberfoyle hotels at the same charge for boat, etc., as Loch Ard. The
sport is good. From here there is a very steep pull up, amid more
open and wilder scenery, and then a rapid fall to the cross road
between Inversnaid and Stronachlachar, from whence it is only half a
mile to the Stronachlachar Hotel.

GLASGOW TO INVERAKAY

See map, pp. 360.

(i.) Via Arrochar. (ii.) Via Loch Goil.

The railway companies run steamers to Loch Long and Loch Goil ; time-tables
can be obtained on application to either the Caledonian or North British
Companies. For Lochgoilhead a steamer leaves Glasgow every day at 9 a.m.

For the first part of the journey up the Clyde, see p. 352.

Most of the Loch Long steamers call at Hunter's Quay, near

Kirn, and passing the mouth of Holy Loch stop at Blairmore

and Ardentinny, from which a road runs across the peninsula

to Whistlefield on Loch Ech. For Loch Eck, etc., see p. 357.

4
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From Ardentinny the Kilmun hills extend south-westward,
while numerous Cruachs and Bens, attaining heights varying
from 1000 to 2000 feet, rise on the north of the bay.

Not long after Ardentinny the entrance to Loch Goil opens
on the west.

(ii.) Loch Goil is about 6 miles long and 1 to 2 miles in breadth.
On entering the loch the bills on the east are bold and steep, covering
the district known as Argyll's Bowling-Green {see below). On the
west are the ruins of Carrick Castle on a rock. Tradition says this
castle was built by the Danes. But the present building certainly
does not date farther back than the 16th century. It was once a
royal castle, and in William III.'s reign was placed in the keeping of
the Earl of Argyll. It was subsequently burnt by the men of Atholl.
The entrance to Loch Goil has often been taken as the scene of
Campbell's poem, Lord Ullin's Daughter, which, however, is more
correctly placed in Mull.

There is an hotel at Lochgoilhead
; and in the church may be seen

some of the tombs of the Campbells of Ardkinglass and Strachur. Ben
Donich (2774 ft.) and Cobbler are the highest hills in the vicinity. A
coach meets the steamer and takes passengers by Hell's Glen to St.

Catherine's Ferry on Loch Fyne (see p. 360).

Passing the mouth of Loch Goil, we reach Portincaple, where
there is a ferry and a road across to the Gareloch (p. 415)
Beyond this, northwards, Loch Long is not more than two-

thirds of a mile in breadth. At this more secluded part, on
the east side, lie the beautiful seats of Finart and Ardarroch.

In sailing up, we have now an excellent view of the Arrochar

range of hills, conspicuous among which are The Brack (2500

ft.) and Ben Arthur, or the "Cobbler" (2750 ft), whose rocky

summit is cracked and shattered into various fanciful forms.

The splendid estate which Mr. Cameron Corbett, M.P., has

gifted to Glasgow lies between Loch Long and Loch Goil. It

is about 6 miles long and 6 miles broad at the northern end,

and includes altogether 9000 acres. The district is rugged

and grand, a veritable piece of wild nature, at present inacces-

sible save by steamer. The mountains breed black game,

grouse, woodcock, roe-deer, pheasants, hares, and rabbits, and

on the slopes are pastured more than two thousand sheep, while

three farms are included in the gift. The estate is known as

Ardgoil.

Arrochar (Hotels) is a quaint little place. The principal

hotel, once burnt to the ground, was reopened in the season of
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1906 (terms, 3 guineas per week). It stands near the head

of the pier ; Ross's Hotel near head of loch (2 guineas to

£2 : 10s. (C)). There are a few small shops, post-office, etc., and

farther southward a very small temperance inn and tea garden.

Excursions are run in summer from Glasgow by steamer, so

that Arrochar is sometimes invaded by hundreds of people in

an afternoon. Arrochar shares a station with Tarbet on the

West Highland line, and this lies about 2 miles from the

village.

A pleasant circular tour may be made by going over to Tarbet, and

returning by steamer on Loch Lomond to Balloch, thence train to Glasgow.

The glen leading northward from Arrochar runs up to Loch Sloy deep

in the hills. Loch Sloy was famous as the rendezvous -of the Macfarlanes

{see p. 371). Its name was their Slogan ; and as the clan generally chose

full moon for descending on marauding expeditions from their native

fastnesses, the moon came to be called locally " Macfarlanes' lantern."

As there are now no coaches running through Glencroe, the

rest of the way must be made on foot or by cycle. Starting

from the pier the road winds round the head of Loch Long. It

skirts the western shore until it arrives at Ardgarten House, from

whence it turns northward up the desolate Pass of Glencroe.

The ascent of the Cobbler may be made from Ardgarten.

The road through Glencroe was constructed by the 22nd regiment,

and involves a climb over a loose bad surface ; near the summit
the rise is very steep. After one tremendous zigzag, a road

comes in on the west from Hell's Glen. Here a seat called

Eest-and-be-Thankful has been put up, and is alluded to by
Wordsworth :

Doubling and doubling with laborious walk,

Who that has gained at length the wished-for height,

This brief, this simple wayside call can slight,

And rest not thankful ?

Passing on the left a small sheet of water called Loch Eestil,

the road descends towards Loch Fyne by the side of the Kinglas

Water ; the descent is steep and dangerous. On reaching the

loch side, where it is joined by the road from St. Catherine's

(p. 398) on the south, there is, on the left, the triple-turreted

castle of Ardkinglass (Sir Andrew Noble, Bt.), an old seat of a
cadet of the Campbell family. Turning northwards along the

shore a little beyond this, Cairndow church, hotel, and school
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are passed on the right, after which the road keeps round the

head of Loch Fyne, where the surface is very good. From the

head of the loch a road runs up Glen Fyne, being feasible for

about 6 miles, when it ends in the hills at the foot of Ben

Buie (3106 ft.). Almost opposite (and 5 miles from) Ardkin-

glass are the ruins of Dunderave Castle, a stronghold of the

MacNaughtens. The castle, consisting of a strong tower with

turrets at each angle, is built close upon the sea-shore, from

which it must usually have been approached. Round Strone

Point we reach Loch Shira, a bay on Loch Fyne, hence an

excursion may be made up Glen Shira, at the entrance to

which is Dubh (black) Loch. At the head of Glen Shira is a

house popularly* known as Rob Roy's house. A smooth road of

about a mile and a half brings us over Aray Bridge and past

the castle grounds to Inveraray, see p. 395.

GLASGOW TO ARRAN
Bee map, p. 350.

Abran may be reached from Glasgow

—

1. By Ardrossan (the easiest and most expeditions route), vid the

Caledonian Railway (Central Station), or Glasgow and South-Western
Railway (St. Enoch's) to Ardrossan (p. 331). The Companies run fine

steamers in connection with their trains. Visitors can go vid Brodick
to WhitiDg Bay and thence by coach to Kildonan and Lag.

2. By swift steamer round the Kyles of Bute (p. 352). The steamer
may be reached either by Craigendoran Pier, Helensburgh ; or by
Prince's Pier, Greenock ; or by Gourock (vid the Caledonian Rail-

way).

3. By other steamers from Glasgow in the morning, vid Greenock,

Gourock, Dunoon, Rothesay, etc.

4. By the Campbeltown (Kintyre) steamers, calling at Greenock and
Gourock and—in the season—at Fairlie (p. 331) on the Ayrshire coast, to

Loch Ranza in Arran, and thence down the Kilbrannan Sound. This boat

runs to Lochranza and Campbeltown, returning in the afternoon.

ARRAN

Arran is familiar to many who have never set foot upon it,

for its high serrated peaks are conspicuous over miles of sea.

It is about 20 miles long and 11 broad, and its scenery is
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exceedingly beautiful. The population of the whole island is

4602. Its geology is varied, showing in a small compass

most of the successive geological formations of the earth.

For the botanist there are wild flowers and species of plants

rarely found elsewhere. Though the numerous whitewashed

cottages dotted about its shores are in summer one and all

let to lodgers, the place still retains its charm, and is not

vulgarised. It belongs to the Marchioness of Graham, only child

of the 12 th Duke of Hamilton, with the exception of the

one estate of Kilmichael, near Brodick, held by A. L. F.

Robertson-Fullarton, who still preserves the original charter by

which it was granted to his ancestor by Robert Bruce. Every

district shows signs of the personal interest taken by the lady

of the island in her tenantry, and if the prohibitive notices as

to trespass, fishing, etc., are rather exasperatingly in evidence,

it must be remembered that the same care which provides for

their distribution has kept the island as free from taint of

vulgarisation as it is. There are golf courses on the island at

Brodick, Corrie, Lamlash, Shisken, and Whiting Bay.

Lamlash is the capital, but Brodick is the better known
place, and therefore in giving a rough sketch of the island

Brodick is taken as the starting-point. As a matter of fact

there is no village of Brodick now, though the district retains

the name. The village was demolished in order to make a

better approach to the castle, and the existing village near the

pier is correctly that of Invercloy. Close to the pier is the

large Hotel, excellently managed, and with a certain amount of

exclusiveness, which can be best expressed by saying it is the

opposite of commercial (terms, 3^ guineas per week). The scattered

village contains a few small shops, post-office, etc.
;

pretty

widely separated are the three churches, Free, United Free, and

Established. There is a good golf course of eighteen holes,

and a number of bathing machines for the use of visitors. Here,

as elsewhere, lodgings of a simple sort abound and are well

patronised in the season. The view from just below the hotel

—for the hotel itself is too much shut in by trees—is very fine.

We can see the sweep of the bay with the sharp sides of tower-

ing Goatfell rising above it, and on its lower slopes the castle

in which the chief historical reminiscences of Brodick are

centred. The building as it stands is not old, having been
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largely reconstructed in 1844, but part of the older castle is

still left standing. Even this is not the same castle as that

which was taken by the followers of Bruce before the arrival of

the Bruce himself.

The king, having been for some time on the small neighbouring island

of Rathlin beyond the Mull of Kintyre, his undaunted follower Douglas
began to chafe at the inaction, and obtaining leave he took with him Sir

Robert Boyd and a few followers and landed at daybreak in Arran. At that

time the castle was occupied by Sir John Hastings, and three vessels,

laden with food and other supplies, had just arrived for the garrison.

The followers of Douglas attacked the men who were carrying these things

up to the castle, and easily obtained a supply of the booty ; however they

could not get into the stronghold itself for the gates were immediately closed.

Shortly after, the king himself landed at Loch Ranza [see p. 349-). Then the

castle was taken, and King Robert established himself there to watch
for a summons from the shores of the mainland. He had sent out a

follower to reconnoitre, and it had been agreed that if all was fairly

safe this man would light a beacon on the coast to convey the news.

Unfortunately a chance blaze on the shore misled the king, the boats were
launched, and he arrived only to find himself in a perilous position as the

country was swarming with his enemies.

The principal excursion from Brodick is the ascent of Goat-

fell, which rises with a sharp serrated outline 2866 feet above

the level of the sea. The ascent commences at the south

entrance to the park near the castle, and after passing through

the park and keeping the kennels on the left the path enters a

plantation, through which the moor is gained at a height of

500 feet, close by the Cnocan Burn. The route from thence is

simple, as there is a path (though rough) all the way to the top

by the left side of this streamlet. The climb is somewhat

laborious, owing to the rocky nature of the ground, and it

occupies from 2 to 2| hours. The summit is surrounded by a

sea of jagged peaks and massive boulders, and beyond the island

there is an extensive view on every side, including the Mull of

Kintyre, Loch Fyne, the Firth of Clyde, the islands of Argyll-

shire, and the coast of Ireland. A variation in the route may
be made by descending on Glen Rosa by Glenshant Hill, and

gaining the footpath on the right bank of the Glenrosa Water

—rough going.

Glen Rosa itself is an excursion only second in interest to the above.

The road goes off (right) at Brodick Church, and the glen extends about

5 miles to the north-west. On the right is Goat/ell, on the left Ben Nuis

(2597 feet) and Ben Tarminn (2706 feet). It is possible to ascend all
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these peaks, though there is a steep precipice on the eastern side of Ben
Nuis. Also one can pass from Glen Rosa over the saddle into Glen

Sannox.

Returning once more to the church, we can see the road

which goes straight on past it leading over bleak high country
;

this goes to Blackwaterfoot (p. 350), about 11 miles, and is steep,

rising some 800 feet.

We may now begin a tour right round the island, starting

along the bay by the road which runs beneath the castle grounds.

The road between Brodick and Corrie (7 miles) is good. A
daily coach goes to and fro. At Corrie there is a fair sized hotel

;

as there is no pier, visitors have to land in a boat. There is

here a big stone quarry, and the peculiar red sandstone, of which

the shore is largely composed, shows up with brilliant effect

against the blue sea. There is a short nine-hole golf course

in good condition. About 2 miles beyond Corrie is the

entrance to Glen Sannox (walking only), the grandest, wildest

glen in Arran, resembling Glencoe in its sternness. At
one time the district had the largest population on the island,

but in 1832 the inhabitants were forced to emigrate, means

being provided for their passage to New Brunswick. The Castle

Peaks above Glen Sannox show a deeply serrated row of sharp

points conspicuous from many parts of the island. The road to

Loch Ranza goes inland behind a hill, so that the Fallen Rocks,

fantastically shaped, and the Cock o' Arran, the most northerly

point of the island, supposed to bear a resemblance to that bird,

are not seen. The road rises to 654 feet, and drops steeply to

Loch Ranza, where there is a fair-sized and well-built modern
hotel (terms, 3 guineas per week). The Campbeltown steamers

come twice daily to Loch Ranza pier in the season, and once

daily in winter ; and the turbine Queen Alexandra also calls

here (see p. xiv). There is a golf course some distance along

the shore. The bay itself is one of the prettiest in the whole
island, with green hills sloping right down to the water's edge

on one side, and the low-lying outlines of Jura away westward.

The ruin of Loch Ranza Castle stands on the water's edge as if

placed there expressly for scenic effect. It is said to have been
built by one of the Stuart kings as a shooting-box. The houses

are scattered all round the bay at intervals, and the place is

very simple.
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It was at Loch Ranza Bruce landed from Rathlin, and those

who visit Arran should most certainly renew acquaintance with

Scott's poem, The Lord of the Isles—
On fair Loch Ranza streamed the early day,

Thin wreaths of cottage smoke are upward curled

From the lone hamlet, which her inland bay
And circling mountains sever from the world.

For some distance after leaving Loch Ranza the road winds

along the edge of the bay, with Kintyre's long stretching arm
in full view. The first part is pretty, then follows a dull

stretch past a small place called Pirnmill, where lodgings can

be obtained. There are scattered villa cottages, and seats line

the low rocky coast at intervals for a couple of miles. The
name Pirnmill originated in the enterprise of a Glasgow

merchant who tried to establish here a manufactory for pirns

or spools of thread, but without success.

Dougrie Lodge, at the entrance of Glen Iorsa, is one of the

laird's shooting-boxes, a fantastically built white house adorned

with antlers.

Machrie (nine-hole golf course) is very quiet indeed, and, after

crossing the Machrie Water, the road goes inland over a grand

moor with views of Goatfell and the other prominent peaks. A
road branching off to the left leads to Shedog Hotel (small and

quiet, terms moderate), at ShisJcen, from which a road goes over

to Brodick (see p. 347) (first-class nine-hole golf course). In

the church at Shisken the monument of St. Molios (see p. 351),

a rudely carved stone which was transferred here from the old

graveyard, is shown. Temperance hotel on the edge of the sea at

Blackwaterfoot. From here may be visited the famous King's Caves,

in the largest of which Robert Bruce is said to have stayed before

descending on Brodick and thence to strike for the freedom of

his country on the mainland. There are rude carvings of some

interest on the walls, the chief of which is a two-handed sword

with a cross, and others represent scenes in the chase. The
caves themselves are remarkable for their size ; one is over 110

feet long. Fingall is said also to have lodged here. From
Blackwaterfoot the road rises over a high heathery cliff ; far

below lies the sparkling silver sea ; to the west Kintyre and

the Isle of Sunda are clearly seen ; to the south is the wonderful

Ailsa Craig rising sheer out of the sea. We go inland again before
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arriving at Lctgg Inn (terms, 3 guineas per week), which, in the

double-named way these places have, is at the village of Kilmory.

It is a nice little place, a group of whitewashed cottages down
in a hollow by an old stone bridge with woods rising high

around. But even here, tucked away in all sorts of unexpected

places, are cl apartments " let to lodgers. The road is very un-

dulating ; after Lagg it rises and falls with considerable steep-

ness, while Pladda lighthouse on its islet is seen from every

possible point of view. Nine-hole golf course at Kildonan.

A road leads off (right) to Kildonan Castle, supposed to have

been one of a line of forts built by Alexander II. It remained

a royal castle till 1405. At Dippen Head, 2 miles farther,

there are basaltic columnar rocks rising to 300 feet.

Whiting Bay is a typical little seaside resort, with many
new boarding-houses. The hotel, however (terms, 3 guineas per

week), is not typical, being a charming range of building looking

straight on to the sea, with well-kept flower-beds in front. There

is also a small temperance hotel (terms, 2 guineas per week). There

is a pier here, and as at all the other places numerous chara-

bancs, waggonettes, etc., await the crowded steamboats, the return

fares varying from 5s. to £l. The principal excursion at Whit-

ing Bay is the excursion up Glen Easdale (or Ashdale) to the

waterfall. Fine eighteen-hole golf course overlooking the bay.

The steep cone of Holy Island forms a natural breakwater

to Lamlash Bay. The island rises to 1030 feet, and there is

now a lighthouse at each end. There was a monastery on the

island, of which the ruins remained until the end of the 16th

century. St. Molios, a disciple of St. Columba, made the

island his resting-place. His cave is still pointed out, and he

is said to have died at Loch Eanza at 120 years of age.

The projecting point of Arran, which comes nearest to the

island, is called King's Pross, because Bruce embarked from here

for Scotland. A cairn of stones marks the spot.

Lamlash is the largest place on the island. There is a pier,

and numerous small hotels, with boarding-houses and lodgings un-

countable. It is a pretty place, with the houses set about amid
trees and greenery. There is a good golf course of eighteen

holes and a good bowling-green. Lamlash is only 3 miles from

Brodick Hotel, the road rising over a steep hill and falling

again amid fine scenery.
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GLASGOW TO ARDRISHAIG via KYLES OF BUTE

See map, p. 360.

There are few persons who have stayed in Glasgow and not

indulged in one of the delightful steamer trips by which they
can be carried through some of the most beautiful scenery in

Scotland. The most popular of all these trips is that through
the Kyles of Bute, and many are the facilities offered to intending

passengers. The most popular method is to go by one of the

larger steamers, Golumba or Iona (see p. xi), which sail every day
in summer from the Broomielaw at seven o'clock in the mornincr

This also forms part of the most popular route to Oban, the

account of which is continued from Ardrishaig on p. 386.

Besides the Golumba and Iona there are many other steamers

running, notably the turbines (see p. xi)
9
which arrive at Ardri-

shaig about noon. It is customary for visitors to omit the

higher reaches of the river, which, early in the morning, are

not attractive, and to join the boat at Greenock or at Gourock,

the former from St. Enoch's station (8.20 a.m.) the latter from
the Central (8.30 a.m.). But if the return journey be taken, it

is well if possible to come right up to the city, especially if it

be high tide. And in the light of the westering sun, the scene of

magnificent industry is shown to the best advantage.

In going outward we pass first between Govan and Partick ; farther on
is Whiteinch, with a number of shipbuilding yards.

Renfrew (nine-hole golf course) is not large, but is one of the oldest

established towns in Scotland. The great Somerled, Lord of the Isles,

who had rebelled against Malcolm II. was here defeated and killed in 1164.

Beyond Renfrew is Blythswood House (Lord Blythswood). The collective

waters of the two Carts and the Gryfe here flow into the Clyde. The
Cart is associated with the name of Thomas Campbell the poet, who played

on its banks as a boy and wrote later :

—

Scenes of my childhood so dear to my heart,

Ye green waving woods by the margin of Cart.

A large block of stone on the estate marks the place where the 9th

Earl of Argyll, a fugitive, in attempting to cross the Cart, was recognised

and knocked down by some soldiers. He had refused to subscribe to the

Test Act, had been concerned in the Monmouth Rebellion, and after a

vain attempt to raise his men, found himself the object of pursuit by
soldiers under Atholl and Huntly. He was beheaded at the Market Cross

of Edinburgh in 1685.
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Directly opposite is Clydebank, a large town in itself, which owes its

origin to the shipbuilding works of J. and G. Thomson (now John Brown
and Company, Ltd.). The place has a population of 37,547, almost

wholly operatives and workmen at the yards. Between it and Dalmuir

are the immense factories of Messrs. Singer (sewing machines) with tall

clock tower. Then we pass on the same side Dalmuir, and (near Old

Kilpatrick) Erskine Ferry, crossing to Erskine House.

From here to Dumbarton a wall of stone running between light-

house towers defines the limits of the navigable river bed. On the right

is Dalnottar Hill (753 ft.), from which there is a fine view : the heights

immediately to the north are the Kilpatrick Hills, and the village on the

narrow plain between them and the river is Old Kilpatrick, said to have

been the birthplace of St. Patrick, the tutelary saint of Ireland. All along

the pleasant southern bank are palatial mansions built by wealthy Glasgow
merchants among the trees. At Bowling the river widens and the Forth

and Clyde Canal, which unites the Firths of Forth and Clyde, joins the

latter at this place. Dunglass Point is supposed to be the western

termination of the Roman Wall of Antoninus, erected in A.D. 140, and
locally known as Graham's Dyke (griem diog, the strong trench) and
which formed the northern boundary of the kingdom of Strathclyde. On
the promontory are Dunglass House and the ruins of Dunglass Castle.

The obelisk standing amid the ruins was erected in memory of Henry Bell,

who first introduced steam navigation on the Clyde (see p. 299).

Long before this the extraordinary twin lump of rock (240

ft.) which marks Dumbarton must have attracted attention.

The rock measures a mile in circumference, and terminates in

two peaks, the higher of which is still called " Wallace's Seat,"

while a part of the castle bears the name of " Wallace's Tower,"

in commemoration of the Scottish hero, who was confined here.

For the castle see below. It may be noted that the true

Scottish thistle, which is comparatively rare in Scotland, grows

wild on Dumbarton rock.

Dumbarton (Hotel : Elephant ; nine-hole golf course) is an

uninteresting place, but an important seat of the iron-shipbuilding

industry and associate trades, with a population of 21,989
In Church Street are situated the county buildings, and the

Dumbarton Academy, with a tower-steeple. In the same street

may be seen the remains of an old archway, which, according

to an inscription built into an adjoining wall, is " one of the

tower arches of St. Patrick's Collegiate Church, founded mccccl.,

and the sole remnant of a once extensive pile, removed to its

present site in 1850." Dumbarton owes much to the Denny
family (from whom the suburb of Dennystoun takes its name),

and to Lord Overtoun, who presented the town with the site
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of the new municipal buildings at College Park. The Leven
flows through the town, and runs into the Clyde near the
castle rock. The ground here, 32 acres, at the west of the
town, was purchased and presented to the town as a public
park by Messrs. Peter Denny and John M'Millan. It cost

.£20,000, and contains fine trees, including two magnificent
cedars of Lebanon. Twenty acres are set apart for games.
Dumbarton is an important railway junction for Balloch (Loch
Lomond) (p. 367), and Helensburgh (p. 414).

Dumbarton Castle is of great antiquity, and is generally

supposed to have been the principal seat of the British tribe

which inhabited the Vale of Clyde after the departure of the

Romans. It was one of the strongholds of the Earl of Lennox,

who assumed historical importance so far back as the period of

William the Lion.

The adroitness with which Robert Bruce, after he had taken from the

English all the other strongholds of Scotland, succeeded in obtaining

possession also of the Castle of Dumbarton, is a memorable episode in his

life. Sir John Menteith, who was then its keeper, promised to surrender

it to him on extravagant conditions, which were agreed upon. His
intention in so doing was when Bruce should come to receive possession,

to make him a prisoner. For this purpose he had secreted in a cellar a

body of armed English soldiers and a ship in the Clyde ready to transport

him to London. Bruce, however, was warned of his danger ; he, notwith-

standing, proceeded to the castle with some attendants, and was welcomed
by Menteith, who delivered to him the keys of the castle, and conducted
him through it. Bruce observed that he was not admitted into a particular

cellar which he passed, and he insisted on its being opened ; there the

English soldiers were discovered, and they confessed the whole conspiracy.

By the order of Bruce, the traitor was himself imprisoned in that very

cellar ; but he was afterwards pardoned by the generous monarch.

None of the buildings now on the rock are of great architec-

tural interest or antiquity, but some of the foundations and
more massive buildings may be very ancient. From the first

gate the ascent is by a narrow steep stair, built in a natural

fissure of the rock. A narrow gateway here was used as a

portcullis, on either side of which may be seen rude well-worn

heads of Wallace, and the same John Menteith his betrayer.

The latter is represented with his finger in his cheek, which

is said to have been the sign to be given by him on this occasion.

From the summit there is an extensive view. When Queen

Mary was sent to France to be educated at the French Court,
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she embarked from the castle of Dumbarton for the palace of

St. Germain. During the wars which desolated Scotland in

her reign, this fortress was taken by an ingenious stratagem

by Captain Crawford of Jordanhill.

Taking advantage of a misty and moonless night to bring to the foot of

the castle rock the scaling ladders which he had provided, he chose for his

terrible experiment the place where the rock was highest, and where, of

course, less pains were taken to keep a regular guard. In scaling the

second precipice, an accident took place :—One of the party, subject to

epileptic fits, was seized by one of these attacks while he was in the act

of climbing up the ladder. His illness made it impossible for him either

to ascend or descend. To have slain the man would have been a cruel

expedient, besides that the fall of his body from the ladder might have

alarmed the garrison. Crawford caused him, therefore, to be tied to the

ladder, then all the rest descending, they turned the ladder, and thus

mounted with ease over the body of the epileptic person. When the

party gained the summit they slew the sentinel ere he had time to give

the alarm, and easily surprised the slumbering garrison.

A mile below Dumbarton, between that town and Cardross,

from which it takes its name, was the castle of Cardross which

Bruce made his home in 1326 and where he died June 7, 1329.

From his earliest days he had been in the midst of war, first on the

side of the English king and then on behalf of Scotland, and when at

last the death of his great enemy Edward I. of England gave him a

feeling of security, he showed his domestic tastes in his selection of his

home. In the Exchequer Rolls we find such terms as glass for the windows,
whitewash for the walls, seed for the garden, and a hedge round the

falconhouse, which seem to bring us very near to his simple daily life.

His second wife was still alive ; by her he had two sons and a daughter.

His eldest daughter Marjory, by his first wife, from whom the house of

Stewart was to descend, had married Walter the Steward in 1315, and died

at the birth of her first child, from the effects of a fall from her horse.

Exactly opposite Dumbarton is Langbank, and then we pass

in succession Finlayston House, Broadfield, and Newark Castle,

a quadrangular building close to the town of Port-Glasgow
;

carefully preserved by the proprietor, Sir Hugh Shaw Stewart,

Bt. There is much good work in it, and the earlier parts date

from the 15th century, the later from the 17th, of the general

style of which it is.

From Port-Glasgow a branch line runs to Inverkip and Wemyss Bay, a
pleasant and popular coast resort, from which various steamers may be
boarded (see pp. xiv and xvi). Skelmorlie, with its large hydropathic
and old castle, lies to the south ; and a couple of miles farther south is

Knock Castle, of which parts are said to belong to the 15th century.
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Greenock

Hotels: Tontine ; Ritchie's Temperance. Pop. 75,140.

For sailings of steamers other than those already mentioned see the

pink pages in the beginning of the book.

Both the Caledonian and Glasgow and South-Western lines

run to the town, but the former arrives at Cathcart Street, and
the latter goes right down to the pier. Greenock has a good

front, and a pleasant residential quarter as well as a business

part. There are two eighteen-hole golf courses. In the begin-

ning of the 17th century it was merely a row of thatched huts,

but now has a population of close on 70,000. Shipbuilding,

engineering, and sugar refining are its principal industries, and

occupy thousands of hands. The docks and harbours are

remarkable, and the building yards compete with those of

Glasgow ; there is a large custom-house on the quay, and in

the town are fine municipal buildings, and a public library in

the Watt Institution, founded by the son of James Watt to

commemorate his father. In the old West Kirk are four fine

stained-glass windows designed by William Morris ; Burns's

Highland Mary is buried in the churchyard. The great sand-

bank beginning a little below Dumbarton ends near Greenock,

and affords the best anchorage in the Clyde. The ocean

steamers lying near the " Tail o* the Bank " as it is called,

receive here passengers and mails. At the back of the town

rises the Whinhill, which commands extensive views ; over this

a road has been made at great cost.

Gourock (Hotels : Queen's ; Ashton ; nine-hole golf course),

where the steamers next stop, has an unusually fine and

spacious pier. The Caledonian railway, which runs down to

it, passes through long tunnels in the short distance between

Greenock and Gourock ; one of these is
1J miles long—the

longest in Scotland. Gourock is not nearly so large a place

as Greenock, having a population of between 4000 and 6000
only. It is well situated and commands fine views of the Clyde,

including the mouths of the Gareloch, Loch Long, and Holy

Loch. Ashton, the more pleasant part, extends from Kempock
Point to the Cloch lighthouse. Near the town are Gourock

Castle, Gourock House, and Leven Castle (ruin). Craigendoran,
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Helensburgh, The Gareloch, etc., are mentioned on the West

Highland line (p. 414). Ten minutes' sail from Gourock (a dis-

tance of about 4 miles) brings us alongside Dunoon pier, where

passengers by the North British railway via Craigendoran join

the steamer. Passengers from Kirn also join the Columba at

Dunoon by connecting steamer.

Dunoon

Hotels : The Argyll (C) ; MacColl's ; Crown.

Steamers ply between Dunoon and Helensburgh. Dunoon
is one of the largest watering-places on the Clyde, having a

population of close on 7000. The parish church occupies

a conspicuous position overlooking the pier. A nine-hole

golf course is close to the landing-place. On a queer little

conical hill near the pier are the fragments of Dunoon Castle,

and near by a very ungraceful statue of Highland Mary.

Villas extend along the coast by Kirn (hotel) and Hunter s Quay
{hotel) to Holy Loch, a short arm of the sea, at the head of which are

some fine hills. Jnst above the pier at Hunter's Quay stands the Royal
Clyde Yacht Club-house, from which the races are run annually in the

Clyde Regatta week. On the north side of Holy Loch is the village of

Kilmun (hotel), where there are the ruins of a collegiate church, founded
in 1442 by Sir Duncan Campbell of Loch Awe, 1st Lord Campbell and
ancestor of the Dukes of Argyll. East of Kilmun is Strone (hotel), a

watering-place standing on the point between Holy Loch and Loch Long.

On Holy Loch is the village of Sandbank or Ardnadam, with pier and
hotel. At the head of the loch is The Gothouse, at one time a favourite

inn for anglers. The district stretching from the head of Holy Loch by
Loch Eck is a delightful one. There is also a long mountain road due
west from Holy Loch, passing the heads of Lochs Striven and Ridden to

Otter Ferry on Loch Fyne (22 m.). This begins well, but rapidly
roughens, becoming a mere cart track, fit only for pedestrians, before

Loch Fyne is reached.

Dunoon to Inveraray.—Pass up the west side of Holy Loch by
Sandbank, and keep to the east side of Loch Eck, passing Whistlefield
Inn about midway. There are steamers plying on Loch Eck (see p. 398).
At the north end of Loch Eck the road descends to Strachur on Loch
Fyne, and a steamer may be caught at Creggans Pier.

Leaving Dunoon the steamer skirts the shore to Innellan with
a line of shops, and many houses standing about amid trees.

Behind them the hill sweeps upward at a steep angle. There
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is a good sporting nine-hole golf course of 3000 yards beginning

close to the pier. Opposite Innellan is Wemyss Bay (seep. 355).

The peninsula of Cowal terminates a few miles lower at Toward

Pointy near which is Castle Toward, and the ruins of an old

castle of the Lamont family. The high peaks of Arran may
now be well seen to the south.

THE ISLAND OF BUTE

is separated from the mainland by two narrow channels not

unlike the Skagerack and Cattegat in shape. These are the

famous Kyles. The island is about 16 miles long and averages

about 5 miles in breath. It includes several small lochs.

The capital is

Bothesay

Hotels : Royal ; Bute Arms ; Victoria
;
Queen's (C) ; Glenburn Hydropathic Estab-

lishment, and many others, including several Temperance. Population : 9300.

Kothesay Bay is well known from the popular song of that

name, written by Mrs. Craik, author of John Halifax. The bay

is certainly very fine, and the line of houses now extends all

along it. An esplanade and public gardens line the shore.

On the north and south sides the hills, well clothed with

trees, rise in the background, and altogether Rothesay is a

bright, cheerful place, and in spite of being a little too much
" Margatised," it has unrivalled attractions and many advantages.

The premier yachting club of Scotland, the
4

Royal Northern,

has its headquarters here, and there are two golf courses and

two bowling-greens.

Rothesay Castle has existed from very early times, for it

was held by the Danes and retaken by Alexander III. after

the battle of Largs. In 1398 Robert III. created his son

Duke of Rothesay, a title which has ever since been borne by
the heir-apparent to the throne. The castle, which stands in

ruins, was probably built in the 13th or 14th centuries. It

was destroyed by Argyll in 1685. The deep fosse around it

was suffered to be choked up by rubbish, but this has now
been cleared out and is crossed by a bridge.

About two miles south-west of Rothesay lies the charming little Loch

Fad, on the shore of which Edmund Kean built a cottage for himself, this
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was afterwards tenanted by Sheridan Knowles. About 5 miles from
Kothesay is Mount Stuart (Marquess of Bute). Unfortunately the old

house was burnt down in 1877, so the present one is quite modern ; it is,

however, a magnificent place of its kind, and was designed by Dr. R E.

Anderson. A few miles south is Kilchattan, a little sea-bathing place.

Port Bannatyne is now connected with Kothesay by houses

all the way, and electric trams pass between the two every few

minutes. At Port Bannatyne there is also a large Hydropathic.

We pass the Bay of Karnes and enter the far-famed Kyles of

Bute. On the tongue of land between Lochs Striven and Ridden

is South Hall, where the trees were planted to represent the

positions of the two armies at the battle of Waterloo, a device

common enough at that date.

On the same side is Colintraive, with many villa houses and

an hotel. The coach meets the steamer in the summer, and

runs up Glendaruel, returning in time for the evening boat.

At the head of Loch Ridden is Ormidale, and 6 miles farther on

Glendaruel Hotel. It is possible for a pedestrian to get right

over to Loch Fyne by this route, striking it at Newton Bay.

Near the entrance of the Loch, beyond Colintraive, is Glen

Galadh House, belonging to R. Ingham Clark, a well-known

yacht owner.

Just about Colintraive the channel of the Kyle is contracted

by three or four small islands, which add very greatly to the

beauty of the scene. On one of them, by the entrance of Loch
Ridden, stands a solitary tree, the scene of the failure of the

Earl of Argyll's expedition (see p. 352). On the Bute shore are

the two remarkable rocks, called The Maids of Bute. Their

resemblance to two girls seated side by side, dressed in white

with red shawls, is very curious.

All the way the combination of the clear water, the green

sloping shores, covered with bracken and diversified by grey

rocks, the peeps of distant views up the lochs and ahead, form
a series of pictures that can never be forgotten. The channel

is of course very narrow, and as the stream is rapid it requires

careful navigation. The chief charm to most people will lie in

the ever-changing panorama as corner after corner is turned
and new vistas open out. Just as we reach the most northerly

point of the island, Loch Bidden opens up on the north,

biting deep into the land. The next stop is at Tighna-
5
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bruaich (pron. Tinnabruach), a word very difficult for southern

tongues to pronounce. It means " House of the Brae," because

for long there was but one solitary house here, whereas now
there is a considerable village with a nine-hole golf course.

Hotel : Koyal (terms <£2 : 10s. per week (C)). We pass thereafter

Karnes (Kyles of Bute golf course, nine holes), where a road

(rough) goes across to Loch Fyne, and then we see Ardlamount
House. To the south is the Island of Inchmarnock, and beyond
it rise the towering hills of Arran. We are now in Loch Fyne,

and see the long backbone of the Mull of Kintyre stretching

away south-westward.

Tarbert

Hotels : Columba (terms, £2 : 10s. per week) ; Tarbert ; Commercial ; Victoria.
Golf course of nine holes.

" Machines " of every variety await the arrival of the

steamer. The hotel and various small villa houses are close to

the pier, but the village proper is about three-quarters of a mile

off, and the fare there is threepence. For conveyance to and
from West Loch Tarbert, Campbeltown, see p. 365. Tarbert

is a fishing village of the usual type, with numerous small

shops, and not a very great amount of charm, but the beautiful

islands in the bay, and the bracken-covered hills around, form

a delightful situation. High above the houses is the ruin of

the old castle. It was rebuilt by King Kobert the Bruce when
he had finally established himself on the throne, in order to

hold in check the turbulent Lord of the Isles. It is now a

ruin, part of the keep only remaining.

Tar means / draw, and Bad, a boat, and the name Tarbert is invari-

ably found in connection with some such isthmus of land as there is

here. The explanation is that in the old days it was considered necessary

to go completely round an island in order to hold it. And this ceremony
was performed in the case of the peninsula of Kintyre by Magnus Barefoot

of Norway, who allowed himself to be drawn across the isthmus or neck
in a galley. It is said that in order to please his subjects King Kobert
also suffered himself to be drawn across the same place in a boat

!

Many times have there been projects to cut through the isthmus by a

canal, but there is no reason to suppose the idea will be put into

execution.

There is about an hour and forty minutes between the

arrival of the Columba at Tarbert and her return from
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Ardrishaig, and this gives visitors who elect to land time to

drive over to the West Loch Tarbert and back (return fare Is.).

For Jura, Islay, and Kintyre, see below.

There is a rough road running round Knapdale, as the peninsula

north of Tarbert is called.

Loch Swen or Swin stretches about 10 miles into Knapdale, nearly

opposite Ardrishaig, and its scenery has been pronounced by Dr.

M'Culloch to be as romantic as that of Loch Katrine. On a rock over-

hanging the entrance to the loch stand the ancient walls of Castle Swin,

whose foundation is ascribed by immemorial tradition to Sweno, Prince

of Denmark. The castle—from its position a place of much importance

in its day—was taken by Robert the Bruce from Alexander of the Isles,

and bestowed on the family of Menteith. It subsequently reverted to

the Crown.

In continuing north to Ardrishaig the steamer passes Stonefield

and Inverneil, two fine country seats. 10 miles north from

Tarbert it enters Loch Gilp, in which stands.

Ardrishaig,

Hotel : The Royal.

the south-eastern terminus of the Crinan Canal, a small village

surrounded by several villas which have sprung up since the

opening of the canal. The larger town of Lochgilphead (Hotels :

Argyll ; also Victoria, Stag) stands, as its name implies, at the

inner end of Loch Gilp, and on the east side, opposite Ardrishaig,

is Kilmory Castle (Sir Arthur J. Campbell-Orde, Bt.). The upper

part of Loch Fyne is described at p. 394.

From Ardrishaig it is possible to go (i.) by coach to Ford on
Loch Awe and thence by steamer to Loch Awe station (see p.

391) ;
(ii.) or by coach via the Pass of Kilmelfort to Oban (see p.

412); (iii.) for numerous short drives.

GLASGOW TO ISLAY

See maps, pp. 360, 364.

The route by steamer has been described as far as Tarbert

(see p. 352), whence the isthmus must be crossed. There are

always numbers of vehicles ready to take passengers across at
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a very cheap rate, and there is ample time to walk if that

method be preferred. Another steamer awaits passengers in

West Loch Tarbert, and goes on alternate days to Port Askaig
and Port Ellen, crossing the north or south ends of Gigha en

route. For Gigha, see p. 365.

ISLAY

It is difficult to liken Islay to anything in shape, so irregular

is it. Its extremest length is about 25 miles, and its average

breadth cannot be stated, as the great inlet of Loch Indaal bites

deeply into it. The island is green like Skye, not brown and
barren like the Outer Hebrides. It has some pretty bits, and
its hills are sufficiently high to be attractive as features in the

landscape. The largest loch, Loch Gorm, is well stocked with

excellent trout, and the sport is free. Boats are kept on it by
neighbouring farmers and by the hotels at Bruichladdich and

Bridgend. In an island on the loch are the remains of one of

the Macdonalds' strongholds. Port Askaig has fishing on a

couple of little lochs near, but the lochs near Port Ellen are

preserved. The roads are like ordinary country roads, quite

passable but rough. A large sailing-boat meets the MacBrayne

steamer on Tuesdays in the bay to take off goods and passengers

for Bowmore and Bruichladdich. Pop. 7780.

Islay belonged to the Lords of the Isles, and the ceremony of anointing

the chieftain took place here. He stood on a stone seven feet square and

was crowned and anointed in the presence of his warriors, after which

they took the oath and swore fealty to him. In the reign of James III.

(1415-88) the power of the Lords was abolished, though the family of

Macdonald was permitted to hold the island from the Crown. In the time

of James VI. it was in the possession of Sir James Macdonald, whose

power gave such offence to the King that he sent a force of the M'Leans,

M'Leods, M 'Neils, and Camerons against him. The laird fled, and in 1620

Islay, with other possessions was granted to Sir John Campbell of Calder.

The three principal landowners of Islay are Hugh Morrison

(Islay House), Ian Ramsay (Kildalton), and Donald Martin

(Dunlossit).

The principal village is Port Ellen (Hotels : White Hart (C)

;

Islay, Commercial Temp.). There is a very good golf course of

eighteen holes at Machry, and the landlords of the various

hotels take players free of charge over the intervening 3
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miles. As a village Port Ellen is not very attractive, but the

surroundings are charming, especially eastward along the coast,

where the rocky bays are fringed by rising broken ground

covered with bracken and heather. Two or three large dis-

tilleries give occupation to many persons. About 5 miles

along this road is Kildalton House (Ian Kamsay). Some 3

miles beyond, in the old graveyard, is a famous sculptured cross

of great height, of which there is a model in the Glasgow

Gallery of Fine Art.

Port Askaig is one of the prettiest places on the island

(hotel). Fine trees rise on the heights above the landing-

place, and there are only two or three houses. Bridgend (Hotel

:

terms, ,£2 : 10 s. per week) is also pretty ; near it is Islay House

(Hugh Morrison). Bowmore is a fishing village with the usual

rather rough accompaniments. Beyond these there are no other

places to mention.

JURA

Jura is separated from Islay by the Sound of Islay, a narrow

strait (through wThich the tides flow with great force), only

half a mile broad at the picturesque fishing station of Port

Askaig in Islay, where there is a ferry. Like the Mull of

Kintyre, it is nearly cut in two at the centre by a loch of the

same name, Tarbert, the neck of land being only three-

quarters of a mile in breadth. It is 27 miles long, and, except-

ing in the centre, from 3 to 8 broad ; and has a population of

about 600. The southern and larger portion belongs to Camp-
bell of Jura, whose mansion (Jura House) stands at the extreme

south. The great charm of the island to those who love solitude

is its lack of roads : one road only runs along part of the east

coast, and any one who wants to see farther must go afoot. The
hills are much grander than those of Islay. The Paps of Jura,

two mountains in the centre of the lower division of the island,

are conspicuous objects, and rise to the height of about 2500
feet, and the whole scenery of the island is wild and rugged,

and interspersed with numerous small rocks. The greater part

is deer-forest. There are inns at Lagg and Craighouse, both on
the east coast ; and there is a ferry from the former to Keills

on the mainland at Loch Swen.
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COLONSAY AND ORONSAY

Westward of Jura lie the lonely islands of Colonsay and
Oronsay. The former is about 8 miles long; and the two
together have a population of about 300. At its north-west

shores are some magnificent cliffs, one spot—known as the " Pigs'

Paradise "—being unique in its strange beauty, though rather

difficult of access. At various points round the coast are sandy

beaches—Killoran Bay being perhaps the finest. In the neigh-

hood are some extensive caves. Oronsay Priory or Colonsay

House (Major A. J. M'Neill) is pleasantly situated south of this

bay, and is approached by a high road from Scalasaig (pier and

inn) on the east coast. Near Scalasaig is a granite obelisk in

memory of Lord Colonsay, a distinguished Scotch lawyer who
died in 1874. On the west coast, opposite Scalasaig, lies

Kilchattan Bay, where there is an extensive golf course, naturally

good, but said to suffer somewhat from want of attention.

Close to the south end of Colonsay, and separated from it by

a quite narrow sandy strait, fordable at low water, is Oronsay, on

which are the ruins of an ancient monastery, and a remarkably

fine early Christian Cross.

THE MULL OF KINTYRE

See maps, pp. 350, 364.

Glasgow to Tarbert, see steamer route, p. 358. For coaches see p. viiib.

This long and curious peninsula must always have formed a

great obstacle to those who wished to pass quickly about on

these seas. It is 40 miles long, with an average breadth of

7 miles, and is traversed by a long backbone of heathery hills

sloping to the sea on each side.

On leaving Tarbert we cross the narrow neck of land, with

the ruins of the castle above, and come out on the shores of

West Loch Tarbert, where the little steamer is making ready to

go to May. The total distance between Campbeltown and

Tarbert is 38 miles (coach fare 10s.), and the road on the west

coast is mainly level or undulating with one or two hills, to be

noted on the way. The road on the east coast is extremely
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hilly, and the surface not so good. At about 6 miles from

Tarbert, just before Whitehouse, a road goes off east and crosses

the peninsula to the other side. 2 miles from the point of

intersection is Skipness, a small fishing hamlet with the ruins of

an old castle. It must have been at one time a place of consider-

able strength, but there is no history recorded of it, though its

origin is attributed to the Danes.

At Whitehouse there is a post-office. From here the main road

rises steeply, and with a short down hill mounts again over

400 feet, before falling to Clachan, where are Ballinakill

House and JDunskeig Bay. After this the way is level through

Ballochroy to Tayinloan, and the green island of Gigha is seen

very clearly a few miles from the shore. Gigha (pron. Ghee-a)

is about 6 miles by 2 in length and breadth. Inn at

Ardminish. Though the island looks so low-lying and green, its

coasts are rocky, and there are several remarkable caves in it.

At Tayinloan we are just half-way to Campbeltown, and with

the exception of a hill near Glenbam, there is nothing to remark

upon for the next 1 5 miles ; then the road turns inland by
Kilkenzie, leaving on the right the famous golf course of

Machrihanish (Hotel : Ugadale Arms, large, modern), one of the

best known in the kingdom. The course is eighteen holes and

the length somewhat under 3^ miles. There is also a ladies'

links. A light railway runs between Machrihanish and
Campbeltown, and besides the hotel at Machrihanish there is

quite a colony of houses at the south end of the bay. At one

time the place was famous for its saltpans, a name by which it

is still known locally.

Campbeltown

Hotels : White Hart ; Argyll Arms ; Alma (C).

Campbeltown can be reached direct by steamer (see p. xiv) as

well as via Tarbert. It is the chief town in Argyllshire (pop.

7626), and is a fairly busy place, being the greatest whisky distil-

ling centre in the United Kingdom, having no less than twenty
distilleries. It is also the head of the fishing district between
Fort William and Inveraray, carries on shipbuilding, and
publishes two weekly newspapers, the Argyllshire Herald, and



366 CAMPBELTOWN

Campbeltown Courier, The town is spread over a large area, and
divided into three districts, the town proper, Lochend, and
Dalintober. The principal street is Main Street, where there

are the two hotels and post-office. Midway up Main Street is

a fine Celtic Cross, one of the most famous of its kind, richly

carved.

Two other prominent buildings in the town are the

U.F. Church in the Graeco-Italian style with a massive tower

and lantern dome, and the Public Library and Museum opened

in 1899.

The Library contains the records of the Challenger expedition

in a set of forty-eight volumes.

History : The place is said to be the site of a cell of St. Kiara, the patron

saint of the district. The name became Kilkerran, and the Lords of the

Isles made it one of their principal strongholds, rechristening it Kirdoch-

Jcerran. When the clans were sent by the king to dispossess Mac-
donald, in the reign of James V., they attacked and destroyed Kilkerran,

and it was afterwards granted, with the rest of the neighbourhood, to the

Campbells. In 1700, under the name of Campbeltown, it was constituted a

royal burgh.

The deeply-indented loch, at the head of which the town
stands, is still farther protected by the island of Davaar, where

there is a lighthouse, and a mural painting (modern) of Our
Lord on the Cross ; this is in a cave in a very striking position

and worth seeing. The idea originated in a dream of the

artist's.

Campbeltown is not at the extremity of Kintyre, which

bulges out beyond it into the well-known headland called the

Mull. A road runs across southward through Conie Glen to

Southend (eighteen-hole golf course), overlooking the island of Sanda.

Not far from Southend is Dunaverty, "The Rock of Blood,''

where once stood a stronghold of the Lords of the Isles, where

Angus, then chief, entertained Bruce in 1306. In the 17th

century General Leslie, of the Covenanters' army, besieged and

took it, and killed the garrison of 300 men ; not a vestige of the

castle now remains. The Mull stands up boldly and grandly ; it

is only 13 miles from Ireland.

About 10 miles from Campbeltown, north, is Saddell, in a

deep valley. The ruins of an ancient abbey here are picturesque

as well as interesting. The abbey was founded about the end
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of the 1 2 th century for Cistercian monks ; not far off is the tower of

Saddell Castle, with the modern house close to it. In spite of

the hills to be surmounted, this little place is one worthy of a

visit. A few miles farther on is Torrisdale Bay and Castle, and then

the well-sheltered Bay of Carradale with its village and pier

;

near it is Saddell Church with some old sculptured stones in the

churchyard ; also Carradale House.

GLASGOW TO CALLANDER through the Trossachs.

See maps, pp. 374, 394.

One can go by either the Caledonian or North British

railways to Balloch at the south end of Loch Lomond, both lines

starting from the low level of the respective stations, or cycle by
the road to Dumbarton, and thence northward. As far as

Dumbarton, see p. 352. About 2 miles north of that place

both road and rail pass through the village of Benton, which

contains an obelisk to the memory of Tobias Smollett the novelist,

who was born in the neighbourhood at Dalquhurn, Cardross, in

1721.

It will be remembered that his father was the youngest son of Sir James
Smollett of Bonhill House and had made an imprudent match. Tobias
cherished resentful memories of his grandfather, whose harshness he has
greatly exaggerated in the partly autobiographical tale of Roderick Random.

The villages of Bonhill and Alexandria are very busy with

bleaching and printing works, in which the chief source of

power is the river Leven. Smollett, whose recollections of the

place of his childhood were very vivid, has left on record of

the Leven the lines :

—

Pure stream, in whose transparent wave
My youthful limbs I used to lave.

It need hardly be said that it would take a bold person to

wash in the stream as it is at present ! Shortly before Balloch

Tulliechewan Castle (modern), the seat of W. M'O. Campbell, is

passed. Balloch {Hotels : Balloch ; Tulliechewan (C. and temp.)).

The train runs straight on to the pier where the steamer is waiting
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LOOH LOMOND

Loch Lomond is the best known of all the Scottish lochs,

and though it is 3 miles shorter than Loch Awe, and lacks

the romance thrown over Loch Katrine by Scott's genius, it

is beautiful and varied enough to charm the most jaded taste.

Its proximity to Glasgow enables hundreds to pour on to its

shores, and fill its steamers every holiday ; but this, though

certainly detracting from its delights to a lover of nature, also

proves a source of joy and of education to multitudes who
would not otherwise have opportunities for seeing natural

beauty. The loch was anciently known as Loch Leven, from

the stream that flows out at its southern extremity, but the

name Lomond seems to have been used contemporaneously in

various forms, and is very ancient.

At its southern end the loch is about 5 miles in width

and bears on its surface a perfect archipelago of islands, once

thickly populated, now mostly left to deer and other wild

creatures. There is a tradition of a floating island repeated by
many an ancient traveller, but all trace of this phenomenon
has disappeared. The waters of the loch contain salmon, sea-

trout, lake -trout, pike, and perch, and the fishing is free:

as, however, the charge for a boat is usually 2s. a day

and for a man 5 s., the sport is not inexpensive. One of the

best roads in Scotland for cyclists runs the whole length of the

loch on the west, but for the first few miles this is cut off from

views of the water by the walls and grounds of private houses,

which is a drawback. Steamers run thrice daily each day

and touch Balmaha, Luss, Rowardennan, Tarbet, Inversnaid, and

Ardlui, thus crossing from one side to the other and affording

every opportunity for a varied prospect.

On leaving the pier, Balloch and Boturich Castles are seen on

the right, and left is the entrance to Glenfruin, " The Glen of

Sorrow," to which a terrible history is attached.

The Macgregors, outlaws among the clans, whose hands were against

every man, had come down in force against the Colquhouns of Luss. A
terrible fight ensued, sanguinary even in the days of broadsword and

hand-to-hand ferocity. In this the Macgregors were completely victorious,

but the contest was marked by a deplorable event, for a number of

youths of good family happened to be with their tutor near the scene of
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the tattle and were hurried for safety into a barn. These were put

under the charge of a Macgregor, who, misunderstanding his instructions,

murdered them all—a deed which brought savage vengeance on his clan.

Proudly our pibroch has thrill'd in Glen Fruin,

And Bannochar's groans to our slogan replied
;

Glen Luss and Rossdhu, they are smoking in ruin,

And the best of Loch Lomond lie dead on her side.

Lady of the Lake.

Overlooking Glen Fruin are the ruins of the castle of

Bannachra, once the residence of the Colquhouns, the chief of

which clan was slain here by a Macfarlane in 1592. Nearer

the water is the splendid modern mansion of Arden (James

Lumsden). Farther north, just where the Helensburgh road

comes in {see p. 414), is the wooded promontory of Rossdhu, seat

of the Colquhouns {pron. Cohoon) of Luss.

Sir Iain Colquhoun, the present head of the family, represents two
of the most ancient lines in the country, being able to trace back his

ancestors on the Colquhoun side to 1190, and those on the Luss side to

1150. In or about 1368 the two families were united by the marriage of

Robert Colquhoun with the heiress of Luss.

The old castle of Rossdhu was at one time the chief residence

of the Colquhouns, and a fragment of its walls still stands upon
the headland of that name. About the end of the 18th

century a new mansion was built, which has since been greatly

enlarged. Not far off are the Court Hill and Gallows Hill,

where the chieftain executed justice and punishment. The
slogan of the clan means " Knoll of the Willow," a tree which
still grows in the district. But while the Colquhouns occupied

the south end of the loch, the " wild Macfarlane's plaided clan
"

held the northern.

The steamer keeps at first to the eastern side of the loch

and goes between the mainland and the large island of

Inchmurrin, preserved as a deer-park. At the south end are

the ruins of a castle, once a residence of the Earls of Lennox.

Here Isabel, Duchess of Albany, retired when all her menkind,
father, husband, and sons, had been executed at Stirling in

1424. On the mainland is Ross Priory (Sir Alexander Leith-

Buchanan, Bt.), where Scott wrote part of Rob Roy, and Buchanan
Castle (Duke of Montrose) lies farther northward, the grounds
being bounded by the Endrick water. We then pass two tiny

islets and go between Glairinch, from which the Buchanans
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took their slogan, and Inch Oaillach, which means the " Island

of Women," so called from its being the site of a nunnery.

There are the ruins of a church upon it, and an old burial-

ground of the Macgregors.

The steamer touches at Balmaha pier, which is at the foot of

Conic Hill (1175 ft.). The pass of Balmaha was one of the best

known of many roads by which the wild Highlanders descended

to raid the Lowlanders in the old stormy days. Then we cross

over to Luss, passing Inchfad (Long Island), Inchcruin (Round
Island), and between Inchlonaig (Isle of Yew-trees), well named,

and now a deer-park, and Inchconnachan. On the other side of

Inchconnachan is Inch Tavannach (Monk's Island). To the

south is Bossdhu, already mentioned. Luss (hotel) stands at

the foot of Glen Luss, which rises steeply into high hills. The
archipelago is soon left behind, the shores of the loch narrow,

and the scenery becomes bolder as we approach Bowardennan

(hotel) on the eastern shore. The ascent of Ben Lomond
(3192 ft.) is generally made from here. Though it may also

be made from Inversnaid, where the distance is greater.

The ascent from Kowardennan to the top is about 3J miles, and is not

very stiff considering the rise. Ponies may be hired at a charge of 10s.

each. The scene from the summit is very extensive on a clear day, including

the chain of the Grampians, and on the west the Argyllshire hills, while

south and east is the fertile lowland district. The counties of Renfrew,

Lanark, and Ayr, the Firth of Clyde, and the islands of Bute and Arran

may be seen to the south. Stirlingshire and the Lothians, with the

windings of the Forth to the east, and many points of interest may be

made out in detail by those with good eyesight.

There is a ferry (6d.) over the loch from Rowardennan to

Inverbeg, at the foot of Glen Douglas, where there is an inn,

and the loch at this point is not more than a mile across.

Skirting the base of Ben Lomond a great cavern in the cliffs is

pointed out as Bob Boy's Prison. Then we reach Tarbet (hotel)

on the west side, where the railway turns down to the loch.

There is here a very large hotel, no boarding terms in the

season, prices the same as at Inversnaid and Stronachlachar.

The name Tarbet, as has been stated in another place, means draw-

boat, and the story goes that Haco, King of Norway, in 1263 entered

Loch Long, and sailing to the head made his men drag the high-prowed
boats over the narrow neck of land at this place and launch them on

Loch Lomond, after which he killed and plundered the people living on

the islands.
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Tarbet was for long the headquarters of the Macfarlanes, who were the

chieftains of the northern part of the loch for many generations. The
Earl of Lennox came from this clan, who were almost as renowned as the

Macgregors for their desperate deeds (see p. 381). They were hostile to

the clan of Lorn, and as the Lorn country was so near there were perpetual

raids and recriminations. Their earliest residence was on the isle of

Invetniglas, and later, when that fortress was destroyed, on an outer islet

about 2J miles above Inveruglas (see below). When they settled on the

mainland, it was at Tarbet, after which they moved to Arrochar House,

which was known as New Tarbet for some time.

The Inveruglas Water runs down from Loch Sloy, securely

hemmed in by mighty hills, among which towers Ben Voirlich

(3092 ft.). From Tarbet the steamer crosses to Inversnaid,

where those bound for the Trossachs disembark. As for the

remaining distance to the head of the loch there is not much to

comment on. The Island Vow still retains some fragments of

the Macfarlanes' stronghold. This name is a corruption of

Eilan Vhow, meaning " The Brownie's Isle," and is referred to

in Wordsworth's "The Brownie." A little farther on, near

the railway, there is a curious rock called the Pulpit Rock, with

a cell cut in its face so that it could be used for open-air

preaching, and at the head of the loch is Ardlui (see p. 415).

Not a mile from Inversnaid, on the same shore, is Rob Roy's

Cavern, for many are the associations of the wild chief with this

district. Kob's own designation was of Inversnaid, but about

1712, probably in consequence of some bolder act of depredation

than usual, he found it advisable to remove his headquarters

farther into the mountains.

At Inversnaid is a large modern comfortable hotel, terms

per tariff in season. It is impossible not to reflect here on the

difference of scene since the time when Wordsworth and his

sister made their tour in 1803; then they were thankful to be

received into a rough shieling and get porridge to eat. It was
a girl he saw here who suggested to Wordsworth his poem " To
a Highland Girl." There is a splendid fall of water, as the Arklet

leaps to the loch, in the hotel grounds, a stone's throw from the

windows, and a charming walk up by the wooded banks of the

foaming water for a mile or more. Many of the wanderings of

a more important man than Bob Roy took place in this district,

for Robert Bruce was often hunted among the woods from one

refuge to another, and at last with difficulty escaped the
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dangerous neighbourhood of his bitter enemies the men of

Lorn.

Coaches meet the steamers in the summer, running backwards

and forwards five and six times daily between Inversnaid and
Stronachlachar on Loch Katrine. The beginning of the way is

a very steep ascent indeed, which continues for long, and thereafter

the whole distance to the point where the Loch Ard road joins

it is a continual rise, though less severe than at first. Distance

5 miles and surface bad to fair. About 1 mile from Inver-

snaid are passed the remains of the fort built by King William

to overawe the rebels. There is nothing now to suggest a build-

ing, only a few earthworks remain. On the route is passed

Loch Arklet, which lies too flat between its shores to be very pretty,

but nevertheless the scenery is attractive with open moorland

and rising hills. At the north end is Corriearklet, a favourite

residence of Bob and his wife Helen. At less than a mile from

Stronachlachar a road goes to Loch Ard and Aberfoyle (see

p. 343 reverse way), and we drop down to Stronachlachar (hotel),

near which the roads are unspeakable after rain. The pier is in

the hotel grounds, and the hotel itself one of the same kind as

at Inversnaid, where every comfort can be had by paying for it.

Post and telegraph office in hotel.

At the risk of being wearisome, one cannot refrain from returning again to

Dorothy Wordsworth and her brother as they stood on the shores of this

windy inhospitable spot—no hotel then—and wondered how in the world

they were to get on to Callander
;
great mirth they provoked amid the

haymakers whom they found at last in a field near the head of the loch,

when they said they had come to see the Trossachs. Little did those simple-

minded country folk guess the time ahead when a constant stream of rich

tourists should pour through their wild district on that same quest.

LOCH KATRINE

Scott suggests that this name arose from the hordes of caterans

or robbers who made the wooded banks and surrounding hills

their eyries from which to descend and rob the Lowlander ; but

this derivation cannot be seriously accepted. The loch is 8 miles

long, and has an average breadth of about f mile, but its sinuous

shape and the deep indentations of its shores make it appear larger.

The steamboat makes several trips daily between Stronachlachar

and the Trossachs, and there is no continuous road by either side,
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those who want to go through direct to Callander must use the

steamer (fare 2s. 6d.). A road runs for part of the way along the

north side and then degenerates into a foot-track, which might be

used for a light conveyance, but is quite unsuitable for cycles. The

loch belongs to the Duke of Montrose, the Earl of Ancaster, and Mrs.

MacGregor of Glengyle. It contains good trout, char, and pike,

and can be fished by visitors at the Stronachlachar and Trossachs

hotels, with a charge of 5s. per day for boat and boatman. Glen-

gyle was the birthplace of Rob Eoy. Scott's Lady of the Lake has

added glamour and romance to this beautiful loch, and no one who
goes there should fail to read that poem, and also the very clever

explanation of its topography by Sir G. B. Airy in our smaller

guide to The Trossachs.

One burnished sheet of living gold,

Loch Katrine lay beneath him rolled,

In all her length far winding lay,

With promontory, creek, and bay,

And islands that, empurpled bright

Floated amid the livelier light,

And mountains, that like giants stand,

To sentinel enchanted land.

Scott.

The full beauties of the loch are at the east end, where Ben

Venue, in mighty purple folds, rises from the water's edge, and

the foreground is occupied by the thickly-wooded shores of

Ellen's Isle.

The name of the island has given rise to several theories, but it probably
arose from Scott's unperfectly grasping the word Eilean, which merely means
an island. One account says that the Highlanders used the island as a

refuge from the ferocity of Cromwell's soldiers, one of whom swam across

to it, but was beheaded by Helen Stuart before he could gain firm footing

;

and it is suggested that from this " Helen" the name originated.

High up in the hills, to the west of Ben Yenue, is a tiny loch

called the Tinker's Loch, in which are many small trout. Nearly

opposite Ellen's Isle lies the famous Silver Strand, nearly hidden

now that the Glasgow waterworks have raised the level of the

water, and beyond it was the huge promontory which barred the

way to Fitz-James, but which has been blown partly away to

make room for the road. Every one who has time should walk
along this road on alighting from the steamer, and continue some,

distance until they get a fine view of Ben Venue.
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High to the south, huge Ben Venue
Down to the lake in masses threw
Crags, knolls, and mounds, confusedly hurled.

The fragments of an earlier world,

Scott.

which is a very good account of his bewildering mystery of out-

line. This great mountain has two peaks rising respectively to

2393 and 2386 feet, and only separated by a quarter of a mile.

Opposite is Ben A'an, only 1 750 feet. On the south side of Loch

Katrine is the station of the Glasgow waterworks, opened by

Queen Victoria in 1859.

There are one or two ways of ascending Ben Venue, but, as

in many other cases, the view from the summit is not extensive

owing to the great bulk of the mountain itself. The ascent may
be made by the Pass of Bealach-nambo, the " Pass of the Cattle,"

which is reached by the path to the sluices. By this route one

circles half round the great hill and makes the ascent from

the north. It may also be approached by the Pass of Achray.

The Goblin's Gave mentioned by Scott is impossible of

identification, for

The dell upon the mountain's crest

Yawned like a gash on warrior's breast,

evidently refers to Bealach-nambo.

Rates charged for hoats on the loch are Is. 6d., 2s. 6d., and 3s. 6d. for 1,

2, and 3 hours respectively (without boatman) ; or 5s. for the whole day.

Over four persons, 6d. extra per hour.

A coach meets the steamer to take passengers to the Trossachs

Hotel and Callander. The road at first is of exquisite loveliness,

lying right through the richly-wooded ground of the Trossachs,

which name signifies " bristled territory." Sir Walter Scott speaks

of " Trossachs shaggy glen," which is about as good a short

description as could be given. Near the head of Loch Achray

is the road to Aberfoyle (see p. 375). The Trossachs Hotel belongs

to the same proprietor as the hotel at Inversnaid, terms as on

p. 381. The palatial building is splendidly situated ; in it there

is a post and telegraph office. Loch Achray affords good sport

to visitors, and boats are kept for their use. The fishing is

free.



THE TROSSACHS

Environs and Excursions.

The ascent of Ben A'an is not stiff, and is easily accomplished from

the hotel. It is begun by going up from the laundry at the back of the

building and turning to the left after the first rocky height is gained, and
almost due north-westward in continuation. There is also a pleasant

foot-track round Loch Achray. For those who like long mountain walks

there are many to be reached from Glenfinlas. On leaving the hotel

follow the Callander road for about a mile and a half to the Brig o' Turk,

then turn left till A chnahardFarm is reached. About \ mile from the main
road a series of cascades will be seen, and above the stream rises the rock

called "The Hero's Targe" in The Lady of the Lake, canto iv. From
the farm the ascent of Ben Ledi (2875 ft.) may be made, or crossing the

stream one may continue straight ahead northward over high ground and
descend into Glen Buckie, thence road to Balquhidder, or turning (right)

over the shoulder of a hill drop down on the charming little village of

Strathyre (see p. 379) ; total distance from Achnahard 7 miles.

Trossachs to Aberfoyle (6m.)

A toll of sixpence apiece, a ridiculous impost, is here demanded from
cyclists ; for horse vehicles, Is. 6d. and upwards, nominally for the

expenses of making up the road, which must have been paid over and
over again.

The road breaks off from the Trossachs at the head of Loch Achray,
and following the loch round for a short time climbs up a beautiful

valley with heathery moors on all sides and splendid views of the hills,

including the Trossachs, backed by distant Ben More and the mass
of Ben Ledi on the north. Near the summit is a wonderful peep of

Loch Drunkie, lying deep in a cleft ; not far off is the clear well known
as Rob Boy's Well, and then with great steepness the road falls, leaving

on the right the slate quarries of Aberfoyle, and descends to Aberfoyle
itself. Many people take this route in preference to continuing by
Callander, and catch a North British train at Aberfoyle ; for Aberfoyle
and district, see p. 341.

Continuing now from the Trossachs Hotel on the main
route to Callander, we pass by an excellent bit of road along

the shores of Loch Achray to Brig o' Turk, where " the head-

most horseman rode alone." Here there is a little hamlet,

where lodgings of a simple kind can be found. From here

southward a track goes to Loch Drunkie (preserved) and along

by Loch Vennachar. After Brig o' Turk is Lanrick Mead
(right), the mustering-place of Clan Alpine (Macgregors). The
road rapidly worsens, and for the rest of the way to Callander

is a disgrace to the neighbourhood. Motor cars are forbidden ;

6
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perhaps because of its narrowness, perhaps because those who
are responsible fear that an outcry would be raised against

them for allowing this much-frequented road to welter in mud
and dust. Loch Vennachar, in spite of its high-sounding name

5

and Sir Walters

Here Vennachar in silver flows,

There ridge on ridge Ben Ledi rose,

is distinctly disappointing. In fact, having reached Brig o'

Turk, the traveller has seen far the best part of the trip. At
the end of the loch can be seen the somewhat fanciful erections

at the sluices connected with the waterworks. These are at

the old Coilantogle Ford, the scene of the fight between the

disguised king and Roderick Dhu, so spiritedly told in the

Lady of the Lake. Fishing is free, but the charge for a boatman

5 s. a day ; trout, pike, and perch are caught here. The
slopes of Ben Ledi (2875 ft.) rise on the north—the name
means the Mount of God, and is supposed to have originated

in the Beltane mysteries celebrated on it. Then the large

Hydropathic comes into view, amid trees on the south, and

the road passes over the railway line and the river Leny, by

Kilmahog Bridge, and joins the main road north, in which we
turn sharply (right) for Callander.

CALLANDER
Hotels : Dreadnought Arms (C) ; An caster Arms ; Hydropathic ; and four or more

Temperance. Pop. 1500.

The Dreadnought Arms, which stands close to the station,

is quite the best hotel in the town (terms, 12s. per day), and is

very comfortable and not pretentious. At the temperance

hotels, which are small, one can find board at the reasonable

charge of about two guineas per week. The Hydropathic is

one of those immense buildings so popular in Scotland, where

the amusement of the guests forms a principal consideration.

Callander itself stands in the valley of the Teith, and is

rather relaxing, but the surroundings are beautiful. It has

grown of late years more and more popular with holiday guests,

who find in its unspoiled simplicity and surroundings much
that is attractive. Coaches run in all directions, many times
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daily in the season, the principal route being, of course, that

across the Trossachs.

Environs.—The favourite place for a stroll in the immediate neigh-

bourhood is the Falls of Bracklinn, about 2 miles north-east. They
are on the Keltie Water, and the walk to them is pleasant, and com-
mands fine views as it rises higher and higher. One may pass to the

east, either down the main street or the parallel road above, and turn

left at the end, whence the way cannot be missed. A rustic bridge has

been thrown over the chasm, down which the water dashes itself with

force from a height of 50 feet. By the same track, instead of turning

down to the Falls, good walkers may go on up the Keltie valley to

where the road ends at Luirgeann, and thence by a foot-track right

over to Glenartney, or straight on, passing near the summit of Ben
Voirlich, by a tremendous walk to Loch Earn, near Ardvorlich.

The route from Callander northward has been described as

part of the Callander and Oban line (see p. 378).

Callander to Dunblane and Stirling

There is a Roman camp shortly after leaving Callander, then road

and rail both cross the Keltie Water, which, not much farther down,
joins the Teith. There are roads on both sides of the Teith, equally

good, and roads, rail, and river run together in the valley past Lanrick
Castle (Sir Robert Jardine, Bt.) to Doune. 3 miles from Lanrick

is Cambusmore, where Sir Walter Scott passed several summers as a

boy. Adjoining Cambusmore is Gart, the Highland resort of the

famous Lord John Russell.

Doune (Hotels : Woodside, Temperance (C)).— A quaint and
pleasant little place, with a fine bridge, gifted by Robert Spittel, tailor

to James IV. 's queen, as an inscription tells us, beside which he has
boldly cut a pair of scissors as his crest. About half a mile below the

bridge, on a peninsula formed by the junction of the Ardoch and the

Teith, stands the old Castle of Doune, still a majestic pile, with its

two massive square towers, turrets, and high battlemented walls.

The modern house, Doune Lodge (Earl of Moray), stands about a

mile away, and the owner spent a large amount of money on putting
the castle into good repair. It is now open to visitors on payment of

a small fee to the caretaker.

Doune belonged to Murdoch, Duke of Albany, who governed the
country while the young King James I. was still prisoner in England,
and who probably built the castle. His overweening ambition made
him an early mark for the vengeance of the king on his return, and
he was executed at Stirling within sight of his own castle turrets,

while his lands and residence were forfeited to the king. Several
queens of Scotland, including Queen Mary, are said to have used the
castle as a royal residence. It is mentioned in Waverley ; and it was for

some time the only fortress held by the Jacobites in Scotland. J ohn
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Home tlie poet, author of Douglas, was taken prisoner at the battle

of Falkirk, and with five comrades imprisoned here, but they found
means to escape after a time-honoured recipe by twisting their bed-

clothes into ropes and dropping from the v/indows.

Due south of Doune is Blair Drummond (Lieut. -Col. H. E. Stirling-

Home-Drummond) ; also Deanston House and mills.

From Doune to Aberfoyle and the Menteith district, see p. 341.

On leaving Doune the line travels due eastward to Dunblane.

Between the two places it crosses Ardoch Burn, which gives its name
to the famous camp [see Scotland, E.G., p. 110).

Dunblane (Hotels : Stirling Arms (C) ; Hydropathic (see Scotland,

E.C., p. 111)).—Here comes in the line from Perth by the side of the

Allan Water, which has already been fully described.

Between Dunblane and Stirling are six miles (see, Scotland, S.E.),

in which we pass Bridge of A llan.
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Ardnadam, 357
Ardrishaig, 361

Ardrossan, 332

Argyll's Bowling-Green, 344

Arran, 346
Arrocnar, 344

Ashton, 356
Avondale, Castle of, 323

Ayr, 334
Alloway Kirk, 337

Ballochmyle House, 339

Barskimming House, 340

Burns's Cottage, 336
Burns's Monument, 338
Castle, 335
Mount Oliphant, 337

Mungo's Well, 337
Rozelle, 336
Twa Brigs, 334
Wallace Tower, 334

Baillie, Joanna, 321

Ballinakil House, 365
Balloch, 367

Castle, 368
Balmaha, 370
Bannachra, 369
Barr House, 331

Beith, 331

Ben A'an, 375
Arthur, 344
Ledi, 375, 376
Lomond, 370
Venue, 374

Ben Voirlich, 371
Blackwaterfoot, 350
Blair Drummond, 378
Blairmore, 343
Blantyre, priory, 32]

Bonhill, 367
Bonnington Linn, 325
Bothwell Bridge, 321

Castle, 320
Boturich Castle, 368
Bowmore, 363
Bracklinn, Falls of, 373
Bridgend, 363
Brodick, 347

Castle, 347
Bruce, Robert, 348, 355
Buchanan Castle, 341, 369
Bucklyvie, 341
Burns, 336
Bute, 358

Maids of, 359

Caerwinning Hill, 331
Cairndow, 345
Callander, 376
Cambusmore, 377
Campbell, Thomas, 352
Campbeltown, 365
Campsie Glen, 341
Cardross, 355
Carradale House, 367
Carrick Castle, 344
Cartland Crags, 326
Castle Dykes, 326

Semple Loch, 330
Toward, 358

Catrine, 340
Clachan, 365
Clairinch, 369
Clyde, Falls of, 325
Clydebank, 353
Coatbridge, 323
"Cobbler," The, 344
Colintraive, 359
Colonsay, 364
Conic Hill, 370
Corehouse Castle, 325
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Corra Linn, 325
Corrie, 349
Cowal, 358
Cowlairs, 341
Craignethan Castle, 326
Crookston Castle, 330
Cumbrae Islands, 332
Cumnock, 341

Dalmuir, 353
Dairy, 331
Dippen Head, 351
Doon River, 337
Douglas Castle, 327
Doune, 377

Castle of, 377
Lodge, 377

Duchray Castle, 343
Dumbarton, 353
Dunaverty, 366
Dunblane, 378
Dunderave Castle, 346
Dundonald Castle, 333
Dunglass Castle, 353
Dunoon, 357
Dunskeig Bay, 365

Eglinton Castle, 331
Elderslie, 330
Ellen's Isle, 373
Erskine House, 353

Fairlie, 332

Gailes, 296, 333
Gait, John, 333
Gartness, 341
Gigha, 365
Glasgow, 296

Alexandra Park, The, 311

Art Gallery and Museum, 314

Cathedral, The, 306
City Chambers, 302
Glasgow Green, 305
Kelvingrove Park, 312
Langside, 318
Mitchell Library, 303
Necropolis, The, 310
Newton, 320
River, The, 319
Royal Botanic Gardens, The, 316

Saltmarket, 304
South Side, 318
St. Rollox, 311

Tron Steeple, 304
University, The, 312

Glen Buckie, 375
Caladh House, 359
Easdale, 351
Rosa, 348
Sannox, 349
Shira, 346

Glencroe, Pass of, 345
Glendaruel, 359

Glenfinlas, 375
Glenfruin, 368
Goatfeli, 348
Gourock, 356
Greenan Castle, 335
Greenock, 356

Hamilton, 321
Palace, 322

Holy Island, Arran, 351
Loch, 343, 357

Hunter's Quay, 343, 357

Inch Caillach, 370
Inchmahone, 342
Inchmurrin, 369
Innelian, 357
Inverbeg, 370
Inverneil, 361
Inversnaid, 371
Inveruglas, 371
Irvine, 333
Island of Inchmarnock, :

Islay, 362
House, 363

Johnstone, 330
Jura, 363

Karnes, 360
Kean, Edmund, 358
Kelburne Castle, 332
Keltie Water, 377
Kilbarchan, 330
Kilbirnie Castle, 331
Kildalton House, 363
Kildonan Castle, 351
Kilmory Castle, 361
Kilmun Hills, 344
Kilpatrick, Old, 353
Kilwinning, 331
Kintyre, Mull of, 364
Kirn, 343, 357
Knapdale, 361

Hills, 386
Kyles of Bute, 359

Lake Menteith, 342
Lamlash, 351
Lanark, 324
Langbank, 355
Lanrick Castle, 377
Largs, 332
Law Castle, 332
Lennoxtown, 341
Loch Ard, 343

Arklet, 372
Chon, 343
Drunkie, 375
Eck, 357
Fad, 358
Fyne, 360
Goil, 344
Katrine, 372
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Locli Lomond, 364
Lomond, Islands of, 370
Ranza, 349
Restil, 345
Ridden. 359
Sloy, 346
Striven, 359
Swen, 361
Vennachar, 376

Lochgilphead, 361
Lochgoilhead, 344
Lochwinnoch, 330
Lorn, Cobblers of, 36
Luss, 370

Macfarlanes, Clan of the, 345
Machrie, 350
Machrihanish, 365
Mauchline, 339
Millport, 332
Mount Stuart, 359
Muirkirk, 341

Newark Castle, 355
Newton, 320, 335

Old Kilpatrick, 353
Ormidale, 359
Oronsay, 364
Otter Ferry, 357

Paisley, 328
Abbey, 328

Paps of Jura, 363
Pirnmill, 350
Port Askaig, 363

Bannatyne, 359
Ellen, 362
-Glasgow, 355

Portincaple, 344
Prestwick, 334

Queen Mary, 330, 342

Rathlin, 348
Renfrew, 352
Rob Roy, 343, 371
Ross, Sir John, 326

Ross Priory, 369
Rossdhu, 369
Rothesay, 358

Castle, 358
Rowardennan, 370

Saddell, 366
Castle, 367

Saltcoats, 332
Sanda, 366
Sandbank, 357
Scott, 369
Shisken, 350
Skipness, 365
Smollett, Tobias, 367
Southend, 366
South Hall, 359
Stevenston, 331
Stonebyres, Fall of, 326
Stonefield, 361
Strathaven, 323
Strathblane, 341
Stronachlachar, 372
Strone, 357

Tannahill, 330
Tarbert (Kintyre), 360
Tarbert (Lomond), 370
Tarbolton, 338
Tighnabruaich, 359, 360
Torrisdale Bay, 367

Castle, 367
Toward Point, 358
Troon, 333
Trossachs Hotel, 374

The, 374
Tulliechewan Castle, 367

Uddingston, 320

Wallace, William, 324
West Kilbride, 332
Whistlefield Inn, 357
Whitehouse, 365
Whiteinch, 352
Whiting Bay, 351
Wordsworth, 371

THE END
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ADVEETISEMENTS.
Hotels arranged Alphabetically according to Locality.

Two Popular Hotels
In Central London

NEAR THE BRITISH MUSEUM.

KINGSLEY HOTEL
Hart Street, Bloomsbury Square, LONDON.

OPPOSITE THE BRITISH MUSEUM.

THACKERAY HOTEL
Great Russell Street, LONDON.

These large and well-appointed Temperance Hotels have

Passenger Lifts. Bathrooms on every Floor. Lounges & spacious

Dining, Drawing, Writing, Reading, Billiard, and

Smoking Rooms.

Perfect Sanitation. Fireproof Floors. Telephones.

Night Porters.

Bedroom, attendance, and Table d'Hdte Breakfast,

Single, from 5/6.

With Table d'Hdte Dinner, from 8/6.

Full Tariff and Testimonials on application.

Telegraphic Addresses—
Kingsley Hotel, Thackeray Hotel,

"Bookcraft, London." "Thackeray, London."

Telephones—
Museum 1232 (2 lines).

|
Museum 1230 (2 lines).



2 ABERFELDY ABERFOYLE AMULREE ANGLESEY.

ABERFELDY.

STATION HOTEL
/CONVENIENT Centre for Visiting the Birks and Falls of Moness, Fortingall,

Glenlyon, Loch Tay, Kenmore, etc. Visitors will have every attention paid to

their Comfort and Convenience, combined with Strictly Moderate Charges.

Trout Fishing on the River Tay.

Complete Posting Establishment. Excellent Golf Course. Garage.

Telephone No. 9. ROBERT MENZIES, Proprietor.

ABERFOYLE.

BAILIE NICOL JARVIE HOTEL.
FIRST-CLASS accommodation for Visitors, Coaches to and from the

Trossachs daily in connection with Steamer on Loch Katrine. Boats
on Loch Ard and Loch Chon for Fishing and Pleasure. Billiards. Golf.

Croquet. Posting. Garage. Petrol.

Aberfoyle Railway Station, Post and Telegraph Offices two minutes'

Walk from Hotel,

Telegrams—" blair, hotel, aberfoyle." A. BLAIR, Proprietor.

AMULREE (near Dunkeld), PERTHSHIRE.

AMULREE HOTEL.
900 feet above sea level. Situated near Sma' Glen, one of the most

beautiful situations in Scotland. Trout Fishing on Loch Freuchie and
River Braan free to Hotel Guests. Special Terms for Easter.

BOATS. POSTINC IN ALL ITS BRANCHES. TERMS MODERATE.

ACCOMMODATION FOR MOTORS. PETROL.

ROBERT DONALDSON, Proprietor.

ANGLESEY.

RED WHARF BAY.

BRYNTIRION BOARDING HOUSE.
Beautifully situated. South aspect. Quiet and bracing.

Commanding nice views. Six mins. Station,

TENNIS. GOLF. SEA FISHING.

Telegrams; Thorp, BryntiRJON, Pentraeth."



ARISAIG ARRAN BALLOCH BANAVIE BARMOUTH. 3

ARISAIG—ARISAIG HOTEL.
RECENTLY rebuilt, with modern Sanitation, and furnished as a First-Class Hotel,

including a good Billiard Room. Close to the Beach. Arisaig is beautifully
wooded, and is one of the healthiest and most lovely districts in the Highlands.
Pleasure drives, train and steamboat excursions, and nice walks. Golf Course £-mile

from Hotel. Boating and Sea Fishing. Post and Telegraph Office near. Boots meets
all trains. Malcolm MacLure, Lessee,

ISLE OF ARRAN.

CORRIE HOTEL.
BEAUTIFULLY situated close by sea, and nearest Hotel to the

famous Glen Sannox. Best centre for climbing the Arras Peaks.

Good Sea Fishing. Boating and Bathing. Golf and Billiards.

For Terms, etc., apply to

R. W. FORSYTH, Proprietor.
Telegrams: "Hotel, Corrie."

BALLOCH—FOOT OF LOCH LOMOND.

TULLICHEWAN HOTEL.
THIS HOTEL is picturesquely situated in its own extensive pleasure grounds. It is close to Balloch

Station and Pier, and occupies the most central position in the West of Scotland for Day Ex-
cursions to LOCH LOMOND, the TROSSACHS, and the CLYDE WATERING PLACES.

GARAGE, FISHING, BOATING, GOLFING, TENNIS.

BANAVIE.

LOCHIEL ARMS HOTEL.
Junction of Caledonian Canal Steamers and West Highland Railway.

ENTIRELY RECONSTRUCTED. LICHTED BY ELECTRICITY THROUGHOUT.
" From BANAVIE, the views of our exalted friend Ben Nevis are magnificent. The Banavie Hotel

is excellent ; the house is up-to-date in every respect ; the service is excellent. So to travellers by this
route I say, 'Put in here—the BANAVIE.' C'est mon avis."—Sir F. C. Burnand in Punch, 26th
September 1900. Fine New Seaside Golf Course.

FINEST RESIDENTIAL HOTEL IN WEST HIGHLANDS.
Special Boarding Terms for Families. Motor Bus Meets Trains and Steamers at

Fort-William. Large Garage, LP. Petrol and Oils Stocked.
For Terms apply Proprietor.

m* CAUTION—BBN NBVIS CAN BB SBBN FROM BANAVIB ONLY.

BARMOUTH, N. WALES.
The Riviera of the United Kingdom. Summer and Winter Residence.

THE CORS-Y-GEDOL HOTEL, THE MARINE HOTEL,

ST. ANN'S MANSIONS (Private Boarding House).

All facing the sea with a south-west aspect.

Specially reduced charges for the Winter Months, October to June inclusive.

GOLF LINKS. TARIFF ON APPLICATION.
P.O. Telephone—No. 2.



4 BATH BELFAST BEXHILL-ON-SEA.

BATH.

ROYAL HOTEL.
THIRST-CLASS Family Hotel. All Modern Improvements. Passenger
-*- Lift to all Floors. Private Garage with Pit adjoining Hotel.

Noted for First-Class Cuisine. On Official List of R.A.C.

Telegrams: "Primus, Bath." Telephone: "125, Bath."

Personal supervision by the Proprietress

—

Mrs. J. B. HUGHES.
Also Cobourg Hotel, Tenby, S. Wales.

MIDLAND STATION HOTEL,
BELFAST.

(Under the Management of the Midland Railway Company.)

Most comfortable and convenient Hotel in Belfast.

Beautifully furnished. Electric light throughout.
First-class Cuisine. Moderate charges.

Telegrams :
" Midotel, Belfast." Telephone, Nos. 4181, 4182.

Full particulars on application to

F. AUDINWOOD, Manager, Northern Counties Committee's Hotels, etc,

BELFAST.

THE WAVERLEY HOTEL,
ALBERT SQUARE.

(Opposite Fleetwood Steamer Landing.)

Most central for Commercial Gentlemen and Tourists, being convenient
to arrival and departure of Cross-Channel Steamers and Business Centre
of City. First-Class. Economical. Comfortable. Stock Room added.
Night Boots.

A. M. WOOD, Proprietress.

BEXHILL-ON-SEA
BRIGHT, BRACING, AND HEALTHY.

Fine open-air Band and Concert Colonnade on the Central Sea Front, also Kursaal.
High Class Bands. Fine Golf Links

;
pleasant Park close to Sea. Nice Tennis,

Croquet, Hockey, Cricket, and Bowls Grounds. Safe Sea Bathing. Extensive Sands
for Children. Excellent Sea Fishing and Prawning. If Hours from London—Two
Railways. Numerous Rural Retreats, Castles ; also St. Leonards, Hastings, and
Eastbourne close at hand by Rail, Motor Rail, and Trams.

For Furnished and Unfurnished Houses to Hire or to Buy,
Call upon, Write, Telegraph, or Telephone to

JOHN BRAY & CO., 5 Devonshire Place. (Established 1864.)
Seaside and Western end of L.B. & S.C. Railway Station.

Telephone—Bexhill. No. 14. Also at St. Leonards-on-Sea. Telegrams— " John Bray, Bexhill."



BOURNEMOUTH BOVEY TRACEY BRAY BRIDGE OF ALLAN. 5

BOURNEMOUTH.

BOURNEMOUTH HYDROPATHIC.
Ozonated Sun Lounge facing Sea, Fines, and Promenade.

SITUATED in by far the prettiest position on West Cliff, amongst
pines and magnificent scenery. Near Winter Gardens, Pier, Golf

Links, and best bathing part of Beach. Carlsbad, Vichy, etc. Waters.

Resident Physician. Massage : Nauheim, Light, and Electric Baths.

N.B.—Turkish, Sea-Water Baths, Billiards, and Gymnasium Free.

"High Frequency Installation." Telegrams: " Hydro, Bournemouth."

Book to Bournemouth West. Prospectus from Secretary.

BOVEY TRACEY.

DOLPHIN FAMILY HOTEL.
FIRST-CLASS Family Hotel. Modern conveniences. Electric Lighting.

Hot and Cold Water, Rooms lofty and well ventilated. Excellent

starting-point for seeing Dartmoor, being situated edge of the Moor.
Fishing near; Tickets can be obtained at Hotel.

Beautiful Walks. Grand Scenery. Posting. Motors.

Telephone No. 13. A. WRIGHT, Proprietor.

BRAY.

BRAY HEAD HOTEL, BRAY
Situated under Bray Head, and commanding magnificent

views of Dublin Bay.

REMODELLED, REDECORATED, and REFURNISHED.

SANITARY ARRANGEMENTS NEW.
Inclusive Terms from 2^ Guineas per week.

BRIDGE OF ALLAN.

CARMICHAEL'S HOTEL.
EVERY COMFORT FOR TOURISTS AND VISITORS.

SPECIAL BOARDING TERMS.
POSTING. GOLFING. CYCLING.
Motors for Hire. Hotel 'Bus meets all Trains.

J. CARMICHAEL, Proprietor.



6 BUNDORAN BUSHEY.

BUNDORAN, IRELAND.

THE CENTRAL HOTEL
(Late SWEENY'S).

THIS Hotel is beautifully situated, overlooking the sea, and combines
all the requirements of a First-Class Hotel, having been enlarged,

refurnished, and lighted by Electricity throughout.
Excellent Cuisine and Wines. Moderate Charges. Free Salmon and

Trout Fishing. Golf Links 2 minutes' walk from Hotel.

TOM GORMAN, Proprietor. Telegrams: CENTRAL HOTEL, Bundoran.

BUSHEY, HERTS. (16 miles from Euston.)

THE HALL.
MAGNIFICENT COUNTRY MANSION HOTEL.

100 Rooms.
CHARMING Summer and

Winter Country Resid-

ence. By Day or Week.
First-class fully licensed

Hotel standing in beautiful

park of 120 acres.

Fine Golf Links (18

holes) in Park facing the

Hotel.

Baths, Swim-Turkish

ming and ordinary baths

FREE.

Tennis, Croquet, and Putting Green.
For illustrated Tariff apply—B.. G. A. THIMM.

Telegrams :
" Welcome, Watford." Telephone : 17 Watford.

" A most pleasant and acceptable holiday souvenir."

—

Buxton Advertiser.

By
J. E. MORRIS.THE PEAK COUNTRY.

Containing 12 Full-Page Illustrations in Colour.

Large Square Demy 8vo. Bound in cloth with picture in colour od the cover.

Price is. 6d. net (by post Is. 10d.).

" It is an altogether charming book, well written and splendidly illustrated. "—Belper
Neivs.

" The book is from the pen of an interesting and clever writer, who deals with all the

beauties of Peakland with fine picturesque and vivid descriptive powers. "—Buxton
Herald.

Published by A. & C. BLACK, LTD., 4, 5, and 6, Soho Square, London, W.

And obtainable of all Booksellers.



BUXTON.

For the most pleasant cure for GOUT, RHEUMATISM,
SCIATICA, NEURITIS, etc., you cannot do better than try the

Buxton Waters and Treatments.

Buxton has the most perfect Bathing Establishment in Britain.

Radio- Active Waters and all the Continental "cures" available.

The highest town in Britain, its pure mountain air is in itself a

natural treatment, and no "after cure" is necessary.

The Buxton Cure, generally speaking, allows the patient to

participate in the Excursions and Amusements of which there are

ample to warrant any one visiting Buxton for purely pleasure

purposes. The following are a few examples of the good things

obtainable at Buxton :

—

Coaching and Motoring through the lovely Peak District, Golf,

Angling, Tennis, Croquet, Bowls, Gardens, Orchestral Concerts
thrice daily, Illuminated Fetes, Theatres, etc.

GUIDE
TO BUXTON

from J. M. SCOTT,
Publicity Bureau, BUXTON.

BUXTON HYDRO HOTEL,
BUXTON, DERBYSHIRE.

(Official Hotel to R.A.C., A.A. & M.U., and A.C.U.)

260 ROOMS.
OVERLOOKING GARDENS.

All Hydropathic and Electric Baths.

RADIUM Water Treatment for Diabetes, etc.

DIETETIC CLINIC (as at Lausanne, Baden-Baden, etc.).

Amusements every evening.

ORCHESTRA. Garage Adjoining.
Telegrams—" Comfortable."

TelepHones-NoB. 211 and 212.
G

-
W " BOSWORTH, Manager.



8 BUXTON-CARBIS BAY-CARNOUSTIE-(CHANNEL IS. See pp. 1 8, 2 1, & 43).

BUXTON, DERBYSHIRE.

First-Class Boarding Establishment.

The finest position in Buxton.

Electric Light.

Billiards.

v^§;

mWkW
Four

minutes' walk from

Baths, Garden, Churches,

Stations, etc. Table d'Hdte, 7.0 p.m.

SEPARATE TABLES.

Nat. Tel. 481. Telegrams—BALMORAL, BUXTON.
Mrs. LEE, Proprietress.

BUXTON.

THE BUCKINGHAM
High-Class Boarding Establishment.

Fine Position, Corner of St. John's Road,

Opposite Gardens Entrance.

Table d'Hote, 7.0. Separate Tables. Terms moderate. •

N.T. 439. Mr. and Mrs. CHAS. MARSHALL.

CARBIS BAY, CORNWALL.

THE CARBIS BAY HOTEL
( The only Licensed Hotel in Carbis Bay).

Close to the Beach and Station. Near the West Cornwall Golf Links
(the best in Cornwall).

SPACIOUS LOUNGE. WARM IN WINTER. BRACING IN SUMMER.
BATHING, Ac. BOATING. FISHING.

GOOD CENTRE FOR DAILY EXCURSIONS.
Telegraphic Address, "Comfort, Carbis Bay." Telephone 36, St. Ives.

Tariff on application to Manageress.
Book to Carbis Bay Station, G.W.R.

CARNOUSTIE.

STATION HOTEL
Adjoins Station, Beach, and Links.

LARGE DINING AND SMOKE ROOM. BILLIARDS.

GARAGE for 12 Cars. Boarding Terms.

Telephone 25. THOMAS HART, Proprietor.



CHELTENHAM CHESTER CHOLLERFORD CLEVEDON CLIFTON. 9

CHELTENHAM.

THE BAYSHILL PENSION.
(8, 9, 10 BAYSHILL TER., ST. GEORGES ROAD).

Central. Sunny. Convenient for Rail and Trams, and to
Promenade, Gardens, and Spa.

Telephone, 107S. Tariff on application to Proprietress, Mrs. Pinkerton.

"CHESTER
-

THE GROSVENOR HOTEL.
THE County Hotel. First Class. Situated in the centre of the City, close to the

Cathedral, " Rows," and other objects of interest.

Large Coffee and Reading Rooms ; Drawing Rooms for the convenience of Ladies
and Families; Smoking and Billiard Rooms. Magnificent Lounge. Electric Light
and Elevator.

Taxi-cabs, Open and close Carriages, and Posting in all its Branches. Motor
Inspection Pit and covered accommodation.

Omnibuses for the use of Visitors to the Hotel, and also the Hotel Porters, attend

the Trains. A Night Porter in attendance. Tariff to be had on application.

Nat. Tel., Nos. 705 and 706. Apply to Manager.

GEORGE HOTEL, Chollerford.
HUMSHAUGH-ON-TYNE.

"DEST centre for Roman Wall. Picturesque Scenery. Fishing. Boating. Carriages
•*-* for hire, also Motor Car.

For terms apply to JAMES SIMMONDS, Proprietor.

Telephone—4 Humshaugh.

CLEVEDON, SOMERSETSHIRE.
One of the healthiest and most invigorating watering-places on the Western Coast.

WALTON PARK HOTEL.
FIRST-CLASS Family Hotel. Beautifully situated, overlooking the Sea, receiving

the full benefit of the Atlantic breezes. Sheltered from the North and Easterly
winds by magnificent pine woods. 1000 feet foreshore frontage. 7 acres of pleasure
grounds. Sumptuously furnished Public Rooms. Suites of Rooms with Private
Bath Room. Good Tennis and Croquet Lawns. Golf Links within 5 minutes' walk.

Terms strictly moderate.
Telegrams— " Seaside, Clevedon." Telephone, 100 Clevedon.

Apply Manager,

CLIFTON (near BRISTOL).

CLIFTON DOWN HOTEL
The leading Family Hotel. Appointed to Royal Automobile Club.

Unique position overlooking the Clifton Suspension Bridge, the Leigh
Woods, and the Clifton Downs. Official residence of His Majesty's
Judges of the King's Bench, the only Hotel thus favoured. Own Garage.
Night Porter. Lift. Electric Light. All-British Staff. No Aliens
employed.

Tai ATihnn«8 / (Management) 550 Bristol. Telegraphic Address

:

leiepnones
^ (Visitors) 3m Bristol. " SUSPENSION," BRISTOL.

Illustrated Tariff free on application to

GABRIEL E. COPP, Lessee and Manager for past 16 years.



10 COLWYN BAY CONNEMARA DORNOCH.

COLWYN BAY, N.W.

IMPERIAL (STATION) HOTEL
FIRST CLASS. NEAR THE SEA AND PROMENADE.
HANDSOME Public Rooms and Lounges. Private Suites for

Families, at Special Terms. Boarding terms.

TARIFF MODERATES. GARAGE. GOLF NEAR.
" Poli-Tiko-Economic " Department now open.

Telephone, 182. Telegrams, " Imperial, Colwyn Bay."

COLWYN (North Wales).

D. MAC. NICOLL, F.S.I.,

^Estate %$cx\tf etc.,

Cefn Building: Estate Office, OLD COLWYN.
LAND sold in Plots or let on Building Leases, etc. Old Colwyn enjoys

unrivalled view of sea and mountains ; immunity from the east

winds owing to Penmaen Head, and a dryness and warmth by situation

on Limestone. Excellent Sea Bathing. Delightful Golf Links. Choice
of rural walks almost unsurpassed on the Coast.

LEENANE HOTEL
COUNTY GALWAY.

Ideal Place for a Month's Holiday.

EXCELLENT SPORTING HOTEL AT LEENANE, CONNEMARA.
SHOOTING. Fishing on Sea and Lakes. Delightful Daily Excursions. Excellent

Facilities for Bathing. Tennis and Croquet. Good Roads for Motoring.
Magnificent Scenery. Motor Cars and Horse Conveyances. Garage.

Motor Coaches from Westport and Clifden stop at this Hotel.

Apply R. HENRY McKEOWN,
MODERATE TARIFF. Proprietor.

DORNOCH—SUTHEKLAND.
GOLF. GOLF. GOLF.

THE SUTHERLAND ARMS HOTEL,
Adjoining the celebrated Golf Links. Two 18-hole Courses.

Salmon and Sea -Trout Fishing free to Residents in

Hotel. En pension terms from 10s. per day.

GARAGE. MOTOR OARS. POSTING-.

WM. FRASER, Proprietor.



DROITWICH DUBLIN. 11

DROITWICH, ENGLAND'S BRINE

:: BATHS SPA ::

Central for all Districts. 2\ Hours from London, 50 Minutes
from Birmingham. Unrivalled BATHS of NATURAL BRINE
(RADIO-ACTIVE and RADIO -EMANATIVE) for Rheumatism,

Gout, Sciatica, Neuritis, Arthritis, Lumbago, etc.

LOVELY COUNTRY. GOOD HOTELS. DAILY MUSIC. GOLF, Etc.

Apply for Illustrated Booklet to Baths Director

:

—
J. H. HOLLYER, 50 Spa Enquiry Offices, Droitwich.

DROITWICH.
THE WORCESTERSHIRE BRINE BATHS HOTEL

150 Rooms. Ground-floor Bedrooms. Suites. Lift. New Smoking Lounge.
Library. Billiards. Large Grounds. Opp. St. Andrew's Brine Baths. Golf Links.
Stables. Garage. Off. app. by A.A. MOD. INCL. TERMS. Night Porter.

Tel. '.No. 2. For "Spa Tariff" write—R. C. CULLEY, Mgr.

DUBLIN.
Charming situation, overlooking Stephen's Green Park.

Moderate Charges.

Passenger Elevators.

SMt^0\3R^&
HOTEL, DUBLIN,

FREE GARAGE.
Suites with Private Baths.

Choicest Cuisine and Wines.

DUBLIN.

JURY'S HOTEL, COLLEGE GREEN.
The most historic thoroughfare and the healthiest part of the city.

ELECTRIC LIGHT.
ELEVATOR.

Bed and Attendance, 3s. Gd.

Telegrams—"JURY, DUBLIN."

MODERATE TARIFF.
Free Garage.

Telephones—TVos. 503 and 513.

IRELAND. In the "PEEPS AT HISTORY"
SERIES.

Bv BEATRICE HOME.
Containing 8 Full-Page Illustrations in Colour and 21 Smaller Illustrations .n the Text.

Large Crown 8vo, Cloth. Price Is. 6d. net. (By Post Is. lOd.)

Of all Booksellers.

Published by A. & C. BLACK, LTD., 4, 5, & 6 Soho Square, London. W.
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DUBLIN DULVERTON DUNKELD.

The Most Fashionable and Central

First=Class Hotel in Dublin.

RENOWNED FOR ITS WINES
AND CUISINE.

Orchestra Daily

ELECTRIC ELEVATOR.

Telegrams—" Hibernia, Dublin."

Telephones—2205 and 703.

Tariff on Application to P. Q. BESSON, Manager.

DULVERTON

—

Junction Great Western Railway.

FIYE MILES TROUT FISHING expressly reserved
for visitors to the

CARNARVON ARMS HOTEL.
LARGE GARDEN. (BRACING.) HOME DAIRY.

RED-DEER, FOX, OTTER HUNTING.
GOLF COURSE. TENNIS. BILLIARDS.

Write for Booklet.

'Phone 2. Wire—NELDER, DULVERTON.

DUNKELD.

DUKE OF ATHOLL ARMS HOTEL
patrontseD b£ 1R0£alt£-

SITUATED amidst the finest scenery in the Perthshire Highlands.

Splendid Touring Centre. Every Home Comfort. Free Fishing.

GOLF. TENNIS. GARAGE. PETROL.
Very Moderate Terms. THOS. MENZIES, Proprietor.

Telegraphic Address: "Atholl Arms."



EASDALE EDINBURGH. 13

EASDALE—ON ROYAL KOUTE.

IIMSHAIG PARK HOTEL.
Situated amidst Beautiful Coastal Scenery.

Steamers call.

SEA & TROUT FISHING FREE TO VISITORS. BOATING. BATHING.

Golf at Oban 16 miles. Oarage with Pit. Posting.

Special charges for Boarding. # J. GILLIES, Proprietrix.

""EDINBURGH.

DARLING'S REGENT HOTEL,
21 WATERLOO PLACE.

FIRST-CLASS
TEMPERANCE

HOTEL.

Under personal

management of

Miss DARLING.

Address for Telegrams—
1 Darling's Hotel,

Edinburgh"

Telephone: 2928 Central.

EDINBURGH.

WEST END BOARDING ESTABLISHMENT

59 MANOR PLACE.
(NEAR TRAMWAYS AND RAILWAY STATIONS.)

Te
Te^phonr

d

}
7268 Edinburgh. Miss SLIGHT.
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EDINBURGH.

EDINBURGH ROCK
Registered Trade Mark, No. 2217

MADE ONLY BY

ALEX. FERGUSON,
CONFECTIONER,

EDINBURGH, GLASGOW, and NEWCASTLE.

Bs Bppointment to Ib.flD. Ube Iking.

The biscuit of real food value

MCVITIE & PRICE'S

DIGESTIVE.
(The Premier Biscuit of Britain.)

May be obtained from

ALL GROCERS, CONFECTIONERS AND STORES,



EDINBURGH EDZELL. 1 5

The Caledonian Railway Company's

PRINCES STREET STATION HOTEL
EDINBURGH.

300 ROOMS. 70 BATH ROOMS.
This Hotel is the most modern in Scotland, is situated at the West end of

Princes Street, and commands magnificent views of the Castle and Gardens.

TERMS VERY MODERATE.
Telegraphic Address :

" LUXURY, EDINBURGH." A. MORRIS, Manager.

EWHr MOTOR SERVICES
MOTOR 'BUSES leave Edinburgh (Waverley Steps) frequently for

Liberton, Burdiehouse, Straiton, Loanhead, Bilston, Roslin,

Glencorse, Penicuik, Gilmerton, Little France, Eskbank, Dalkeith,

Newtongrange, Gorebridge, Bonnyrigg, Rosewell (for Hawthornden),
Corstorphine, Newbridge, Broxburn, Uphall, East and Mid Calder,

and Pumpherston.
During the Season MOTOR CHAR-A-BANCS leave the Mound

(Princes Street) for Blackhall, Barnton, and Forth Bridge. Also
Circular Tours to Haddington, Dunbar, and North Berwick ; South
Queensferry, Hopetoun, and Linlithgow; Carlops, and Pentlands, via

Roslin, Penicuik, Braid Hills, and Morningside ; Stow, Galashiels,

Abbotsford, Melrose, Dryburgh, and Lauder.

Seats booked for Circular Tours at the Company's Office or at

M'Kinlay Bros. ('Phone 3481 Y), 10a South St. Andrew St., Edinburgh.
Time and Fare Bills free on application to Company's Conductors, or

Company's Offices, 29 Fountainbridge, Edinburgh.

THE SCOTTISH MOTOR TRACTION COMPANY, LIMITED.
Telegrams : "Traction." Telephones : 7315/6/7. W. J. THOMSON, General Manager.

LARGE GARAGE FOR PRIVATE CARS.
OPEN DAY AND NIGHT.

EDZELL.

THE GLENESK HOTEL.
THE Hotel is in immediate proximity to the Railway Station, and Excellent Golfing
-1- is to be had over the Edzell Golf Club's celebrated 18-Hole Golf Course.

COMMODIOUS GARAGE.

Good Centre for Fishing, Driving, and Coaching Tours.

Fop Terms, apply The MANAGERESS,

THE GLENESK HOTEL COMPANY, LIMITED, PROPRIETORS.



16 EXETER FOLKESTONE FORRES.

EXETER

NEW LONDON
8
HOTEL.

Visited by Queen Victoria, King Edward VII., and the

present King and Queen.

T1HIS FIRST-CLASS HOTEL is near the Cathedral and

T" Stations, and adjoining Northernhay Park.

Charming Old English Courtyard (with Fernery and Fountain

in centre and lighted by Electricity) as Lounge.

TABLE D'HOTE (EXCELLENT CUISINE). NIGHT PORTER.

Splendid New Garage with lock- up Private Boxes.

Hotel Omnibuses meet Trains.

STABLING.
Officially appointed by the " Royal Automobile Club," " Automobile

Association," and the Motor Union.

Telephone 146. Telegrams—"Pople, Exeter."

FOLKESTONE.

Bath Hotel,
CLIFTON CRESCENT, THE LEAS.

Old-Established First-Class Private Hotel.
South Aspect. Sea Views. Sheltered. Perfect Sanitation. Inclusive

Terms. Excellent Cuisine. Separate Tables. Under the personal manage-

ment of the Proprietress, Miss GRIFFITHS, late of the York House Hotel,

Bath. Telegrams: " Bath Hotel, Folkestone." Telephone 117.

FOKRES.

Cluny Hill Hydropathic.
triNEST Climate in Great Britain. Average Yearly Rainfall, 22 inches. Five Miles

of Walks in Pine Woods. Tennis, Bowling, and Croquet Greens. Garage with Pit.

First-Class 18-Hole Golf Course (with Professional) adjoining grounds. Turkish and

Russian Baths. Massage. Recreation and Billiard Rooms. Lounge. Excellent

Cuisine. Moderate Tariff.

H. B. HIGGINS, Manager.
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FOWEY (CORNWALL).

ST. CATHERINE'S HOUSE
(PRIVATE HOTEL).

Dining, Drawing, Smoking, and Private Sitting Rooms. Thirty Bedrooms.
Unrivalled Situation. Facing Harbour and Channel.

HIGHLY RECOMMENDED AS A HEALTH RESORT. GOLF LINKS WITHIN
10 MINUTES' WALK. MOTOR CAR KEPT. TERMS MODERATE.

Telelrams :

N
°B

4
rokenshaw, Fowey." Mrs - BROKENSHAW, Proprietress.

A GREAT RAILWAY AND THE COUNTRY IT TRAVERSES.

THE GREAT WESTERN RAILWAY.
By GORDON HOME.

In the "PEEPS AT GREAT RAILWAYS" Series.

Containing 8 Full-Page Illustrations in Colour and numerous small Black-and-White
Sketches in the Text. Large Crown 8vo, Cloth, with Picture in Colour on the Cover.

Price 1s. 6d. net. {By Post 1s. 10d.)
Tells in brief the story of one of our most famous Railways, its effect on the

development of the country it serves, and also something of the
scenery and towns through which it runs.

Published by A. & C. BLACK, LTD., 4, 5 & 6 SOHO SQUARE, LONDON, W.
And obtainable through any Bookseller.

GLASGOW.

CRANSTON'S WAYERLEY TEMPERANCE HOTEL
172 SAUCHIEHALL STREET.

CAUTION.—Please see that you are taken to Cranston's Waverley, Sauchiehall Street.

Telegraphic Address : Waverley Hotel. Telephones : 128 Douglas and 1434 Douglas.

Breakfast or Tea, 1/3, 1/6, 2/- ; Bedroom, with attendance inclusive, 3/-.

Stockrooms just added, from 3/- per day. Passenger Elevator.

Other Addresses : Edinburgh, Old Waverley, Princes Street

;

Edinburgh, New Waverley, Waterloo Place.

One of the most up-to-date, comfortable, and
0̂00̂ ^

best situated Hotels in the City^^-^"p^\j
Spacious Ladies' Drawing-room^^^t^\J ^1q^
Electric Light
Throughout,

*f^V
*

6& GV

ajc*i^

70
ROOMS.

Three Telephones.
Wires :

" Hotel Balmoral."

CENTRAL FOR BUSINESS OR PLEASURE.

Bedroom, 3 Course Breakfast and Bath, |5/""



18 Glasgow—guernsey (far sark see p. 43).

BLYTHSWOOD HOTEL
(LICENSED)

320 ARGYLE STREET, GLASGOW.
The Home of Simplicity, Refinement., and Comfort for the Traveller.

Nearest Hotel in the City for the Caledonian and L. &. N.W.
Railway Terminus. Convenient to all Steamers.

Double Windows to exclude Noise. Hot and Cold Water in Bedrooms.
Elevator. Electric Light. Recently Enlarged, Refurnished & Redecorated.

BEDROOM, BREAKFAST and BATH, from 5s.

Telegrams: " Blythswood Hotel." G. EGLINTON ADAMS, Proprietor.

GLASGOW.

Jennings BUCHANAN ST. STATION HOTEL
Opposite Station. 23 COWCADDENS STREET. Please note number.

Bed, Breakfast, and Attendance from 4s. 6d.

Terms per day, 7s. 6d. Per week. £2 : 2s. Fully licensed.

A DELIGHTFUL SOUVENIR OF "BONNIE SCOTLAND."THE TROSSACHS.
In Black's "Beautiful Britain" Series.

Containing 12 Full-Page Illustrations in Colour. Large Square Demy 8vo ; Cloth, with Picture in
Colour on the Cover. Price Is. 6d. net. (By Post, Is. 10d.)

Published by A. & C. BLACK. LTD., 4, 5, & 6 Soho Square, London, W.
And obtainable through any Bookseller.

GUERNSEY.

OLD GOVERNMENT HOUSE HOTEL,
GUERNSEY.

Formerly the Official Residence of the Lieutenant-Governor of the Island.

Long-established and FIRST-CLASS HOTEL for FAMILIES
and GENTLEMEN.

THOROUGH COMFORT. MODERN LUXURY. MODERATE CHARGES.

NEW AND SPACIOUS LOUNGE.
Standing in its own Grounds, and situated in the higher and best part of the Town,

the Hotel commands from its Windows and Lawn unrivalled Views of the entire Channel
Group.

Table d'Hdte—Separate Tables. Electric Light.

Billiards. Dark Room. Baths.

Tariff on Application. Special Arrangements for the Winter Months.

Five minutes' walk from the Landing Stages. Porters and Omnibus from the Hotel

attend the arrival of all Steamers. Rooms may be secured by Letter or Telegram.

Registered Telegraphic Address— MPS. JOHN GARDNER,
" <*°v - GUERNSEY." Managing Director.
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BEAUTY CHARM
If you wish a Lovely Skin, free

from Spot and Wrinkle, Massage
the Face, Hands, and Arms with
M. F. T. IDEAL. SKIN FOOD

COMPLEXION WAX.
Yes. This Every-Weather Treasure
corrects Extremes of Sun, Wind,
Fog, Frost, etc. Refines away
Wrinkles and other Traces of

Work, Worry, and Years.
2/- and 4/6 post free.

Only from—M. F. THOMPSON

FOOT JOY
Thompson's Corn Plaster Joy.

—Rids Crippling Corns, Bunions
and Swollen Joints — Safely,

Speedily. Yes, this is the famous
" Comfort - for - the - Feet " you
hear of! Only in M.F.T. En-
velope.
Large Sheet, 1/2 post free.

Chemist, 17 Gordon St., Glasgow.

HARROGATE.

THE GRANBY HOTEL.
Facing the Southern Stray of 200 acres, this high-class Hotel is situated in the

healthiest and most bracing part of Harrogate, away from the business centre, where
rest and quiet is assured. All the latest improvements have been introduced to pro-
vide for the comfort of the guests, together with provision for the convenience of

invalids for deriving all the benefits provided by the Corporation for the "cure" for

which Harrogate stands unrivalled. Nearest Hotel to the Harrogate Golf Links.
Lawn-Tennis Grounds adjoining the Hotel. Accommodation for motors and carriages.

Lift to all floors. Electric Light throughout.

For Terms apply to THE MANAGER.

HELENSBURGH, N.B.
(On Firth of Clyde, 40 minutes' Rail from Glasgow.)

Tourists should try the Clyde instead of the Rhine.

THE IMPERIAL HOTEL.
FINEST Position on Esplanade. Three minutes from Station. Most

central for Excursions by Rail or Steamers. Coffee, Drawing,
Smoking, and Billiard Rooms. Motor Garage with Inspection Pit.

Oil supplied and Repairs done. Boarding Terms. Charges Strictly

Moderate. J. R. EGGER, Proprietor.
(Siviss-British. )

"The Little Switzerland of the Clyde."

THE ISLE OF ARRAN.
By Rev. CHARLES A. HALL.

In Black's "Beautiful Britain" Series.

Containing 12 Full-Page Illustrations in Colour. Large Square Demy 8vo, Cloth.
With Picture in Colour on the Cover. Price Is. 6d. net. (By Post Is. lOd.)

The book affords a charming epitome—just enough to whet the appetite of the
holiday-maker, and open his eyes to the wonders, delights, and memories that await
his exploitations during a limited sojourn on the island.

—

Scottish Field.

Published by A. & C. BLACK, LTD., 4, 5, & 6 Soho Square, London, W.
And obtainable of all Booksellers.
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HUNTER'S QUAY.

ROYAL MARINE HOTEL,
FIRTH OF CLYDE.

Headquarters of the Royal Clyde Yacht Club.

A FIRST-CLASS FAMILY HOTEL.

WITHIN about one hour's journey from Glasgow by Rail and Steamer,
via Caledonian, North British, or Glasgow and South-Western

Railway Coast Routes. There is a good service of Steamers to Hunter's
Quay during the season, and to Kirn, three-quarters of a mile from Hotel,
all the year round.

HOT and COLD, FRESH and SEA WATER BATHS, SPRAYS, DOUCHE, Ac.

Golf, Bowling, Tennis, Garage.

Telegraph and Post Office within the Grounds.

Telegraphic Address— Telephone—
M Hotel, Hunter's Quay." No. 25, KIRN.

ROBERT STUART, Manager.

ILFRACOMBE.

LEWIS' CRESCENT BOARDING
ESTABLISHMENT.

A FIRST-CLASS PENSION in unrivalled position. 3 minutes from Sea

and Promenade. Large Public Rooms, Balconies, and Lounges. 54 well-

appointed Bedrooms. Liberal Table. Comfortable and Homelike. Moderate

and Inclusive Terms. Highly recommended.
Apply Proprietors for Tariff.

Telegrams—" Crescent Hotel." Telephone—No. 72.

ILFRACOMBE.

BELGRAVE HOTEL.
(Fully Licensed.)

rjlHIS Highly Recommended Hotel is centrally situated on sea-level.

-*- Spacious, well-appointed rooms fitted with every moder nconvenience,

including Electric Light throughout.

TABLE D'HOTE (Separate Tables). TERMS MODERATE.

Illustrated Tariff on application to Proprietress.



manding full view of the Sea. Spacious Public
Rooms, Lounges, etc. Separat
Tables

ILFRACOMBE ISLE OF WIGHT JERSEY. 21

ILFRACOMBE.
Summer and Winter Resort. Close to the Beaches, Parade, etc. n™~- -

fcV
e Sea. Spacious Public

~"

Private
Hote^ndjoar^m^^

Smoke Rooms. 120 Bedrooms.
— _. . rj _,_„_

Hot & Cold Shower Baths. Dark Room for Photos,
„~~™ , ^^Ei??tric LlSht throughout. Electric Passenger Lift Garage with PitMODERATE TARIFF. TOURING CARS ON HIRE.

ILFRACOMBE.

THE GROSYENOR.
TjlIRST-CLASS Boarding Establishment on level ground. Two minntes
-L from Sea, Capstone Parade, Bathing Coves, Town, and Post Office.

Spacious Dining and Drawing Kooms, with Large Balconies, also Lounge
and Smoking Room. Table d'Hote, 7 P.M. Excellent Cuisine. Separate
Tables. Recommended. Moderate. Illustrated Tariff gratis.

Telephone 63. Garage M.A.C. Mrs. PICKETT, Proprietress.

-High-Class Bijou Hotel.
French Cuisine. Electric

._ Cars transferred to Island, via
Lymington and Yarmouth, without being slung. Sundays also. Illustrated
Tariff on application.

In connection with "ROYAL HOTEL," VBNTNOR.

YARMOUTH, I.W.—PIER HOTEL
Light. Yachting, Bathing, &c. Garage. Motor Car

JERSEY.

STAR HOTEL.
Facing the Harbour. Family and Commercial. Established over 70 Years.

THE best known Hotel for Tourists in the Channel Islands. The Tariff 45s 6d or
52s. 6d. per week (according to room), includes Bed, Breakfast, Luncheon, Dinner

Attendance, and Lights. No extras. Fishing and Sailing parties arranged. Four-ln-Hand Excursion Cars leave the Hotel twice daily for places of interest. Centrally
situated. Close to Post Office and principal business establishments. Every facility for
commercial gentlemen. Good stock rooms. Illustrated booklet with full particularsand some interesting information about Jersey post free. Omnibus meets all boats

A. RAYNOR SMITH, Proprietor.

A Beautiful Souvenir of these Charming Islands.

THE CHANNEL ISLANDS.
In Black's "Beautiful Britain" Series. Containing 12 full-page Illustrationsm Colour. Large Square Demy 8vo, Cloth, with Picture in Colour on the Cover

Price Is. 6d. net. {By Post Is. Wd.)
Published bv A. & C. BLACK, LTD., 4, 5, & 6 Soho Square, London, W

And obtainable of all Booksellers.
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By Royal Warrant of Appointment to

Her Majesty Queen Mary, Her Majesty Queen Alexandra
and H.R.H. the Princess Christian.

de FAYE'S
JERSEY

EAU DE COLOGNE.
Original cases, 5/6, 10/6, and 21/-, duty

and post free.

R G. de FAYE,
David Place, Bath Street,

JERSEY, CHANNEL ISLANDS.
The Sole distributing Wholesale Agents are : Messrs.

S. Maw, Son& Sons, 7 to 12 Aldersgate Street, London,
E.C., who will supply your Chemist immediately from stock.

"IN ROMANTIC BADENOCH."
KINGUSSIE.

DUKE OF GORDON HOTEL.
SITUATED among the Finest Scenery of the Cairngorm Mountains. Entirely rebuilt

and renovated. Three minutes' walk from Kingussie Station, at which all trains

stop. Hotel Porter attends all trains. Parties boarded per week or month. Inclusive

terms on application.

LARGE GARAGE. Oils and Petrol kept.

LAWN TENNIS AND CROQUET GREEN IN HOTEL GROUNDS. BOWLING GREEN.

GOLF COURSE (18 holes) 10 minutes' walk. FISHING, ETC.

Telegrams— MR. AND MRS. W. WOLFENDEN,
" Wolfenden, Kingussie." Proprietors and Managers.

KYLES OF BUTE.

AT AUCHENLOCHAN PIER, T1GHNABRUAICH.

Greatly Enlarged. Pleasant Residence for Tourists and Families,

GOLF. BILLIARDS. LAWN TENNIS. CARRIAGE HIRING.

Telegraphic Address :
" Royal, Tighnabruaich.'

Telephone 5. R. DUNCAN, Proprietor.
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LANGHOLM, DUMFRIESSHIRE.

20 Miles by Rail and Road from Carlisle.

ESKDALE Temperance HOTEL.
ANGLING AND SUMMER QUARTERS. SALMON, SEA TROUT, HERLINC.

GOLFING FREE TO HOTEL VISITORS.

20 Drives midst lovely Mountain Scenery.

Send for Tariff and Coach Guide to—
WM. DOUGLAS, B.G., Proprietor.

LARNE HARBOUR (COUNTY ANTRIM).

OLDERFLEET (station) HOTEL
THIS First-Class Hotel, with charming situation facing the sea, has just been re-

decorated and refurnished, and many improvements have been made for Visitors'

comfort, including a handsome Lounge.

One minute's walk from Stranraer Mail Steamers and Railway Station.

Hot and Cold Sea- Water Baths In Hotel.

Convenient to Golf Links. Garage with Pit.

HUGH GARIIETT, Manager.

LAUNCESTON, NORTH CORNWALL.

FIRST-GLASS FAMILY AND COMMERCIAL HOTEL
Within a few Seconds of the Fine Old Castle and Beautiful Church,

Good Centre for North Cornwall. Motor Garage. Inspection Pit. Petrol.

POSTING IN ALL ITS BRANCHES.
Tel. No. 13. BRENDON PARSONS, Proprietor.

REGENT HOTEL,
ROYAL LEAMINGTON SPA.

PREMIER HOTEL OF THE MIDLANDS.
LARGE GARAGE.

Appointed by the leading Motor Clubs.

Heated throughout during Winter Months.
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ROYAL LEAMINGTON SPA.

THE CLARENDON.
HIGH-CLASS family Hotel, near Pump-room and Gardens, situated

highest and best part of the Town. Close to trams. Away from

noise. Electric Light. Lift. Garage. Stabling. Special winter terms.

Perfect cooking. English Chef. Telephone 663.

Apply MANAGERESS.

LEAMINGTON SPA (Warwickshire).

9
Oldest Established House and Estate Agents, Valuers, Auctioneers, etc.,

in the town.

OFFICES: 166 PARADE, LEAMINGTON SPA.
Full particulars of Furnished & Unfurnished Residences to Let and for Sale, on application.

Telegraphic Address : "Lockes, Leamington Spa." Telephone: 110.

LIMERICK.

GLENTWORTH HOTEL.
rpHIS elegant and centrally established HOTEL has been prepared with the greatest
-*- care, and at considerable expense, for the accommodation of Ladies and Gentlemen
visiting Limerick, and possesses the Freshness, Neatness, and General Comfort which
distinguish the best English and Continental establishments.

The Glentworth is the leading HOTEL in the city, and is noted for its moderate
Terms, First-class Cuisine, and Perfect Sanitation.

Omnibus and Staff meet all Trains and Steamers.

Cook's Coupons accepted. KENNA BROS. , Proprietors.

LIMERICK.

ROYAL GEORGE HOTEL.
THIRST-CLASS Family and CommerciaL Most Central. Electric

Light throughout. Bedrooms unsurpassed. Comfort. Clean-

liness. Moderate Charges. A new wing added, which includes

23 Bedrooms, splendid Banqueting Room, and Stock Rooms.

Sanitary arrangements perfect. Cook's Coupons accepted.

Splendid Billiard Room. Hot and Cold Baths.

P. HARTIGAN, Proprietor.
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LIMERICK.

CRUISE'S ROYAL HOTEL.
FIRST-CLASS FAMILY HOTEL.

Headquarters Irish Automobile, A. A., and Motor Union Clubs, American A. A. New
Lounge. Ballroom capable of accommodating over 300 persons just added. Ladies'

Drawing - Room, Billiard Room, Smoking Room, Excellent Cuisine, a Home from
Home, Electric Light throughout. Free Garage. Hot, Cold, and Shower Baths.

Brochure and Tariff to be had on application to

JAMES FLYNN, Managing Proprietor.

LIVERPOOL.

Lancashire and Yorkshire Railway.

Exchange Station Hotel.
(Under the Management of the Company,)

THE nearest First-Class Hotel to the Landing Stage. The Exchange Station is

the terminus for the principal Express Trains from Scotland.

The Hotel is noted for the excellence of its cooking and comfortable accommodation.

Telegrams— 1
' Station Hotel, Liverpool." G. O'B. HAMILTON,

Telephone—2104 Central. Manager.

LIVERPOOL.
"THE SHAFTESBURY."
MOUNT PLEASANT.

A HIGH -CLASS TEMPERANCE HOUSE.
Centrally situated. Quiet and homelike.

About four minutes' walk from Lime Street and
Central Stations, and adjoining Roscoe Gardens.
Mount Pleasant Cars from Pier Head and

Castle Street (near Town Hall and Exchange
Station) stop at door of Hotel. Night Porter.

Cab Fare from any Station, Is. Good Stock Rooms.
Telegrams: " Shaftesbury Hotel, Liverpool." Telephone : 8882 Royal.

LIVEKPOOL.

LAURENCE'S
COMMERCIAL & FAMILY TEMPERANCE HOTEL,

CLAYTON SQUARE
( Within Three Minutes' Walk of Lime Street and Central Stations , and

the Chief Objects of Interest in the Town),

CONTAINS upwards of One Hundred Rooms, including Coffee Room, Private
Sitting Rooms, Billiard and Smoke Rooms, Large and Well -Lighted Stock

Rooms.
HEADQUARTERS CYCLISTS' TOURING CLUB.

Telephone—Royal, No. 3729
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LIZARD, CORNWALL.

HOUSEL BAY HOTEL.
fTHIS First-Class Hotel commands Magnificent Views of the famous
-* Lizard Head, and is the only Hotel situated close to the Sea and
beautiful Housel Bay Bathing Beach. Golf, Bathing, Boating, Fishing,

Billiards. Motor Car service to and from Helston Station (G.W.R.).
ELECTRIC LIGHT.

A BEAUTIFULLY SITUATED FURNISHED BUNGALOW TO LET.
MOTOR GARAGE WITH PIT.

Letters and Telegrams to Manager, Housel Bay Hotel, Lizard, R.S.O.

LIZARD POINT, CORNWALL.

THE LIZARD (HILL'S) HOTEL.
rpHE Oldest Established and most Central Family Hotel in the District. Nearest to
-A- Kynance Cove, Golf Links, and other places of interest. Motor Garage. Head-
quarters of A. A. Additional Bathroom. Motor Car Service to & from Helston Station
(G.W.R.). Special Winter Tariff. Own Dairy. Noted for Clotted Cream. Also Furnished
Residence to Let. Beautifully situated and with every comfort. Apply Proprietor.

INDISPENSABLE TO MOTORISTS IN THIS DISTRICT.

THE MOTOR ROUTES OF ENGLAND.
SOUTHERN SECTION (South of the Thames).

Large crown 8vo, containing 24 full-page Illustrations in Colour, and 45 Sketch Maps in the Text.

Cloth, price 5/- net (by post, 5/4). Leather, price 7/6 net (by post, 7/10).

THE VOLUMES IN THIS SERIES ARE OBTAINABLE THROUGH ANY BOOKSELLER.
Published by A. & C. BLACK, LTD., 4, 5, & 6 Soho Square, London, W.

LLANBERIS.
TO SNOWPON, THE MONARCH MOUNJAlN

ie

OF WALES.

Do not fail to make the ascent by the SNOWDON MOUNTAIN RACK RAILWAY.
'

" A most marvellous journey and magnificent scenery.
Stay at the

ROYAL VICTORIA^ or PADARN YILLA HOTELS,
Situated in their own Extensive Grounds in the Heart of Snowdonia.

BOATING. FISHING. GARAGE. OWN FARM, &c.

r. MATTHEW RYAN,
AUCTIONEER, ESTATE AGENT.

(17 years with the late Mr. Geo. F. Felton, Auctioneer, whose business was
established in Llandudno in 1850.)

Furnished Houses and Apartments Recommended.

For the past 27 years he has been employed on Valuations at leading County
Houses and Hotels throughout North Wales and elsewhere ; also has arranged some

of the best Sales. Highest references given.

Telephone 173. Augusta Street, LLANDUDNO.
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LLANDRINDOD WELLS.

ROCK PARK HOTEL
AND SPA.

Adjoins Strongest Mineral Springs, Baths, and Golf Links.

Near the New Electro-Hydropathic Baths.

The only Hotel situated in own grounds (50 acres).

TENNIS AND CROQUET LAWNS.
Seven miles excellent Trout Fishing reserved and

free for Hotel visitors.
The only private fishing in the neighbourhood. Fishing commences in the Grounds.

SUPPLIES FROM OWN FARM AND GARDENS.
Posting.

Good Selection Carriages.

Motor Accommodation,

Separate Tables.
Excellent Cuisine.
Special attention given to
diet.

Sanitation Perfect. South and South-West Aspect.
MODERATE TARIFF.

Hotel Omnibus meets all Trains. Telegrams :
" ROCK." Telephone : P.O. No. 2.

Tarifffrom R. P. CULLEY & CO., LTD., Proprietors.

LLANDUDNO, NORTH WALES.

IMPERIAL HOTEL.
Centrally situated on Promenade. Extensive Sea Frontage.
The New Tea Lounge, Smoking Balcony, also Ladies'

Lounge, face the Sea.
140 WELL-APPOINTED SITTING- AND BED-ROOMS

(The greater number of which have Sea and Mountain Views).

Passenger and Luggage Lifts. Central for Golf Links, G.P.O., Pier, and Station.
Electric Light. Night Porter. Motor Garage (20 Cars) with Turn-table

attached to Hotel.
Private Omnibus. For Illustrated Tariff and other particulars, apply to—
Nat. Tel. No. 6 (2 lines). S. CHANTREY, Proprietor.

LLANGOLLEN.

THE HAND HOTEL.
THIS is one of the most convenient in this Lovely Vale, and

second to none in North Wales for comfort, catering, and
situation. Sixty Bedrooms. Large Private Sitting-Rooms. Electric

Light throughout. Extensive Motor Garage for 30 Cars. Golf.

JAMES S. SHAW, Proprietor.

Telephone No. 7. Address

—

"Hand, Llangollen.

"



BOOKS FOR SPORTSMEN.
AN ANGLER'S SEASON.
By William Earl Hodgson. Containing 12
pages of Illustrations from photographs.
Large crown 8vo, cloth. Price 3/6 net.

(By Post, 3/10.)

COARSE FISHING.
By H. T. Sheringham. Large crown 8vo,
cloth. Containing 42 Illustrations in the
text. Price 3/6 net.

(By Post, 3/10.)

THE BOOK OF THE DRY FLY.
By George A. B. Dewar. With contributions
by His Grace the Duke of Rutland and
Mr. J. E. Booth. Containing 8 full-page
Illustrations in colour, 7 representing the most
typical Dry-Fly Streams of England, and one
a selection of natural Flies. New Edition.
Large crown 8vo, cloth. Price 7/6 net.

(By Post, 7/10.)

DRY = FLY FISHING IN BORDER
WATERS.
By F. Fernie, A.M.I.C.E. With an Intro-
duction by J. Cuthbert Hadden. Large crown
8vo, cloth, illustrated. Price 2/6 net.

(By Post, 2/9.)

HOW TO FISH.
By William Earl Hodgson. Containing 8
full -page illustrations and 18 smaller En-
gravings in the text. Large crown 8vo, cloth.

Price 3/6 net.
(By Post, 3/11.)

MINOR TACTICS OF THE CHALK
STREAM: And Kindred Studies.
By G. E. M. Skues (Seaforth and Soforth).
Second Edition. Containing Frontispiece Plate
of Flies in coloured facsimile. Koyal 8vo, cloth.

Price 3/6 net.
(By Post, 8/11.)

THE PRACTICAL ANGLER: Or,
The Art of Trout Fishing more

> Particularly Applied to Clear Water.
By W. C. Stewart. New Edition, Containing
an Introduction by William Earl Hodgson,
and including coloured facsimiles of the Flies
used by Mr. Stewart. Large crown 8vo, cloth.

Price 3/6 net.
(By Post, 3/10.)

SALMON FISHING.
By William Earl Hodgson. Containing a
facsimile in colours of a "Model Set of Flies"
for Scotland, Ireland, England, and Wales,
and 10 Illustrations from photographs. Large
crown 8vo, cloth, gilt top. Price 7/6 net.

(By Post, 7/1].)

HOW TO DRESS SALMON FLIES.
By Dr. T. E. Pryce-Tannatt. Containing 8
full -page Plates in colour of Salmon -Flies
arranged by the author, and 101 line drawings
in the text. Large crown 8vo, cloth, gilt top.

Price 7/6 net.
(By Post, 7/11.)

LIFE-HISTORY AND HABITS OF
THE SALMON, SEAuTROUT,
TROUT, AND OTHER FRESH =

WATER FISH.
By P. D. Malloch. New Edition. Containing
274 Illustrations from photographs. Crown
4to, cloth. — . .,

Price 1 0/0 net.
(By Post, 11/-.)

SEA FISHING.
By C. O. Minchin. With 32 Illustrations in
the text, mostly from original sketches by J. A.
Minchin. Large crown 8vo, cloth.

Price 3/6 net.
(By Post, 3/10.)

TROUT FISHING.— A Study of
Natural Phenomena.
By William Earl Hodgson. Containing a
facsimile in colours of a " Model Book of Flies "

for stream and lake, arranged according to the
month in which the lures are appropriate.
Large crown 8vo, cloth, gilt top.

Price 7/6 net.
(By Post, 7/11.)

TROUT WATERS. -
and Angling.
By Wilson H. Armistead.
cloth.

Management

Large crown 8vo,

Price 3/6 net.
(By Post, 3/10.)

THE ART OF WORM=FISHING.-
A Practical Treatise on Clear=Water
Worming.
By Alexander Mackie, M.A., author of

Aberdeenshire, Nature Knowledge in Modern
Poetry, etc. Large crown 8vo, cloth, Illus-

trated with Diagrams. _ . .,
Price 1/6 net.
(By Post, 1/9.)

GROUSE AND GROUSE MOORS.
By George Malcolm and Captain Aymer
Maxwell. With 16 full-page Illustrations in
colour by Charles Whymper, F.Z.S. Large
crown 8vo, cloth, gilt top. _ . , ,

Price 7/6 net.
(By Post, 7/11.)

PARTRIDGES AND PARTRIDGE
MANORS.
By Captain Aymer Maxwell. With 16 full-

page Illustrations in colour by George Rankin.
Large crown 8vo, cloth, gilt top.

Price 7/6 net.
(By Post, 7/11.)

PHEASANTS AND COiVEiRT
SHOOTING.
By Captain Aymer Maxwell. Containing 16
full-page Illustrations in colour by Geoege
Eankin. Large crown 8vo, cloth, gilt top.

Price 7/6 net.
(By Post, 7/11.)

Published by A. & C. BLACK, LTD., 4, 5, & 6 Soho Square, London, W.
And obtainable through all Booksellers.
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LOCH AWE, ARGYLL.

TAYCHREGGAN HOTEL.
(UNDER NEW MANAGEMENT.)

"DEAUTIFULLY Situated on the Banks of Loch Awe in the Centre of the Best

Fishing Ground. Salmon and Trout Fishing free. Terms strictly moderate.

Route, rail to Loch Awe Station, thence steamer, an hour's sail.

MACDONALD, Proprietor.

Telegrams : Taychreggan, Kilchrenan.

PORTSONACHAN, LOCH AWE.

PORTSONACHAN HOTEL.
'PHIS Hotel is charmingly situated and easy of access,

—

only an hour's sail
* from Lochawe Station (Callander and Oban Railway). Steamer connection
with the principal trains during the season, and 10 miles from Dalmally Station,

where Hotel Motor-Car will meet visitors on request by letter or wire. Presbyterian
and Episcopalian Churches within easy walking distance. Tennis conrt, beautiful
drives, first-class boats, experienced boatmen. Salmon and Trout Fishing
free. Charges moderate. THOMAS CAMERON, Proprietor.

Originator of the Falls of Blairgour and Glen Nant Circular Tour from Oban.

Telegraphic Address, "CAMERON, PORTSONACHAN." «

LOCH FYNE, TARBERT.

COLUMBA, THE HOTEL.
AT PIER. BILLIARD ROOM.

Under New Management. ** ? BR'EN*
Proprietor.

LOCHINVER, SUTHERLANDSHIKE.

CULAG HOTEL.
Good TROUT and FEROX FISHING in Numerous Lochs, FREE.

SALMON ANCLING ON INYER AND KIRKAIG RIVERS. SEA TROUT.
SEA FSSHING EXCELLENT.

ROUTE.—Rail to Lairg, thence daily Mail Motor or Hire ; or MacBrayne's
boat from Glasgow, Oban, Mallaig, etc.

Hotel Motor can meet parties at Invershin on due notice being: given.
Wires: "Culag, Lochinver." J. R. SKINNER, Proprietor.
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ARDLUI HOTEL.
UNDER NEW MANAGEMENT. HEAD OF LOCH LOMOND.

Three minutes' walkfrom Steamboat Pier and Ardlui Station, West Highland Railway.

THIS Hotel is beautifully situated amidst unrivalled scenery, and commands a
magnificent view of the Loch. The Hotel has been remodelled and refurnished,

and additions have been made ; the sanitary arrangements are new, and have been
carried out on the most improved principles. Visitors staying at this house will find
every comfort and attendance, with boats and fishing free. Delightful daily tours
can be arranged to Loch Katrine, Loch Awe, Loch Tay, Loch Long, etc. Passengers
travelling South by West Highland Railway change here for Loch Lomond and Loch
Katrine. Parties boarded by week. Special week-end terms, except in August. Motor
garage. Petrol. Telegrams " Russell, Ardlui. " A. RUSSELL, Proprietor.

N.B.—Grand Circular Tour by Rail, Coach, and Steamer daily from Edinburgh
and Glasgow. Further particulars can be obtained at Crianlarich and Ardlui Hotels,
also from the North British and Caledonian Railway Companies' Tourist Guides.

LOCHNESS.

DRUMNADROCHIT HOTEL.
Under New Management.

THIS First-class Hotel is beautifully situated near the shores of Lochness amidst
the finest scenery in the Highlands, and enjoys the highest reputation for its

cuisine, comfort, and general arrangements.

FREE SALMON AND TROUT FISHING ON LOCHNESS.
Distance from Inverness, 14 Miles, and 1 Mile from Temple Pier,

where MacBrayne's Steamers call daily.

GOLF, TENNIS, AND MOTORING. TERMS MODERATE.
KENNETH MACKAY, Lessee.

LOCH RANNOCH, PERTHSHIRE.

DUNALASTAIR HOTEL,
KINLOCH-RANIMOCH.

THIS, the First Hotel in the district (both in date of establishment

and in present standing), is beautifully situated amid splendid

scenery at the foot of Loch Rannoch and on the banks of the Tummel.

A centre for good coach drives in the midst of the most magnificent

scenery in the Scottish Highlands.

Yisitors at this Hotel enjoy free fishing on Loch Rannoch (11 miles

long) and the Longest Stretch of the River Tummel, with good boats

and trustworthy boatmen. Salmon Fishing now added.

Good Accommodation for Motors.

Official Headquarters of all Automobile Clubs; also C.T.C.

TERMS MODERATE.
EPISCOPAL CHURCH CLOSE TO THE HOTEL.

Nearest Stations
/STRUAN, HIGHLAND RAILWAY, 13 miles.

\RANNOCH, WEST HIGHLAND RAILWAY, 17 miles.

Telegrams :— " Macmillan, Kinlochrannoch."

D. C. MACMILLAN, Proprietor.
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SSInSST™ LONDONSITUATION IN

The

Westminster Palace

Hotel.

Opposite the Abbey and Houses of Parliament.

Commodious, Comfortable, First-Class Estab-

lishment :: Spacious Reception Rooms.

BEDROOMS from 3/6. INCLUSIVE RATE from 11/=

Special Week=End Terms. Send for Tariff Map of London.

Especially suited to the Requirements of

Tourists on account of the pleasant location

and accessibility from every point of London.

Restaurant No. 9 Tothill Street
Telegrams

:

Telephones :

"HOTELRY," London. 6235 to 8-4870 & 482 Vic.
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West Central hotel
FIRST-CLASS HOTEL FOR LADIES AND GENTLEMEN.

ACCOMMODATION FOR ABOUT 200 QUESTS.

Pronounced by the Press the Best Temperance Hotel
in the United Kingdom.

Convenient for City or West=End—Business or Pleasure.

Highly commended by the Rt. Hon. Sir T. Vezey Strong, the Rt. Hon. Sir

T. P. Whittaker, M.P. ; Sir George Toulmin, M.P. ; Sir John M'Dougall;
Very Rev. the Dean of Carlisle ; Very Rev. the Dean of Hereford ; the Ven.
Archdeacon of Durham ; J. S. Higham, Esq., M.P. ; Rev. Dr. Clifford ; Rev.
Dr. Horton ; Rev. Dr. J. H. Jowett, and thousands of Guests from all

parts of the World.

Excellent Public Rooms. Electric Light. Passenger Lifts.

Apartments, Service & Table d'Hote Breakfast, from 5/ "

Tariff on application to FREDERIC SMITH & SONS,

SOUTHAMPTON ROW, LONDON.

C. C. & T. MOORE,
AUCTIONEERS,

SURVEYORS,
VALUERS &
ESTATE AGENTS.

7 LEADENHALL STREET, LONDON,
and 33 MILE END ROAD, E.

House Property Auctions \held continuously

for 79 years] at the Mart on Thursdays. Special

Attention to the Management of Houses and
Estates, and letting City Offices and Business

Property. •
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WHITE HALL
RESIDENTIAL HOTELS

(close to the British Museum)

RUSSELL SQUARE, W.C.

9, 10 & II BLOOMSBURY SQUARE
r
*2%t£>£.%

_ . . tl _ A _____ „ ,

^ week, including Bed-
Telegraph: TASTEFUL, London." room, Table d'hote

_JTelephone : 9 1 1 Museum. -I^foefe
18, 19 & 20 MONTAGUE STREET\

Telegraph: " RIPELY, London."
Telephone : 5707 Central.

70, 71 & 72 GUILFORD STREET -

Telegraph: " LUGGAGE, London/'
Telephone: 9909 Central.

4 & 5 MONTAGUE STREET -

Telegraph: " WHITENTIAL, London/'
Telephone: 1 1442 Central.

15 & 16 BEDFORD PLACE *

Telegraph: " QJJIVERED, London."
Telephone : 8247 Central.

22 MONTAGUE STREET
Telegraph: " SIGNOR, London.'
Telephone : 7117 Central.

From 7s* per day

or 2 Guineas

per week*

13 WOBURN PLACE
Telegraph: "QJJEENHOOD, London."
Telephone: 12491 Central.

23 & 22 CORAM STREET - -

Telegraph: " WAYFARING, London/

'

Telephone: 13880 Central.

From 6s* per day

or 38s* 6d* per

week*
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LOSSIEMOUTH.

STOTFIEIiD HOTEL.
A PERFECT GOLFER'S RETREAT.

TWO SPLENDID GOLF COURSES (9 AND 18 HOLES).

EXCELLENT BATHING BEACH. MODERATE TERMS.
MAGNIFICENT NEW LOUNGE. ELECTRIC LIGHT.

MOTOR CAR ACCOMMODATION. PETROL, Etc., Etc.

Tariff on application to WILLIAM CHRISTIE, Proprietor.

LOUGH SWILLY, CO. DONEGAL.

PORTSALON HOTEL.
THIS excellent Hotel, which affords first-class accommodation and every comfort to

Families, Golfers, and other Tourists, is magnificently situated, with southern
aspect, and commands sea and mountain views of matchless beauty. The Golf Links
(18 holes) are most sporting and picturesque. Good lake and sea fishing. Boating,

Bathing, Tennis, Croquet, Billiards, Garage, Dark Room for Photography, etc. Route
via Strabane and Letterkenny, thence (during summer months) by Hotel Motor.
Telegrams—" Hotel, Portsalon."

Illustrated Brochure on application to MANAGER.

LYDFORD.

IVIANOR HOTEL-
"T^IVE minutes from South-Western and Great Western Stations. Sheltered situation

on fringe of Dartmoor. 26 Bedrooms. Comfortably furnished. First-class Coffee

and Drawing Rooms. The extensive private grounds of 50 acres include the beautiful

wooded valley and gorge of River Lyd, and celebrated Lydford Waterfall. Tennis

Lawn. Fishing, Rough Shooting. Hotel lighted throughout by Gas. Under personal

management of Proprietress, Mrs. MATHEWS. Newly built Stables. Garage. Ex-

cellent Cuisine. Terms moderate, on application.

Telegrams: Holman.

LYNTON.

VALLEY OF ROCKS
HOTEL.

Largest and Principal.

Situated in own Grounds.

600 Feet above and facing Sea.

Passenger Lift.

Radiator Heating.
Write for New Illustrated Tariff.

Motor Garage.
Resident Proprietor.

Telephone : No. 49.
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LYNTON.

IMPERIAL HOTEL.
Beautifully Situated.

Facing Sea.
Luxurious Lounge newly added.

Electric Light throughout.
Moderate Terms.
Motor Oarage.

Telephone : No. 50 Lynton.

Telegrams :
" Imperial,"

Lynton.

MALVERN.

THE ABBEY HOTEL.
IN EXCELLENT SITUATION.

MOST COMFORTABLE FAMILY HOTEL.
New and Commodious Coffee and Smoking Rooms have been

opened, and Suites of Rooms with Private Bath added.

Perfect Sanitary Arrangements. Electric Light throughout.

Telephone—No. 183. GARAGE. For Tariff apply Manager.

MALVERN.

THE FOLEY ARMS HOTEL.
(PATRONISED BY THE ROYAL FAMILY.)

" rpHE first time we visited Malvern, when shown into an upper
J- chamber in the 'Foley Arms,' we were literally taken aback.

We can hardly say more than that the prospect struck us as far finer than
from the terrace over the Thames at Richmond, etc., etc."

—

Extract from
article in "Blackwood" August 188'4.

Coffee Room and Drawing Room for Ladies and Gentlemen. Table d'H6te at
Separate Tables. Electric Light. Perfect Sanitary arrangements.

Telephone—No. 197 Malvern. Miss YOUNGER, Proprietress.

MALVERN.

Hardwicke Private Hotel.
Enjoys the highest reputation. Bathrooms. Electric Light
throughout the building. :: All Modern Conveniences.
NEAREST HOTEL TO THE COLLEGE AND GOLF LINKS.

Telegrams and Telephone—246 Malvern. H. WILSON, Proprietor.

A Guide to the places of Historic Interest, Natural Beauty, or Literary Association.

WHAT TO SEE IN ENGLAND. gokbonW
New Edition, revised and rearranged, containing 155 Page Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth.

Price 3/6 net. (By Post 3/10.)
Published by A. & C. BLACK, LTD., 4, 5, & 6 Soho Square, London, W.

And obtainable through any Bookseller.
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MARGATE.

WHITE HART HOTEL.
Established 150 Years.

FACING Sea. Sixty Bedrooms. Magnificent New Coffee Room and
Lounge, with every Comfort. Private Sitting Rooms all face the

Sea. Famed for its perfect English food and cooking, and choice wines.

Table d'Hote Lunch and Dinner all the year. Short distance from Golf
Links. Stabling for Motors. Billiards. Special Terms during winter
months and prolonged stay. City express, 5.10; Holborn Viaduct,

1 hour 30 minutes all year round. M. JESSOP.
Telegraphic Address: WHITE HART. Telephone: No. 44.

MATLOCK BATH :

" The Switzerland of England."

ROYAL HOTEL ft BATHS
THE LEADING HOTEL IN DERBYSHIRE.

Electric Light, Lift, and every Modern Corn-Port

Magnificent Private Grounds (20 Acres),

Lawn Tennis Courts, Bowling Greens.

Spacious Motor Garages. Excellent Cuisine.

EVERY KIND OF BATH AVAILABLE ON THE CONTINENT CAN
BE GIVEN UNDER THE MOST PERFECT CONDITIONS.

Renowned for the famous " FANGO DI BATTAGLIA " Treatment,
the only successful cure for Rheumatism, Gout, Sciatica, etc.

The " ROYAL ORCHESTRA" plays during Afternoon Tea and Dinner.

For Illustrated Tariff apply to the Manager—GEO. STOREY.

MULLION, COKNWALL.

MULLION COVE HOTEL.
THIRST-CLASS Official quarters of Royal Automobile Club. Only Licensed Hotel on

Mullion Coast. Magnificent Sea Views, including whole sweep of famous Mounts

Bay. Splendid Bathing and Fishing. Fine 18-Hole Golf Links. Spacious Lounge.

Electric Light. Book to Helston Station, G.W.R., thence per G.W.R. Motor.

MOTOR GARAGE WITH PIT.

Letters and Telegrams to MANAGER, MULLION COVE HOTEL, MULLION, R.S.O.
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MULLION, CORNWALL.

POLDHU HOTEL.
FIRST Class, Largest in District, Lounge, Electric Light throughout,

close to Sea, commands magnificent views of Mounts Bay with its

grand Cliff Scenery. Good Beach. Excellent Bathing. Lock-up Garage.

Adjoining splendid Golf Links, 18 Holes.

Tariff Moderate. Apply Manager.

MULLION, SOUTH CORNWALL.

POLURRIAN HOTEL.
T7URST CLASS. Stands in its own grounds of 4 acres ; replete

*• in all modern appointments ; Large Lounge ; Electric Light

;

Facing Sea; Good Boating, Fishing, and Bathing; Excellent Sands

;

near Splendid Golf Links (18 holes); Visitors driven free to same
at stated times ; Garage. Station, Helston. Terms moderate.

Apply MANAGER.

NAIRN.

THE WAVERLEY HOTEL.
rpHE MOST COMFORTABLE AND CENTRAL HOTEL IN TOWN, being nearest to
-*- Station and Post Office, and within a few minutes' walk of Golf Courses and Beach.

Recommended as one of the Best Temperance Hotels in Scotland.
There are 26 Well-Lighted Bedrooms, Bathrooms, Large Dining Room,

"Separate Tables," Drawing, Commercial and Smoke Rooms.
Breakfast and Teas, Is. to 2s. Bedroom and Attendance from 2s. 6d.

Weekly Terms £2 : 2s. From 7s, per Day.
Headquarters C.T.C. and A.C.U.

Garage close to Hotel. Boots attends all Trains.

Telephone No. 77. J. Q. CHISHOLM.

NEWCASTLE, CO. DOWN.

SLIEVE DONARD HOTEL,
FINEST HOTEL IN IRELAND.

OWNED AND MANAGED BY BELFAST AND COUNTY DOWN RAILWAY CO.

STANDS IN ITS OWN GROUNDS OF 12 ACRES. Faces Sea and Mourne Mountains
;

Royal County Down Golf Links (18 holes) immediately adjoining. Separate course for
ladies. Spacious Reception Rooms and Lounge ; 120 Bedrooms. Electric Light in
all Rooms ; Passenger Lift ; Hall and Corridors Heated ; Hot and Cold Sea and Fresh
Water Baths. Croquet and Lawn Tennis Courts.

Tariff on application to J. W. MANNING, Manager.

Telegrams: " Slieve, Newcastle, Down." Telephone: 6.
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NEWCASTLE-ON-TYNE.

THE TYNE TEMPERANCE
HOTEL,

HOOD STREET, NEAR TO MONUMENT.
T^ISITORS will find every comfort combined with moderate charges. Coffee

Drawing, Commercial, Smoke and Billiard Rooms. Electric Light throughout

Good Stock Rooms. National Telephone, 2144 Central. Telegrams, " Tyne Hotel."

The Artists 9 Sketch*Book Series.

NEWCASTLE-UPON-TYNE.
Sq. Demy 8vo. By R. J. S. BERTRAM. Price 1/- net.

Containing 24 Reproductions from Pencil Drawings.
"The books supply the tourist of artistic sympathies with a collection of sketches that will mean

more to him than the ordinary photograph."—Saturday Review.

PUBLISHED BY A. & C. BLACK, LTD., 4, 5, & 6 SOHO SQUARE, LONDON, W.

NEWQUAY.

HOTEL EDGCUMBE.
13EAUTIFULLY situated, with magnificent and uninterrupted view of

-*-^ the Atlantic Ocean and surrounding country. Overlooking bathing

beaches.

RECREATION ROOM.
Telephone 27.

LOCK-UP OARAGES.
Apply Manageress.

44
NEWQUAY

PENOLVER," PRIVATE HOTEL.
En Pension.

Uninterrupted Sea View. Path to Beaches from House. Easy access to Golf Links.
3 minutes from Railway Station. Electric Light. Best Position. Highly Recom-

mended. Tariff, etc., on application.

Telegrams—"Littlejohn, Newquay." Jno. LITTLEJOHN (fixlter!), Proprietor

MARINE HOTEL
ESPLANADE, OBAN.

1 mm. Pier, 3 mins. Station.
The Largest and Leading Temperance

Hotel. Upwards of 100 Rooms.
Lounge overlooking Bay.

Inclusive Terms throughout the Season.

This High-Class unlicensed Hotel is

one of the most popular houses in Scot-
land, and is well known for its excellent
plain cooking and very moderate tariff.

Booklet Sent.

FRANK WALTON, Proprietor.
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OBAN.

GREAT WESTERN HOTEL,
LARGEST AND LEADING HOTEL IN THE WEST HIGHLANDS.

Official Hotel S.A.C. ; A. A. ; and Touring Club of America.

Beautifully situated on Esplanade. Electric Light. Elevator. Charges moderate.
Special inclusive rates prior to 15th July and after 15th September. Illustrated
Tariff Booklet post free. Motor-'Bus meets Trains and Steamers and conveys Visitors

to Hotel Free of Charge. Garage. Petrol.

ALEX. McGREGOR, Resident Proprietor.

Telegraphic Address—"Western Oban." 'Phone—No. 4 Oban.

OBAN.

KING'S ARMS HOTEL.
FIRST-CLASS FAMILY AND TOURIST HOTEL

ON the Promenade, midway between Railway Station and Pier. Facing
the Bay. Magnificent Sea View. A. A. & M.U. Headquarters.

Coupons accepted. Rebuilt and enlarged. Boarding. Will be found
replete. Near Golf Course (18 holes). Porters await arrival of all trains

and steamers. J# M# MacTAVISH, Proprietor and Manager.

OBAN.PALACE
TEMPERANCE HOTEL,

GEORGE STREET, OBAN.

Every Home Comfort.
Boots waits Train and Steamer.

DREW'S HOTELS.
The " Wynnstay," Oswestry. 30 Rooms.

Appointed R.A.C. and Motor Union. Tel. No. 38 Oswestry.

The "Queen's," llfracombe. 30 Rooms.
B. and B., 5s. Tel. No. 66 llfracombe.

The " Imperial," llfracombe. ioo Rooms.
B. and B., 5s. Tel. No. 22 llfracombe.

The " Lamb," Cheltenham. 24 Rooms.
B. and B., 5 s. Tel. No. 931 Cheltenham.

Every Comfort and Accommodation for Motorists. Moderate Charges.

Electric Light in All. GOOD GARAGES.
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OXFORD.

RANDOLPH HOTEL,
BEAUMONT STREET,

IN THE CENTRE OF THE CITY.

THE modern Hotel of Oxford, close to the Colleges, Public

Buildings, and opposite Martyrs' Memorial. Replete with

every comfort and convenience.

Handsome Suites of Rooms ; Lounge, Drawing, Smoking,

and Billiard Rooms.

NEW GARAGE. AN AMERICAN ELEVATOR. CHARGES MODERATE.

A Night Porter in Attendance.

ELECTRIC LIGHT THROUGHOUT.

Address—THE MANAGER
OXFORD.

THE MITRE HOTEL,
SITUATED in the centre of the finest Street in Europe, is one of the

most ECONOMICAL First-Class Hotels in the Kingdom. Dining,

Drawing, Reading, and Smoking Rooms. Lounge and Spacious Billiard

Room. Electric Light. Night Porter.
Apply Miss THORNE,

'Phone 335. Telegrams : " Mitre, Oxford. "
Manageress.

OXFORD.

OXENFORD HALL, 13 to 17 magdalen st.

PRIVATE AND RESIDENTIAL HOTEIi.
Terms In the Centre of City. Near Colleges, Telephone 748.

Moderate. and opposite Martyrs' Memorial. MISS WATSON.

TWO BEAUTIFUL SOUVENIRS.
OXFORD. By J. E. MORRIS. tf^L

In the "Beautiful Britain Series."
x '° ™ »•

Containing 12 page illustrations in colour. \PV *QSl IS. 1UO..

OXFORD. By FRED. RICHARDS. pmce
In "The Artists' Sketch-Book Series." ' - «. x

Containing 24 page reproductions from pencil drawings. K^V * 0Sl *«*« ou«/

Published by A. & C. BLACK, LTD., 4, 5, & 6 Soho Square, London, W.
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PENZANCE.

MOUNT'S BAY HOTEL.
FIRST-CLASS FAMILY.

On the Esplanade. Facing the Sea. Full South Aspect.

Ladies' Coffee and Drawing Rooms. Smoke Room, for Visitors only,

with Grand Sea View. Moderate and Inclusive Terms for Winter Months.
'Bus meets Trains. Boating, Fishing, and Bathing.

WALTER H. PULMAN, Proprietor.

"THE PITLOCHRY HYDRO-HOTEL,"
PITLOCHRY, PERTHSHIRE.

"The Switzerland of Scotland."
A First-Class Family Hotel.

Standing in its own extensive ornamental
grounds on the Moulin Road high above the
village. Every window commands a view of the
most magnificent Highland Scenery. Southern
aspect. Sandy soil. Illustrated Guide on
application.

" The finest Bracing Mountain Air in
Scotland,"

Said Sir Andrew Clark, Queen's Physician.
Tennis. 18-Hole Golf Course. Croquet. Bowling.

Illustrated Guide on Application.

Fishing. Coaching. Moderate inclusive Terms. 'Phone 35. Telegrams-" Comfort^Pitloch^r."
Manageress—Mrs. MEIKLE.

PITLOCHRY.

CRAIGOWER PRIVATE HOTEL.
(Under New Management.)

MODERATE TARIFF.
Boarding Terms. Good Cuisine.

MOTOR ACCOMMODATION and J8-HOLE GOLF COURSE NEAR HOTEL.

Mrs. M'LEAN (Late of the Dreadnought Hotel, Callander), Proprietrix.

PITLOCHRY.

CENTRAL PERTHSHIRE HIGHLANDS.

LIST OF FURNISHED HOUSES TO LET
FOR SUMMER MONTHS, &c.

Free by Post, from C. C. STUART & SON.

Telegrams— '

' Stuart, Pitlochry. "
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PLYMOUTH.

DUKE OF CORNWALL HOTEL.
The leading and largest Hotel, centrally situated near Railway

Station and Sea Front. Recognised Hotel for Ocean Passengers.

GARAGE. ELECTRIC LIGHT AND LIFT.

HOTEL OMNIBUS MEETS ALL TRAINS.

Telegrams :
" Dukotel." " R.A.C." and " A.A."

PORTHCAWL.

ESPLANADE HOTEL
First=class Residential.

5 100 Rooms.
J^titf^k' kWkA &K*'ki R.A.C. A.A. and M.U.

District Hotel. Registered Hotel.

Best Situation.
First-class Cuisine.

Moderate Inclusive Terms according to

Boom and Season.

Nearest Licensed Hotel to the Special discount to Officers {convalescent)

ROYAL PORTHCAWL GOLF LINKS. invalided from the Front.

PORTRUSH, CO. ANTRIM.

NORTHERN COUNTIES HOTEL.
{Under the Management of the Midland Railway Company.)

FINEST GOLF LINKS IN IRELAND.
SPLENDID SUITES OF SEA AND FRESH WATER BATHS.

Electric Light throughout. Garage for 20 Motors.

Lounge Hall. Magnificent Ballroom.

Telegrams—" MIDOTEL, PORTRUSH." Telephone No. 14.

Full particulars on application to

F. AUDINWOOD, Manager, Northern Counties Committee's Hotels, etc.

PORTSMOUTH.

(TEMPERANCE)
FAMILY AND COMMERCIAL HOTEL, opposite town station.

(Book for Portsmouth Town.)

Every accommodation for Commercial and Private Visitors.

NIGHT BOOTS. RESTAURANT.
ALFRED GRIGSBY, Proprietor.
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ROSS-ON-WYE.

ROYAL HOTEL.
On an eminence overlooking River.

ROSS IS THE GATE OF THE WYE (THE RHINE OF ENGLAND).

THE only Hotel in the Town with a Garden, Pleasure Grounds, and an uninterrupted
view of the River. Every Comfort. Moderate Charges. Electric Light. Posting.

Golf. Fishing. Motor Garage and I. P. Petrol. Tel. : 40.

ST. FILLANS, LOCH EARN—PERTHSHIRE.

DRUMMOND ARMS HOTEL
FIRST-CLASS FAMILY AND TOURIST HOTEL,

SPLENDIDLY SITUATED AT THE FOOT OF LOCH EARN.
GOLF. FISHING. BOATING. POSTING. GARAGE.

TERMS MODERATE.
TELEGRAMS—Hotel, St. Fillans. R. A. CAMPBELL, Proprietor.

In connection with Station Hotel, Oban.

ST. IVES (CORNWALL).

TREVESSA
PRIVATE AND RESIDENTIAL HOTEL.

MODERATE TERMS EN PENSION.
Unrivalled Position overlooking the Bay.
Three Minutes from Station and Beach. Near Golf Links.

SPECIAL WINTER TERMS.
ALSO FURNISHED HOUSE.

Telephone 43. Miss V. NEWTON.

SARK, CHANNEL ISLANDS.

HOTEL BEL-AIR.
On the most bracing spot in the Island. A first-class country hotel.

THE largest and only Hotel on the island with a sea view. Possesses excellent
sleeping accommodation ; large Public, Drawing, Smoking, and Dining Rooms

(separate tables).

Good Fishing and Bathing ; Croquet and Tennis. Terms moderate.

N.B.—The Sark steamer leaves Guernsey at 10 a.m. daily (Saturdays at 11 a.m.)
during the summer months. Passage about one hour. Carriages and Porter from the
Hotel meet the Steamer.

BLACK'S BRITISH POST CARDS.
Beautiful Reproductions in Colour from Pictures by well-known Artists,

Series 2, 3, and 4. THE CHANNEL ISLANDS. Three packets
of six cards each. Price 6d. per packet.

PiHiiSHED BY A. & C. BLACK, LTD., 4, 5, & SOHO SQUARE, LONDON, W.
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SCOURIE, SUTHERLANDSHIRE.
FISHING, FISHING.

SCOURIE HOTEL.
"DEAUTIFULLY situated on West Coast and close to the famous Island of Handa±J with its myriads of birds and magnificent cliff scenery. Good brown trout fishing
on about 100 lochs, several of which have been stocked and are fished this season for
the first or second time, also good sea-trout and sea fishing ; 20 boats kept.

Sea bathing, boating, motoring and horse-hiring.
ROUTE.—Rail to Lairg, thence per daily motor service or special motor, or per

MacBrayne's weekly steamer, Glasgow to Badcall. ^ £j # Ross> Proprietor.

SEATON, DEVON.

ROYAL CLARENCE HOTEL.
FIRST-CLASS Family Hotel. Most centrally situated. Overlooking

Sea. Perfect Sanitation. Good Cricket. Golf. Tennis, etc. Axe
Yale Harriers hunt the District.

Good Sea and River Fishing.

Garage with Inspection Pit. Repairs executed. Terms strictly Moderate.

Telephone—No. 15. A. F. GODDARD, Proprietor.

ISLE OF SKYE.
Tourists wishing a quiet and pleasant holiday should come to SKYE

and stay at THE SLIGACHAN HOTEL, under new management.
Enlarged and Refurnished throughout.

Excursions arranged for Loch Coruisk, Cuchullin Hills,
Quirang, etc. Mountaineering. Fishing.

Carriages, Motors, Etc.

Illustrated booklet on application, JOHN CAMPBELL.

SLIGO.
VICTORIA HOTEL

Patronized by His Excellency The Lord-Lieutenant (Earl Dudley),
the Nobility, and Gentry.

Tourists, Anglers, and Families will find every convenience, combined with
cleanliness and moderate charges.

PRIYATE ROOMS, LADIES' SITTING-ROOMS. BATHS (HOT, COLD,
AND SHOWER). BILLIARDS AND GOLF.

Gentlemen staying at this Hotel have the privilege of Free Fishing for Salmon
and Trout on Loch Gill. Boats for hire. Posting in all its branches. Omnibus
attends all trains. Garage. Headquarters R.A.C., A. A., and I.A.C.

Cook's Coupons accepted.] J. A. HALL, Proprietor.
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SOUTHAMPTON, NEW FOREST, AND SOUTH HANTS.

WALLER & KING, F.A.I.
AUCTIONEERS, VALUERS, HOUSE, LAND, AND

ESTATE AGENTS.
THE AUCTION MART, 17 ABOVE BAR, SOUTHAMPTON.

(Business Established 1819.)

P.O. Telephone No. 230. Telegrams: " Auctioneers, Southampton."

Recognised as the LEADING AGENTS in the above Important Area.

SOUTHPORT—BIRKDALE PARK.

SMEDLEY HYDROPATHIC.
Electric Lift. Attractive Lounge. Electric Light.

New Ball Room recently opened.

WELL adapted for Summer or Winter residence, for either Invalids or

Visitors. Terms from 7s. 6d. per day. Turkish, Russian, Plunge,
and other Baths. Electric Cars run from the Hydro to Southport every

15 minutes. Hydropathy fully treated, under own Physician, J. G. G. Corkhill, M.D.

NEAR GOLF LINKS. LAWN TENNIS, BILLIARDS, ETC.
For Prospectus, apply Manageress.

STIRLING.

WAYERLEY HOTEL,
MURRAY PLACE.

(HIGH-CLASS TEMPERANCE.) Established over Half-a-Century.

REMODELLED AND REDECORATED.
FOR FAMILIES, TOURISTS, AND BUSINESS GENTLEMEN.

FIRST-CLASS RESTAURANT IN CONNECTION.
COOK'S COUPONS ACCEPTED. CHARGES MODERATE.

Telephone 287. Motor Garage, Officially Appointed by Scottish Automobile Club.

Electric Light throughout. P. M°ALPINE, Proprietor.

STRATHPEFFER.
~

SPA HOTEL.
Patronised by Royalty.

THE OLDEST-ESTABLISHED AND LEADING HOTEL.
Highest Situation, overlooking the Strath. Salmon and Trout fishing on Blackwater

and Conon, and Lochs Garve and Luichart. Cricket. Tennis. Croquet. Close to fine

18-hole Golf Course. Contains Spacious Public Rooms, Private Apartments en suite,

Recreation and Ball Rooms, Conservatories, and is secluded enough to ensure to visitors
the Privacy and Quiet of an ordinary Country Residence. Electric light throughout.
Perfect Cuisine or Medical Dietary. Reduced terms for Spring and Autumn months.

Special Terms for the Army and Navy during the War.
Garages. Motor Cars on Hire, and Petrol, etc., supplied.

Telegrams—"Wallaqe, Strathpeffer."
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L4 hours iron
8 hours from Edinburgh.

STRATHPEFFER SPA, ROSS-SHIRE. 14 hours from London

THE PRINCIPAL HOTEL:

THE BEN WYVIS.
Finest situation in extensive Pleasure Grounds. In full view of grand Highland Scenery.

EVERY HOME COMFORT. Electric Light. Lift to all Floors.

PUBLIC & PRIVATE APARTMENTS EN SUITE.
Private path to the Wells & Baths Headquarters of the R. and S.A. Clubs.
and to the Spa Gardens, in which M „ , „ _
a splendid Orchestra plays daily. Spacious Garage. Salmon & Trout Fishing

Near Superior Golf Course (18 holes). | Telegrams—" Ben Wyvis."
Note.—Illustrated Tariff Booklet free on Application.

STRATHPEFFER SPA, ROSS-SHIRE.

MACGREGOR'S PRIVATE HOTEL.
Mrs. MACGREGOR has resumed Management.

NEAR THE SPA, THE GOLF COURSE, AND STATION.
Billiards. Electric Light throughout. Mrs. MACGREGOR, Proprietrix.

TEIGNMOUTH.

ROBT. FROST 81 SON,
Huctioneers & Estate Hoents.

Monthly Register of ALL Houses both Furnished and Unfurnished,

in Teignmouth and its immediate Neighbourhood, Post Free on Application.

TENBY.

THE COBOURG HOTEL.
FIRST-CLASS, with Modern Improvements. Delightfully situated, com-

manding picturesque views of the North Bay, with Private Lawn on Cliff.

Spacious Lounge. Noted for best English food and cooking. Private Garage

with Pit. On the official list of the R.A.C.

Also Royal Hotel, Bath.

Telephone: 9, Tenby. Mrs. J. B. HUGHES, Proprietress.

TORQUAY.

"MARISTOW"
PRIVATE HOTEL (UNDER NEW MANAGEMENT.)

Charmingly situated, facing South, in one of the best situations in Torquay.

MAGNIFICENT SEA AND LANDSCAPE VIEWS.
Only a few minutes' walk from Torbay Sands, Princess Gardens, New Pavilion,

Bowling Green, Pier, and Railway Station.

EXCELLENT CUISINE. SEPARATE TABLES. SMOKING ROOM.
SPECIAL TERMS FOR VISITORS MAKING EXTENDED STAY.

Mrs. F. PAYTON, Proprietress.
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TORQUAY.

ROSETOR.
Late " ROSENAU."

One of Torquay's splendid mansions arranged on modern lines

as a high-class Private Hotel. Standing in its own Grounds of

li- acres. Beautifully situated on Sea Front, facing due South,

and commanding an uninterrupted View of the whole Bay.

Private Walk direct to Tor Abbey Sands. Central for every-

thing. Within easy distance of two Golf Courses.

Tennis, Croquet, etc.

Excellent Motor Garage and St&bling.

For terms apply Proprietors.

TORQUAY.
HOUSE & ESTATE AGENTS,

AUCTIONEERS, SURVEYORS, VALUERS, ETC.

COX 81 SON,
8 STRAND.

Established 1805. Illustrated Property List on application.

Telegrams :
" Cox & Son, Torquay." Tel. No. 8.

TORQUAY. TORQUAY.
HOUSE AGENTS,

AUCTIONEERS, VALUERS, ETC.

G. R. SMITH & SON, A.A.I.,
9 STRAND, TORQUAY. Established 1867.

Illustrated Register of all available Houses post free.
Also Special Lists of Apartments. Telephone u.
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TORQUAY.

ALLERDALE, Croft Road.
A Refined and Comfortable PRIVATE HOTEL, En Pension. Standing

in own Grounds. Facing South. Undoubtedly one of the finest

situations in Torquay. Magnificent Sea View. Sheltered. Sunny.

Select. Handsomely furnished and decorated. Heated throughout

and fitted with Electric Light. Garage, etc. 'Phone—667.

Illustrated Tariff from A. THOMSON, Proprietor.

TROSSACHS.
STRONACHLACHAR HOTEL,

HEAD OF LOCH KATRINE.
DONALD FERGUSON, Proprietor.

rpHIS Hotel, the only one on the shores of Loch Katrine, is most
* beautifully situated in the heart of ROB ROY'S Country

;

GLENGYLE and the romantic GRAVEYARD of CLAN
GREGOR, both described at page 77 of "Perthshire Guide,"

being in close proximity ; and as a fishing station it is unsurpassed.

Excellent boats and experienced boatmen are kept for parties staying

at the Hotel.

The Hotel is replete with every comfort, and is reached either by way of

Callander and Trossachs and the Loch Katrine Steamer, or by the Loch
Lomond Steamer and Coach from Inversnaid, there being a full service of

Coaches and Steamers by both these routes during the season.

Post and Telegraph Office In Hotel.

BOARD BY WEEK OR MONTH.
Carriages and other Conveyances kept for Hire.

Address : STRONACHLACHAR, by Inversnaid.

TRUKO.

RED LION HOTEL.
Established 1671.

Birthplace of Foote the Tragedian. Centre of City. Close to Cathedral.

Table <VH6te Dinner 7.30.

Motor Garage. Telephone No. 99.

Manageress—KISS CARLYON,
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THE SPA HOTEL.
HOTEL-DE-LUXE. PATRONIZED BY ROYALTY.

Telephone, 56. Telegrams: " SPA."

HIGH-
'"..,

. "' w& Orchestra.

CLASS :wk &%l&Msm TURKISH,
CUISINE.

^JP^ftP RADIANT,
EXCELLENT

J3. *%S&d^ffi&**^£^k HEAT, and
SERVICE.

PjWf
SWIMMING

60 ACRES swSBssf s» '

'
;

**&- 1 XSBiJ .!|9|
BATHS.

PARK. Post and

GOLF. B^B§<3H& ^^^^^?%^ Telegraph

TENNIS. ^vtfSBE'""jSS on

CROQUET.
ELEVATOR jPPflBS

H|B Premises.

;jg^BBHE'^^^SRll GARAGE.
Unequalled. ft ^ii--^:f-i%.^?4^--:-i^%

'

HEALTH RESORT.

STABLING.

FACING SOUTH.

For Brochure, apply MANAGER.

THE FAYOURITE HOTEL OF WORDSWORTH.

PATTERDALE HOTEL,
ULLSWATER, PENRITH.

BEAUTIFULLY situated in own grounds near the head of Ullswater, an excellent
centre for many charming walks and climbs ; Helvellyn, Aira Force, and Kirk-

stone Pass are within easy distance. The Hotel adjoins Post and Telegraph Office,
and is near the Church.

POST HORSES AND COMFORTABLE CARRIAGES.
GARAGE. Misses HUDSON, Proprietresses.

WINCHESTER AND
COUNTY OF HANTS.

PERCY SHENTON, F.A.I.,
41 JEWRY STREET, WINCHESTER.

Register of Properties FOR SALE and TO BE LET.
Special List Free on receipt of requirements. Tel. No. 7 X.

Two Beautiful Souvenirs.
WINCHESTER. By Tklfoed Varley. In the " Beautiful Britain Series." Containing

12 Full-page Illustrations in Colour. Square demy 8vo, cloth. Price
Is. 6d. net (by post. Is. 10d.).

WINCHESTER. By Gordon Home. In the " Artists' Sketch-Book Series." Containing
24 Reproductions in Facsimile from Pencil Drawings. Square demy
8vo. Price la. net (by post, Is. 3d.).

Published by A. & C. BLACK, LTD., 4, 5, & 6 Soho Square, London, W.
And obtainable of all Booksellers.

Estate and House Agent.



50 WORKINGTON GREAT YARMOUTH.

WORKINGTON.

CENTRAL HOTEL
(Adjoining Central Railway Station.)

EXTENSIVE ALTERATIONS COMPLETED. ONE OF THE FINEST AND
MOST LUXURIOUS DINING-HALLS IN THE NORTH.

Hotel appointed by the Automobile Association and Motor Union.
Good Stock Rooms. Garage.

Posting in all its Branches. 'Bus meets all Trains.

Telephone 250. J. KERLY, Proprietor.

GREAT YARMOUTH.
The Leading Family Hotels:—

THE QUEENS, Tel. No. 28.

Fine New Lounge. 125 Rooms. Electric Light.

New Motor Oarage. R.A.C. & A.A. Hotel.

Tel. No. 26.THE ROYAL,
Select Position. Winter Gardens and Lounge.

R.A.C. & A.A. Hotel. 100 Rooms. Electric Light.

rpHESE two first -class Family Hotels each occupy a commanding

position on the Marine Parade, with magnificent Sea Views, and

opposite the Beach Gardens.

ILLUSTRATED TARIFFS POST FREE.
W. NIGHTINGALE, Proprietor.

CAREERS FOR OUR SONS. Handbook toTarenfs.''
A Practical Handbook to the Professions and Commercial Life.

Compiled from the most recent Official Regulations, etc.

By George H. Williams, M.A. (Oxon.), formerly Headmaster of Carlisle

Grammar School.
New Edition, Revised throughout and Enlarged, and now made uniform

with Black's Books of Reference ("Who's Who," etc.).

Crown 8vo, cloth. Price 5s. net (by post 5s. 4d.).

"We can heartily recommend the book to all who are in a difficulty as to the
choice of a career for their boys."—Academy.

"A mass of information, brought thoroughly up to date, which any parent
or guardian would do well to possess."

—

World.
Obtainable of all Booksellers.

Published by A. & C, BLACK, LTD., 4, 5 & 6 Soho Square, London, W.



RAILWAYS. 5

1

FURNESS RAILWAY.

(CONISTON FROM BEACON CRAGS.)

20 Rail, Coach, and Steam Yacht

TOURS THROUGH LAKELAND
EVERY WEEK.DAY

From July 12th to September 30th.

The following Tours embrace the chief places of interest in the
Lake District.

No. i.—Outer Circular Tour, embracing Windermere Lake, Furness Abbey, and
Coniston.

No. 2.—Inner Circular Tour, embracing Furness Abbey, Coniston Lake,
and Crake Valley.

No. 4.—Middle Circular Tour, embracing Windermere Lake, the Crake Valley,
and Coniston Lake.

No. 5.—Red Bank and Grasmere Tour, via Ambleside and Skelwith Force.

No. io.—Round the Langdales and Dungeon Ghyll Tour, via Ambleside,
Colwith Force, Grasmere, and Rydal.

No. 13.—Five Lakes Circular Tour, viz.—Windermere, Rydal, Grasmere,
Thirlmere, and Derwentwater.

No. 14.—Wastwater Tour, via Seascale, and Gosforth. Churchyard Cross, a.d. 680.

No. 15.—Six Lakes Circular Tour, viz.—Windermere, Rydal, Grasmere,
Thirlmere, Derwentwater, and Ullswater.

No. 16.—Duddon Valley Tour, via Broughton-in-Furness, Ulpha, and Seathwaite.
No. 20.—George Romney's Home (1742 to 1755). Walney Bridge and

Island, and Furness Abbey Tour, via Sowerby Wood.
For further particulars see the Company's Illustrated Tours Programme, to be had

gratis at all Furness Railway Stations ; from Mr. A. A. Haynes, Superintendent of

the Line, Barrow-in-Furness ; and at the Offices of Messrs. Thos. Cook & Son ; also
at the principal Bookstalls.

Dl API/Dfini AND I A l/CO In connection with the Company's Paddle
DLHUlXrUUL THE LMIVLO Steamers 'Lady Evelyn' & 'LadyMoyra.'

Every Week-day from July 12th to September 30th,
THE OUTER CIRCULAR TOUR

(This Combination provides an ideal Day's Picnic Tour), by Sea, Rail, Lake, and Coach,
embracing Furness Abbey, Windermere Lake and Coniston.

ALFRED ASLETT,
Barrow-in- Furness, April 1915. Secretary and General Manager.
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RAILWAY TRAVELLERS
And others solicitous for the welfare of the widows
and fatherless are earnestly invited to assist the

philanthropic work of the

LONDON AND SOUTH-WESTERN

RAILWAY SERVANTS'

ORPHANAGE

MAINTAINED

BY

VOLUNTARY

SUPPORT.

By contributing a coin to " LONDON JACK'S" case at Waterloo Station, or

to the box carried by "LONDON JACK," who is "on duty" at Waterloo in

charge of his mistress, Mrs. Wickens, every week-end.

The Institution now maintains 135 orphans, and funds are urgently needed
to provide for their efficient maintenance, and for the up-keep of the New
Orphanage at Woking, opened by H.R.H. the Duchess of Albany in 1909 ; also

contributions and legacies to the Endowment Fund kindly initiated by the
Right Hon. Viscount Midleton and other gentlemen, in recognition of the
loyalty and devotion to duty of South-Western men during the Railway Strike,

August 1911.

Subscriptions or Donations towards the maintenance expenses will also be
gladly received by the Stationmaster at any L. & S. W. Ry. Station, by the
District Secretaries at Basingstoke, Bournemouth, Eastleigh, Exeter, Ports-
mouth, Salisbury, Southampton, Strawberry Hill, and Woking ; or by

The General Secretary, Mr. H. G. WARNE,
at the Orphanage, Woking, Surrey.
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The Holiday Books
of the Holiday Line.

<M

G.W.R. Travel Books.
The G.W.R. Travel Books contain a large variety of very interesting

information, presented in a thoroughly practical manner. They are

unique in railway literature and are worthy of a place in the library

after their duties as holiday guides and companions are fulfilled.

Each book is copiously illustrated and contains a good coloured map.

LIST OF THE G.W.R. TRAVEL BOOKS
THE CORNISH

RIVIERA.
Price 3d., post-free 66.

DEVON: The Shire
the Sea Kings,.

Price 3d., post' free 6d.

of

HAUNTS & HINTS
FOR ANGLERS: A Pis-
catorial Travel Book.

Price 66., post-free 9d.

SOUTH WALES:
The Country of Castles.

Price 3d., post-free 66.

NORTH WALES.
British Tyrol.

Price 3d., post'free 66

The

HISTORIC SITES &
SCENES of ENGLAND

for travellers of all
Nations.

Price 3d., post-free 66.

a HOLIDAY HAUNTS."
The G.W.R. Guide—" Holiday Haunts in England, Wales and Southern
Ireland"—is an annual publication which is full of suggestions for

holidays for every one. This Guide, in addition to describing and
illustrating the whole of the territory served by the G.W.R., tells the
visitor where to stay—complete tabulated particulars of accommodation
being given. Complete edition illustrated, 3d., or post-free 6 stamps.
(Sections : West of England and Channel Is., id. ; Ireland, id.)

A remarkable work of remarkable value.

The books maybe obtained at G.W.R. Stations
and Bookstalls, or from the Superintendent of
the Line, Paddington Station, London, W., at the

—prices shown.-— —

Full particulars of fares, tourist arrangements, etc.,
may be obtained from the Enquiry Office, Paddington
Station, by personal enquiry, by post or 'Phone,

Paddington 7000.

G.W.R.—The Holiday Line.
F. Potter, General Manager.
19*5.
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y]N b E R G R O U N Q
THE BEST WAY TO THE THEATRES

TO VICTORIA.EARLS COURT.

PUTNEY, WIMBLEDON,
HAMMERSMITH.EALING
RICHMOND.HOUNSLOW.
HARROW.& UX3RIDGE

KEY TO THEATRE PLAN.
32 Adelphi
36 Aldwych
20 Alhambra
8 Apollo

31 Coliseum
25 Comedy
Coronet (Notting
Hill Gate.) iS.W.)

Court (Sloane Sq.,

23 Covent Garden
18 Criterion
16 Daly's

27 Drury Lane 6 Middlesex Music Hall
26 Duke of York's 22 New
15 Empire

|
30 Garrick 5 New Royalty

37 Gaiety
|

9 Globe 2 Oxford Music Hall
29 Haymarket 11 Palace
17 Hippodrome 1 Palladium
28 His Majesty's 14 Pavilion
4 Holborn Empire 38 Playhouse

12 Kingsway 19 Prince of Wales
24 London Opera House 3 Princes
34 Lyceum 10 Queen's
7 Lyric 41 Savoy

St. James's
(Dover St. and St.

James's Park Stn.)

Scala (Goodge St.,

8.W.)
13 Shaftesbury
35 Strand

39 The Little

33 Vaudeville

Victoria Palace
( Victoria).

21 Wyndham's



RAILWAYS STEAMERS. 55

DEVONSHIRE.

Lynton & Barnstaple Railway

This Narrow-gauge Picturesque Line

affords connection at BARNSTAPLE
(Town Station) with the Main Line

Trains of the London and South-

western Railway Company, and gives

THE BEST AND QUICKEST
ROUTE TO LYNTON AND
LYNMOUTH FROM ALL PARTS

For Time Tables, etc., apply

—

"GENERAL MANAGER," L. & B. RAILWAY, BARNSTAPLE.

BIBBY LINE OF TWIN-SCREW MAIL STEAMERS
TO EGYPT, CEYLON, BURMAH, AND SOUTHERN INDIA

(Sailings Fortnightly, via Marseilles)

Offers special facilities for passengers to and from

SOUTH of FRANCE, the RIYIERA, ITALIAN LAKES,
CORSICA, EGYPT, PALESTINE, etc.

As the bulk of the Eastern passengers by this line embark and dis-

embark at Marseilles, those desirous of the short trip (6J days) between
England and Marseilles are afforded very ample accommodation on these
fine twin-screw vessels, at very moderate rates.

For such as desire a week at sea, with the most favourable surround-
ings, this has become a very favourite trip.

Passengers taking Return Tickets from Liverpool have the option of

returning by any of the Bibby Line Steamers, or overland through Paris

to London, first class ; similarly passengers may proceed to Marseilles

from London by rail, and return by sea.

FIRST-CLASS FARE ^8 :8s. SINGLE; £is RETURN.
MOTORS.—Special arrangements are made for the Carriage of Motors, and these are

now largely availed of by those visiting the South of France, Riviera, etc.

For all further information apply to

Messrs. BIBBY BROS. <* Co., 26 Chapel Street, Liverpool,
or 10/11 Mincing Lane, London, B.C.
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GLASGOW & THE WEST HIGHLANDS.
CIRCULAR TOUR OCCUPYING ABOUT A WEEK BY THE

Splendidly fitted Steamer, <( T-TTHT130TrMirC M Superior Accommodation.
Lighted by Electricity. nCr£3X\.lJU£10 Bathroom, etc.

FROM GLASGOW AND GREENOCK
For ISLAY, OOLONSAY, OBAN, MULL, COLL, TIREE, WEST OF SKYE,

BENBEOULA, NORTH AND SOUTH UIST, BARRA, etc., affords the Tourist a

splendid opportunity of viewing the magnificent scenery of the WEST OF SKYE
and the OUTER ISLANDS.
ISLAND OF ST. KILDA.—During the Season extended trips are made to this most

interesting and romantic Island, also to beautiful and wild Loch Roag, Lewis, when
passengers are given facilities (W.P.) for landing.

Telegraph Address : Fares, Time Bills, Maps ofRoute, Cabin Plans, and Berths secured

"McCalTum—Glasgow." at JOHN M'CALLUM & CO., 87 Union Street, Glasgow.

GLASGOW AND THE HIGHLANDS.
CIRCULAR TOURS AMONG THE WESTERN ISLES OF SCOTLAND.

THE Favourite Steamer DUNARA CASTLE sails from Glasgow and Greenock, via

COLONSAY, IONA, BUNESSAN, TIREE, BARRA, UIST, SKYE, and HARRIS.
Affords to Tourists the opportunity of about a week's comfortable Sea Voyage, and
at the same time a Panoramic View of the magnificent scenery of the Western Isles.

Extended Tours to the Island of St. Kilda on special dates.

For dates of sailings, fares, and further information apply to

MARTIN ORME & CO., 20 Robertson Street, Glasgow.

THE ROYAL MAIL ROUTE TO

CAMPBELTOWN
(FOR MACHRIHANISH).
Per "DAVAAR" or "KINLOCH."

Via LOCHRANZA, PIRNMILL, and CARRADALE. Regular Sailings Twice Daily.

Trains leave Glasgow (Central Station) 8. 30 a.m. and 12.45 p.m. (Fridays 4.5 p.m.) to

Gourock; returning from Campbeltown 8 a.m. (Mondays 4.20 a.m.) and 3.30 p.m.
For full particulars and alterations, see Glasgow newspapers. Telegrams, " Davaar,

Campbeltown." J. L. Macdonald, 13 Clyde Place Quay, Glasgow, P. McCallum,
Custom House Quay, Greenock, Agents.

ROSS WALLACE, Manager, Campbeltown.

Peeps at Great Steamship Lines.

THE PENINSULA & ORIENTAL By g. e. mitton.
Containing 8 full-page illustrations in colour, and 21 line illustrations in the text.

Large Crown 8vo, cloth, picture cover. Price Is. 6d. net (by post Is. 10d.).

"A very instructive account is given of the complicated organisation which is

essential to the success of a great steamship line, and also of the course followed by the
P. and O. boats, which is more than ordinarily romantic."

—

Nottingham Guardian.
"Of volumes dealing with modern sea travel few possess greater interest."

—

Shipping Gazette.

Published by A. & C. BLACK, LTD., 4, 5, & 6 Soho Square, London, W.
And obtainable through any bookseller.
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TO ANGLERS.

W. J. CUMMINS, Ltd.
Will send their Magnificent Catalogue and Angler's Guide

FREE to any Address.

This interesting book has over 200 pages, many hundreds of Illustra-

tions, and Original Articles on Fly, Worm, and Minnow Fishing for

Trout, Salmon Fishing, Hints to Anglers visiting Norway, Canada, New
Zealand, &c.

This publication has been highly praised and recommended
by all the principal Sporting Papers.

FISHINGS TO LET.

Information gladly given regarding Fishing Outfits

for any part of the World.

Write for particulars of Cummins' "Angler's Information Bureau."

Special Salmon and Trout Flies for Ireland, including Lough
Conn, Connemara District, Killarney, the Rosses Fishery, &c.
Selected List of over Seventy Patterns for the Trout Rivers
of the United Kingdom. Special Patterns for the Scotch
Lochs. Special Flies and Tackle for Norway.

W. J. CUMMINS, LTD.
North of England Rod Works, Bishop Auckland.

Establish kd 1857.
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J. WATSON LYALL & CO., LTD.
SHOOTING

AND

FISHING
AGENTS,

21 PALL MALL, LONDON, S.W.
(Entrance in St. James's Square.)

THIS AGENCY, FOR THE

LETTING AND SELLING
OF

Deer Forests, Grouse Moors, Mansion Houses,
Low=Ground Shootings, Salmon Fishings, &c. &c.

Is one of the Largest and most important Agencies of the

kind in the Kingdom.

Telegrams : WATSON LYALL, LONDON. Telephone No. 6287, GERRARD.

The Sportsman's

and Tourist's Guide

TO THE

RIVERS, LOCHS, MOORS, AND
DEER FORESTS

OF

SCOTLAND.

Price Is., or Is. 3d. by Post.

OFFICES: 21 PALL MALL, LONDON, S.W.
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Has no peer for safety

The " Safety Tread " Tyre

THE B.F. GOODRICH CO., LTD
117 Golden Lane, London, E.C.

See their Illustrated Catalogue for proof.

Cordials
AND

BritishWines
LIME JUICE CORDIAL
LEMON SQUASH

GREEN CINCER.ORANCE
RAISIN WINE ET?

khweppes

fcipGiwrfc
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WEST OF SCOTLAND
SANITARY ASSOCIATION

SANITARY SURVEYS AND REPORTS.

This Association employs a permanent staff of experienced Engineers, and furnishes

reports on Sewage Disposal, Drainage, Sanitary Appliances, Water Suijplies in town or

country, and hot water and heating arrangements. Plans are prepared, estimates
obtained, and the whole work supervised during its progress. The Association is not
formed for purposes of profit. Further particulars may be had on application

to the Secretary.

President.

Sir James Bell, Bart., Ex-Lord Provost of Glasgow.

Vice-Presidents.

Sir Thos. Glen Coats, Bart., Paisley.

Sir Matthew Arthur, Bart., Fullarton, Troon.

Secretary and Treasurer.

W. R. M. CHURCH, C.A, 104 WEST CEORCE STREET, GLASGOW.
Telegraphic Address

—

"Church," Glasgow. Telephone—3405 Douglas.

" Healthy Houses."

SANITARY PROTECTION ASSOCIATION.
ESTABLISHED 1878.

Head Office: No. 5 ALVA STREET, EDINBURGH.
Telegraphic Address—" HEALTH, EDINBURGH." Telephone No.—QQ2 Central.

The Association employs a permanent staff of experienced Engineers, and is thus
able to furnish REPORTS, at the shortest notice, on the SEWAGE DISPOSAL,
DRAINAGE, SANITARY APPLIANCES, and WATER SUPPLY of HOUSES in

TOWN or COUNTRY, or to prepare plans, obtain estimates, and supervise the execu-
tion of any such new work required. The Rates of Subscription and any other in-

formation may be obtained from the Secretary, R. BLACKADDER, Esq.

Tomato Catsup

Ask for it at

your Hotel

When taking your holi-

day IT WILL ADD TO YOUR

ENJOYMENT IF YOU HAVE

G.D. CATSUP with

YOUR FISH OR MEAT.

per Bottle.3d., 6d., 9d. and Is
Simply ask your Grocer for a Bottle of

G.D. TOMATO CATSUP.
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TEMPERANCE PERMANENT
BUILDING SOCIETY,

4, 6 & 8 LUDGATE HILL, LONDON, E.G.

THE LARGEST, STRONGEST, AND
CHEAPEST IN LONDON.

Prompt Advances. Light Repayments.
Easy Redemptions. Low Costs.

ABSOLUTE SECURITY FOR INVESTORS.
Shares, 4 per cent. Deposits, 3 per cent.

RESERVE FUND EXCEEDS £140,000.
EDWARD WOOD, Manager.

AUSTRALIAN
MUTUAL PROVIDENT

Est. SOCIETY. 1849.

THE LARGEST Mutual Life Office in the Empire.

Funds £32,000,000. Annual Income £4,000,000

MODERATE PREMIUMS. LIBERAL CONDITIONS.

WORLD-WIDE POLICIES.

EVERY YEAR A BONUS YEAR.
Whole Life Policies 20 years in force show average increase of

the sum assured by Bonus exceeding 50 per cent. Endowment
Assurance Results also Unsurpassed.

" A stronger Life Office does not exist, and the bonus record of the Society is truly remark-
able."

—

Saturday Review.
" The conditions it now presents make the maintenance or improvements of its returns to

Policyholders practically certain."

—

The Insurance Spectator.

37 THREADNEEDLE STREET, LONDON, E.C.

,J
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A MUTUAL OFFICE
with a high rate
of Bonus will
ensure you the

BEST RESULTS

Write to the

National Provident Institution

FOR MUTUAL LIFE ASSURANCE,
48 GRACECHURCH STREET, LONDON, E.C.,

for a Quotation before Assuring elsewhere.

AN EASY SHAVE
WITHOUT SOAP
Use a Tube of LLOYD'S

EUX-E-SIS
AND A RAZOR-THAT'S ALL
It Softens Beard, Soothes Sensitive Skin,

Avoids Cutting

AND SAVES TIME
Ask for Widow Lloyd's Eux-e-sis
at Chemists or Stores. The
label on genuine bears signature
" Aimee Lloyd " in RED.

Refuse any other.

Tubes 1/6 or 3s. each, post free (United
Kingdom). A small "Trial" Tube (for

week-end visit) 6d.

From Sole Manufacturers and
Proprietors

:

AIMEE LLOYD & CO.,
23 Panton St., Haymarket, London. S.W.

PRIMER OF STATISTICS.
By W. Palin Elderton and Ethel M.

Elderton.
Containing one plate and twenty-three diagrams.

Price 1/6 net.
Crown 8vo. (By post 1/9.) Bound in Cloth.

"A valuable little book, and one calculated to

amply fulfil the claim made for it by Sir Francis
Galton in his lucid preface of 'familiarizing edu-
cated persons with the most recent developments
of the new school of statistics.'"— Newcastle
Journal.

THE

CONSTRUCTION OF MORTALITY
AND SICKNESS TABLES.

A PRIMER by W. Palin Elderton and
Richard C. Fippard.

FELLOWS OF THE INSTITUTE OF ACTUARIES.

Price 2/6 net.
Crown 8vo. (By post 2/9.) Bound in Cloth.

"... Have so handled their subject as to make
it readily understandable by would-be students of

insurance principles and processes, though without
any knowledge of the mathematics of insurance,

and the book may be termed the clearest and
most concise treatment of its subject now avail-

able."

—

American Economic Review.

Published by A. & C. BLACK, LTD.,
4, 5, & 6 Soho Square, London, W.
And obtainable of all Booksellers.

C. & G. KEARSLEY'S Original

WIDOW WELCH'S FEMALE PILLS.
Prompt and Reliable, for Ladies. The only Genuine. Awarded Certificate of

Merit at the Tasmanian Exhibition, 1891. 100 Years' Reputation. Ordered

by Specialists for the cure of all Female Complaints. Sold in boxes, 1/H and

2/9, at all Chemists, or post-free, 1/2 and 2/10, from

CATHERINE KEARSLEY (Dept. B. G.),

42 WATERLOO ROAD, LONDON, S.E.
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SUN FIRE OFFICE
(206th YEAR).

HEAD OFFICE:

63 THREADNEEDLE

STREET, E.C.

FOUNDED 1710

Copied from Policy dated 1726.

BRANCHES.
London, 60 Charing Cross.

„ 332 Oxford Street.

,, 40 Chancery Lane.

,, 42 Mincing Lane.
Birmingham, 10 Bennett's Hill.

Potteries (Sub - Branch), 10 Pall Mall,

Hanley.
Brighton, 3 Prince's Place, North Street.

Bristol, Clare Street.

Cardiff, 13 Windsor Place.

Swansea (Sub-Branch), 7 & 8 Oxford
Street.

Hull, Lowgate.
Ipswich, Sun Buildings.

Leeds, 15 Park Row.
Sub-Branches

:

—
Bradford, Market Street.

Halifax, 15 Commercial Street

Leeds (Sub-Branches—contd.)—
Huddersfleld, St. George's Square.
Sheffield, 62 & 64 Fargate.

Liverpool, 6 Chapel Street.

Manchester, 84 King Street.

Blackburn (Sub-Branch), Richmond Ter.

Newcastle-on-Tyne, Collingwood Street.

Carlisle (Sub-Branch), 2 Lowther Street.

Nottingham, 19 Low Pavement.
Plymouth, 59 Bedford Street.

Reading, 33 Blagrave Street.

Southampton, High Street.
Edinburgh, 40 Princes Street.

Aberdeen (Sub-Branch), 46a Union St.

Dundee (Sub-Branch), 33 Albert Square.
Glasgow, 42 Renfield Street.
Dublin, 9 College Green.
Belfast (Sub-Branch), 38 Rosemary St.

Insurances effected against the following Risks

FIRE.
RESULTANT LOSS OF RENT AND PROFITS.

EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY and WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION,
including ACCIDENTS TO DOMESTIC SERVANTS.

PERSONAL ACCIDENT. SICKNESS and DISEASE.
FIDELITY GUARANTEE. BURGLARY. PLATE GLASS.

MODERATE RATES. PROMPT SETTLEMENTS.
LOSSES BY LIGHTNING ADMITTED UNDER FIRE POLICIES.

APPLICATIONS FOR AGENCIES INVITED.
GBO. B. MEAD, Manager and Secretary.
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BLACK'S
ANNUALS & BOOKS OF REFERENCE

WHO'S WHO, 1915.

Large post Svo, cloth. Price 15s. net. (By post 15s. 6d.)
Or bound in full red leather, with rounded corners and gilt edges.

Price 20s. net. (By post 20s. 6d.)
This year's issue contains over 25,000 biographies.

WHO'S WHO YEAR BOOK, 1914-15.
Containing Tables complementary to the information given in Who's

Who. Price Is. net. (By post Is. 3d.)

ENGLISHWOMAN'S YEAR-BOOK
AND DIRECTORY, 1915.

Edited by G. E. Mitton.
Thirty-fourth Year of Issue. Crown Svo, cloth.

Price 2s. 6d. net. (By post 2s. lOd.)

THE WRITERS' AND ARTISTS'
YEAR=BOOK, 1915.

A Directory for Writers, Artists, and Photographers.
Tenth Year of New Issue. Crown 8vo, cloth.

Price Is. net. (By post Is. 3d.)

BLACK'S MEDICAL DICTIONARY.
By J. D. Comrie, M.A., B.Sc, M.D., F.R.C.P.E.
Fifth Edition, completing 30, 000 copies. Containing 425 illustrations,

12 being full-page in colour.

Demy Svo, cloth. Price 7s. 6d. net. (By post 8s.

)

BOOKS THAT COUNT.
A DICTIONARY OF STANDARD BOOKS.

Edited by W. Forbes Gray.
Crown 8vo, cloth. Price 5s. net. (By post 5s. 4d.)

It gives details of about 5500 works, in all departments of literature (excepting
fiction), arranged in sections and fully indexed, thus facilitating ready reference.

CAREERS FOR OUR SONS.
A Practical Handbook to the Professions and Commercial Life.

Edited by George H. Williams, M.A. (Oxon.).

Fourth Edition, revised throughout and enlarged.

Crown Svo, cloth. Price 5s. net. (By post 5s. 4d.)

Published by A. & C. BLACK. LTD., 4, 5, & 6 Soho Square, London, W.

And obtainable of all Booksellers.
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MARINE ACCIDENT
Capital fully Subscribed

Capital Paid up .

£2,950,000

£295,000

Life Funds £5,650,889
Special Trust Funds:—

" West of England " 538,256
" Hand in Hand " 3,732,116
" Union Life Fund " 4,044,087

Other Assets 10,936,904
Total, 31st December 1913 . £24,902,252

Total Annual Income exceeds .... £8,500,000

The following classes of Insurance effected :

—

FIRE, LIFE and ANNUITIES, MARINE, LEASEHOLD REDEMPTION
and SINKING FUND.

ACCIDENT, including Personal Accident, Third Party, Burglary,

Plate Glass, Fidelity Guarantee, Employers' Liability, Workmen's Com-
pensation, and Servants' Insurance.

The Company will act as TRUSTEES and EXECUTORS under Wills.

Prospectuses and all information needful for effecting Assurances may
be obtained at any of the Company's Offices or Agencies throughout
the world.

EDINBUBGH BRANCH .

LOCAL
Geo. Bennet Clark, Esq., W.S., Edin.
Isaac Connell, Esq., S.S.C., Edin.
Robt. F. Dudgeon, Esq., of Cargen,
Dumfries.

. 10 North St. David Street.

BOARD.
James M. Gray, Esq., Solicitor, Dundee.
Alexander Lawson, Esq., of Burnturk,

Kettle, Fife.

John C. Scott, Esq., of Synton, Hawick.
Graham G. Watson, Esq., W.S., Edinburgh.

W. P. WILSON BRODIE, O.A., District Manager.



Banish
dust, dirt

and germs
from floors,

furniture

and linoleum,

by using

RONUR
—The Sanitary Polish

for the Home.

Sold everywhere. In tins, 3d., 6d., Is., & 2s.



11 The little book makes you long to go there and to see with her eyes some
of the exquisite wonders which, alas, you missed with your own ! "

—

Tatler.

THE "FASCINATION" SERIES
VOLUMES READY

BRITTANY HOLLAND
IRELAND SWITZERLAND

• By L. EDNA WALTER, B.Sc, A.C.G.I.

EACH CONTAINING 24 FULL - PAGE
ILLUSTRATIONS FROM PHOTOGRAPHS

BY POST in CZA BY POST

Is. 9d. PRICE IS. Da. NET l s . 94.

PER VOLUME

NOTE

THE OBJECT OF THIS SERIES IS TO GIVE SOME SIMPLE DE-
SCRIPTIONS IN WORDS AND PICTURES OF THE MOST
STRIKING AND INTERESTING FEATURES OF THE PEOPLE

AND COUNTRIES DEALT WITH, SO THAT THE TRAVELLER MAY
FEEL SOMETHING OF THE SPIRIT OF THE LAND BEFORE AND
DURING HIS VISIT, OR MAY ADD TO HIS MEMORIES AFTER HE
HAS LEFT.
EVERY COUNTRY AND EVERY RACE HAS SOMETHING IN IT

BY WHICH IT DIFFERS FROM ITS NEIGHBOURS, AND IT IS

THIS WHICH GIVES TO IT ITS SPECIAL FASCINATION. THUS
BRITTANY IS SPECIALLY ATTRACTIVE BECAUSE OF ITS OLD-
WORLD CUSTOMS AND ITS QUAINT SURVIVALS OF ANCIENT
FAITHS. SWITZERLAND, ON THE OTHER HAND, SUGGESTS THE
PICTURE OF GLORIOUS SCENERY— MOUNTAIN, LAKE, AND
VALLEY—PEOPLED BY A HARDY RACE PUSHING THEIR WAY
UPWARDS TO THE SNOWS AND GLORYING IN THEIR PAST
FIGHT FOR FREEDOM. THE FASCINATION OF HOLLAND LIES
IN ITS CANALS, BOATS, AND FISHERIES, WITH THE EVIDENCE
ON ALL SIDES OF WHAT A BRAVE AND PERSISTENT NATION
CAN DO WHEN IT HAS TO STEAL FROM THE SEA THE VERY
LAND ON WHICH IT BUILDS AND LIVES, AND HAS TO FIGHT
FOR ITS FREEDOM IN THE TEETH OF EVERY CONCEIVABLE
OBSTACLE. IN THE LATEST VOLUME (IRELAND) MISS WALTER
SHOWS THAT IN OUR OWN BRITISH ISLES THERE ARE CHARAC-
TERISTICS AS PICTURESQUE AS ANY TO BE FOUND ABROAD.

Published by

A. & C. BLACK, 4, 5, & 6 SOHO SQUARE, LONDON, W.



^be flftotor IRoutes Series
Edited by GORDON HOME

LARGE CROWN 8VO, GILT TOP

Cloth, price 5s. net each (by post
'; 5/5).

Leather, price 7S. 6d. net each (by post, 7/1 1).

THE MOTOR ROUTES OF ENGLAND
A Guide to the Beautiful Scenery and
Interesting Localities in the Country

SOUTHERN SECTION
(South of the Thames)

Containing 24 full-page Illustra-

tions in Colour and 45 Sketch

Maps and Plans in the Text.

WESTERN SECTION
AND WALES

Containing 24 full-page Illustra-

tions in Colour and 42 Sketch

Maps and Plans in the Text.

"One of the finest books dealing with motor subjects that we have had the

pleasure to handle for a long time. . . . Every motorist who fails to obtain a copy
thereof richly deserves to lose his way, as well as miss the best of the scenery en
route on his next and succeeding trips."

—" The Road" Review of Motor Routes
—Southern Section.

THE MOTOR ROUTES OF FRANCE
TO THE CHATEAUX COUNTRY, BIARRITZ,
THE PYRENEES, THE RIVIERA, AND THE

RHONE VALLEY
Containing 1 6 full-page Illustrations in Colour, 1 6 in Black

and White, and 63 Maps and Plans.

"The traveller who has this work for a companion may feel assured that he will

miss little of interest or importance along the way."

—

Westminster Gazette.

THE MOTOR ROUTES OF GERMANY
Through North-Eastern France and Holland
to the Rhine, the Moselle, the Black Forest,

the Thuringian Forest, the Taunus and Bavaria

By HENRY J. HECHT
Containing 16 full-page Illustrations in Colour,

and 47 Route Maps and Town Plans.

Published by

A. & C. BLACK, 4, s, & 6 SOHO SQUARE, LONDON, W.



BLACK'S FOREIGN GUIDE BOOKS

Belgium. With 12 Illustrations and 23 Maps and Plans.

2s. 6d. net. 1910
Brittany with Touraine. With 8 Illustrations and 26 Maps and

Plans. 2s. 6d. net. 1914
Cairo of To-day. With 7 Illustrations and 3 Maps and Plans.

2s. 6d. net. 1914
Constantinople. With 8 Illustrations and 4 Maps and Plans.

2S. 6d. net. 1910
Holland. With 8 Illustrations and 17 Maps and Plans. 2s. 6d.

net. 1908
Jerusalem and Environs. With 8 Illustrations in Colour, 5 Maps

and Plans. 2s. 6d. net. 19 1 2

New Zealand Shipping Co.'s Pocket-Book. Fcap. 8vo. Cloth.

With Maps and Illustrations. 2s. 6d. 1908
Normandy. With 7 Illustrations and 18 Maps and Plans. 2s. 6d.

net. 1913
Paris. With 8 Illustrations and 6 Maps and Plans, is. net.

1911
P. & 0. Pocket-Book. Fcap. 8vo. Cloth. With Maps and

Illustrations. 2s. 6d. net. 1908
Riviera, or the Mediterranean from Marseilles to Leghorn. With

8 Illustrations and 24 Maps and Plans. 2s. 6d. net.

1913
Rome and Environs. With 8 Illustrations in Colour and 2 Plans.

2s. 6d. net. 191 3
Rome. Handbook to Christian and Ecclesiastical.

By M. A. R. Tuker and Hope Malleson.
Part I. The Christian Monuments. 7s. 6cl. net. 1897
Parts III. and IV. in one Volume. Monasticism in Rome,

and Ecclesiastical Rome. 10s. 6d. net. 1900
South France, East Half. Part I. The Riviera. With 8 Illus-

trations and 24 Maps and Plans. 2s. 6d. net. 191 3
South France, West Half (The Pyrenees). With 8 Illustrations

and 27 Maps and Plans. 2s. 6d. net. J909
Spain and Portugal (O'Shea). With 30 Maps and Plans. 10s. 6d.

net. 1905
Switzerland (with Cycling Supplement). With 4 Illustrations and

8 Maps. 3s. 6d. net. 1901

These Guide Books may be obtained through auy bookseller

at home or abroad.

Published by

A. & C. BLACK, 4, 5, & 6 SOHO SQUARE, LONDON, W.



_._.. Jl.
black's guides to

HOLIDAY RESO
CONTAINING MAPS, PLANS, : AN

Price \lm net each

BELFAST, etc. BUXTON, el
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE.
CANTERBURY; See KENT, EAST.
CHANNEL ISLANDS.
DORSETSHIRE. DUBLIN, etcj
ENGLISH LAKES, EXETER, etf
GALWAY, etc. HARROGATB
IRELAND. ISLE OF Mi
ISLE OF WIGHT. KILLARNE^
KENT EAST (Watering-Places).
KENT, WEST (TunbrMge Wei:
LIVERPOOL.
LONDON. MANCHESTI
MARGATE. See KENT, EAST.
MATLOCK, etc. MOFFA
PLYMOUTH, etc.

SCOTLAND. TROSSACHai
TUNBRIDGE WELLS. See KEN
WALES. WYE.

Price 0*"' net each

BATH AND BRISTOL
BOURNEMOUTH. EDINBUF
GLASGOW AND CLYDE.
GUERNSEY, etc. ILFRACO:
JERSEY.
AROUND LONDON, NORTH.
AROUND LONDON, SOUTH.
AROUND LONDON, WEST.
SHERWOOD FOREST TORQ
A. & C. BLACKr* SOfcO SQUARE, LOl


